

Cochrane Database of Systematic Reviews

# Tailored or adapted interventions for adults with chronic obstructive pulmonary disease and at least one other long-term condition: a mixed methods review (Review)

Dennett EJ, Janjua S, Stovold E, Harrison SL, McDonnell MJ, Holland AE

Dennett EJ, Janjua S, Stovold E, Harrison SL, McDonnell MJ, Holland AE. Tailored or adapted interventions for adults with chronic obstructive pulmonary disease and at least one other long-term condition: a mixed methods review. *Cochrane Database of Systematic Reviews* 2021, Issue 7. Art. No.: CD013384. DOI: 10.1002/14651858.CD013384.pub2.

# www.cochranelibrary.com

Tailored or adapted interventions for adults with chronic obstructive pulmonary disease and at least one other long-term condition: a mixed methods review (Review) Copyright © 2021 The Cochrane Collaboration. Published by John Wiley & Sons, Ltd.



# TABLE OF CONTENTS

HEADER
ABSTRACT
PLAIN LANGUAGE SUMMARY
SUMMARY OF FINDINGS
BACKGROUND
Figure 1
OBJECTIVES
METHODS
RESULTS
Figure 2
Figure 3
DISCUSSION
AUTHORS' CONCLUSIONS
ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS
REFERENCES
CHARACTERISTICS OF STUDIES
DATA AND ANALYSES
Analysis 1.1. Comparison 1: Intervention versus usual care, Outcome 1: Quality of life - SGRQ total
Analysis 1.2. Comparison 1: Intervention versus usual care, Outcome 2: Quality of life - CAT total
Analysis 1.3. Comparison 1: Intervention versus usual care, Outcome 3: Quality of life - CRQ domains
Analysis 1.4. Comparison 1: Intervention versus usual care, Outcome 4: Quality of life - MLHFQ
Analysis 1.5. Comparison 1: Intervention versus usual care, Outcome 5: Quality of life - EQ-5D
Analysis 1.6. Comparison 1: Intervention versus usual care, Outcome 6: Exacerbations - people experiencing one or more 8:
Analysis 1.7. Comparison 1: Intervention versus usual care, Outcome 7: Exacerbations - mean number per person
Analysis 1.8. Comparison 1: Intervention versus usual care, Outcome 8: Functional status - 6MWT
Analysis 1.9. Comparison 1: Intervention versus usual care, Outcome 9: Functional status - ISWT
Analysis 1.10. Comparison 1: Intervention versus usual care, Outcome 10: Functional status - ESWT
Analysis 1.11. Comparison 1: Intervention versus usual care, Outcome 11: All-cause hospital admissions - people experiencing 8: one or more
Analysis 1.12. Comparison 1: Intervention versus usual care, Outcome 12: All-cause hospital admissions - mean number per 83
person
Analysis 1.13. Comparison 1: Intervention versus usual care, Outcome 13: Respiratory-related hospital admissions
Analysis 1.14. Comparison 1: Intervention versus usual care, Outcome 14: All-cause mortality (deaths)
Analysis 1.15. Comparison 1: Intervention versus usual care, Outcome 15: Anxiety HADS-A
Analysis 1.16. Comparison 1: Intervention versus usual care, Outcome 16: Depression HADS-D
Analysis 2.1. Comparison 2: Intervention versus active comparison, Outcome 1: Quality of life - CRQ domains
Analysis 2.2. Comparison 2: Intervention versus active comparison, Outcome 2: Functional status - 6MWT
Analysis 2.3. Comparison 2: Intervention versus active comparison, Outcome 3: Functional status - ESWT
Analysis 2.4. Comparison 2: Intervention versus active comparison, Outcome 4: Functional status - ISWT
Analysis 2.5. Comparison 2: Intervention versus active comparison, Outcome 5: Anxiety HADS-A
Analysis 2.6. Comparison 2: Intervention versus active comparison, Outcome 6: Depression HADS-D
ADDITIONAL TABLES
APPENDICES
HISTORY
CONTRIBUTIONS OF AUTHORS
DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST
DIFFERENCES BETWEEN PROTOCOL AND REVIEW

# [Prototype Review]

# Tailored or adapted interventions for adults with chronic obstructive pulmonary disease and at least one other long-term condition: a mixed methods review

Emma J Dennett<sup>1</sup>, Sadia Janjua<sup>1</sup>, Elizabeth Stovold<sup>1</sup>, Samantha L Harrison<sup>2</sup>, Melissa J McDonnell<sup>3</sup>, Anne E Holland<sup>4,5,6</sup>

<sup>1</sup>Cochrane Airways, Population Health Research Institute, St George's, University of London, London, UK. <sup>2</sup>School of Health and Social Care, Teesside University, Middlesbrough, UK. <sup>3</sup>Department of Respiratory Medicine, Galway University Hospital, Galway, Ireland. <sup>4</sup>Physiotherapy, Alfred Health, Melbourne, Australia. <sup>5</sup>Discipline of Physiotherapy, School of Allied Health, Human Services and Sport, La Trobe University, Melbourne, Australia. <sup>6</sup>Institute for Breathing and Sleep, Melbourne, Australia

Contact address: Emma J Dennett, edennett@sgul.ac.uk.

**Editorial group:** Cochrane Airways Group. **Publication status and date:** New, published in Issue 7, 2021.

**Citation:** Dennett EJ, Janjua S, Stovold E, Harrison SL, McDonnell MJ, Holland AE. Tailored or adapted interventions for adults with chronic obstructive pulmonary disease and at least one other long-term condition: a mixed methods review. *Cochrane Database of Systematic Reviews* 2021, Issue 7. Art. No.: CD013384. DOI: 10.1002/14651858.CD013384.pub2.

Copyright © 2021 The Cochrane Collaboration. Published by John Wiley & Sons, Ltd.

# ABSTRACT

# Background

Chronic obstructive pulmonary disease (COPD) is a chronic respiratory condition characterised by shortness of breath, cough and recurrent exacerbations. People with COPD often live with one or more co-existing long-term health conditions (comorbidities). People with more severe COPD often have a higher number of comorbidities, putting them at greater risk of morbidity and mortality.

# Objectives

To assess the effectiveness of any single intervention for COPD adapted or tailored to their comorbidity(s) compared to any other intervention for people with COPD and one or more common comorbidities (quantitative data, RCTs) in terms of the following outcomes: Quality of life, exacerbations, functional status, all-cause and respiratory-related hospital admissions, mortality, pain, and depression and anxiety.

To assess the effectiveness of an adapted or tailored single COPD intervention (simple or complex) that is aimed at changing the management of people with COPD and one or more common comorbidities (quantitative data, RCTs) compared to usual care in terms of the following outcomes: Quality of life, exacerbations, functional status, all-cause and respiratory-related hospital admissions, mortality, pain, and depression and anxiety.

To identify emerging themes that describe the views and experiences of patients, carers and healthcare professionals when receiving or providing care to manage multimorbidities (qualitative data).

# Search methods

We searched multiple databases including the Cochrane Airways Trials Register, CENTRAL, MEDLINE, Embase, and CINAHL, to identify relevant randomised and qualitative studies. We also searched trial registries and conducted citation searches. The latest search was conducted in January 2021.

# **Selection criteria**

Eligible randomised controlled trials (RCTs) compared a) any single intervention for COPD adapted or tailored to their comorbidity(s) compared to any other intervention, or b) any adapted or tailored single COPD intervention (simple or complex) that is aimed at changing

Tailored or adapted interventions for adults with chronic obstructive pulmonary disease and at least one other long-term condition: a mixed methods review (Review)



the management of people with COPD and one or more comorbidities, compared to usual care. We included qualitative studies or mixedmethods studies to identify themes.

#### Data collection and analysis

We used standard Cochrane methods for analysis of the RCTs. We used Cochrane's risk of bias tool for the RCTs and the CASP checklist for the qualitative studies. We planned to use the Mixed Methods Appraisal tool (MMAT) to assess the risk of bias in mixed-methods studies, but we found none. We used GRADE and CERQual to assess the quality of the quantitative and qualitative evidence respectively. The primary outcome measures for this review were quality of life and exacerbations.

#### **Main results**

#### Quantitative studies

We included seven studies (1197 participants) in the quantitative analyses, with interventions including telemonitoring, pulmonary rehabilitation, treatment optimisation, water-based exercise training and case management. Interventions were either compared with usual care or with an active comparator (such as land-based exercise training). Duration of trials ranged from 4 to 52 weeks. Mean age of participants ranged from 64 to 72 years and COPD severity ranged from mild to very severe. Trials included either people with COPD and a specific comorbidity (including cardiovascular disease, metabolic syndrome, lung cancer, head or neck cancer, and musculoskeletal conditions), or with one or more comorbidities of any type.

Overall, we judged the evidence presented to be of moderate to very low certainty (GRADE), mainly due to the methodological quality of included trials and imprecision of effect estimates.

#### Intervention versus usual care

Quality of life as measured by the St George's Respiratory Questionnaire (SGRQ) total score may improve with tailored pulmonary rehabilitation compared to usual care at 52 weeks (mean difference (MD) -10.85, 95% confidence interval (CI) -12.66 to -9.04; 1 study, 70 participants; low-certainty evidence). Tailored pulmonary rehabilitation is likely to improve COPD assessment test (CAT) scores compared with usual care at 52 weeks (MD -8.02, 95% CI -9.44 to -6.60; 1 study, 70 participants, moderate-certainty evidence) and with a multicomponent telehealth intervention at 52 weeks (MD -6.90, 95% CI -9.56 to -4.24; moderate-certainty evidence). Evidence is uncertain about effects of pharmacotherapy optimisation or telemonitoring interventions on CAT improvement compared with usual care.

There may be little to no difference in the number of people experiencing exacerbations, or mean exacerbations with case management compared with usual care (OR 1.09, 95% CI 0.75 to 1.57; 1 study, 470 participants; very low-certainty evidence).

For secondary outcomes, six-minute walk distance (6MWD) may improve with pulmonary rehabilitation, water-based exercise or multicomponent interventions at 38 to 52 weeks (low-certainty evidence). A multicomponent intervention may result in fewer people being admitted to hospital at 17 weeks, although there may be little to no difference in a telemonitoring intervention. There may be little to no difference between intervention and usual care for mortality.

#### Intervention versus active comparator

We included one study comparing water-based and land-based exercise (30 participants). We found no evidence for quality of life or exacerbations.

There may be little to no difference between water- and land-based exercise for 6MWD (MD 5 metres, 95% CI –22 to 32; 38 participants; very low-certainty evidence).

#### Qualitative studies

One nested qualitative study (21 participants) explored perceptions and experiences of people with COPD and long-term conditions, and of researchers and health professionals who were involved in an RCT of telemonitoring equipment.

Several themes were identified, including health status, beliefs and concerns, reliability of equipment, self-efficacy, perceived ease of use, factors affecting usefulness and perceived usefulness, attitudes and intention, self-management and changes in healthcare use. We judged the qualitative evidence presented as of very low certainty overall.

#### **Authors' conclusions**

Owing to a paucity of eligible trials, as well as diversity in the intervention type, comorbidities and the outcome measures reported, we were unable to provide a robust synthesis of data. Pulmonary rehabilitation or multicomponent interventions may improve quality of life and functional status (6MWD), but the evidence is too limited to draw a robust conclusion. The key take-home message from this review is the lack of data from RCTs on treatments for people living with COPD and comorbidities.

Given the variation in number and type of comorbidity(s) an individual may have, and severity of COPD, larger studies reporting individual patient data are required to determine these effects.

Tailored or adapted interventions for adults with chronic obstructive pulmonary disease and at least one other long-term condition: a mixed methods review (Review)



# PLAIN LANGUAGE SUMMARY

#### Approaches to help people with COPD who have one or more long-term conditions

#### What is COPD and comorbidity?

COPD is a common condition caused mainly by smoking and can lead to long-term breathing problems. Symptoms include shortness of breath, and cough with sputum production due to airways and lung damage. People with COPD may have one or more other long-term conditions (comorbidities) such as heart disease, hypertension, diabetes, asthma and lung cancer which can lead to poor health. People living with two or more comorbidities can also be known as living with multimorbidity.

#### Why did we do this review?

Because many people with COPD live with multimorbidity, naturally people in clinical trials will have multimorbidities. However, the results of those trials are usually not reported broken down by multimorbidity. People with comorbidities may need to adapt interventions to take account of their comorbidity — for example taking exercise in water instead of on land so that their bodies are better supported. Historically, Cochrane Airways Reviews have not taken into account people's comorbidities, and this review is a first step to addressing this. We decided to complete a review that centres on people with COPD and comorbidities following a meeting with our COPD patient group, who highlighted concerns over comorbidities. After some deliberation, we decided to include the following two sorts of trials.

1. Any single intervention for COPD delivered to people with COPD adapted to or targeting their comorbidity compared to routine care or any other intervention.

2. Any intervention aimed at changing the management of people with COPD and comorbidities, which could be simple (e.g. scheduling COPD and heart clinics on the same day) or more complex (e.g. developing a new care package for management of people with COPD across a local health service), compared to routine care.

We wanted to know which treatments improve quality of life and reduce exacerbations for people living with COPD and one or more comorbidities.

We also wanted to find out about how people with COPD, carers and health professionals felt about those treatments.

#### What information did we find?

We carried out a search for studies in January 2021. We found seven eligible randomised controlled trials (RCTs) including 1197 people, and one qualitative study which was part of one of the randomised trials and provided information about people's opinions and experiences of using telehealth equipment. People included in the trials were aged between 64 and 72 years, and their COPD severity ranged from mild to very severe. The trials either included people with COPD and a specific comorbidity such as cardiovascular disease or lung cancer, or they included people with COPD and one or more other conditions of any sort.

#### **Results and conclusions**

There is not enough evidence on people with COPD and other comorbidities to draw firm conclusions about interventions aimed at COPD that are adapted for the comorbidity. The available evidence indicated the following:

- Quality of life as measured by the St George's Respiratory Questionnaire (SGRQ) total score may improve with tailored pulmonary rehabilitation compared to usual care (note that there is a strong evidence base for pulmonary rehabilitation in people with COPD).

- Pulmonary rehabilitation is likely to improve quality of life as measured by the COPD assessment test (CAT) scores compared with usual care at 52 weeks and with a multicomponent telehealth intervention.

- Evidence is uncertain about the effects of pharmacotherapy optimisation or telemonitoring interventions on CAT improvement compared with usual care.

- There may be little to no difference in the number of people experiencing exacerbations, or mean exacerbations with case management compared with usual care.

- For secondary outcomes, the distance walked by participants in six minutes may improve with pulmonary rehabilitation, water-based exercise or multicomponent interventions. A multicomponent intervention may result in fewer people being admitted to hospital, although there may be little to no difference in a telemonitoring intervention.

- There may be little to no difference between intervention and usual care for deaths across several studies.

- One study compared water-based exercise with land-based exercise. We found no evidence for quality of life or exacerbations. There may be little to no difference between water- and land-based exercise on the distance walked by participants in six minutes.

Tailored or adapted interventions for adults with chronic obstructive pulmonary disease and at least one other long-term condition: a mixed methods review (Review)



- One qualitative study explored perceptions and experiences of people with COPD and long-term conditions, and of researchers and health professionals who were involved in an RCT of telemonitoring equipment. Several themes were identified, including health status, beliefs and concerns, reliability of equipment, self-efficacy, perceived ease of use, factors affecting usefulness and perceived usefulness, attitudes and intention, self-management and changes in healthcare use.

Larger studies with more people with COPD and comorbidities could help to find out if targeted approaches can improve health.

#### Certainty of the information

Overall there were very few studies and most studies were small. This means the results are based on a small amount of information. Trials with different interventions and different or more people may give a different result.

# SUMMARY OF FINDINGS

# Summary of findings 1. Intervention compared to usual care for COPD and at least one other long-term condition

Intervention compared to usual care for COPD and at least one other long-term condition

Patient or population: COPD and at least one other long-term condition

Setting: community teaching hospital (1), hospital outpatient clinic (1), university hospital (1), tertiary public hospital (1), multi-centre (3), single hospital (1) Intervention: Intervention (rehabilitation, organisation of care, pharmacotherapy, multicomponent intervention) **Comparison:** Usual care

Outcome do- main	Intervention group	Anticipated absol	ute effects* (95% CI)	Relative ef-	No of partici-	Certainty of	Comments
	(follow-up)	Risk with usual care	Risk with interven- tion		(studies)	(GRADE)	
Quality of life - SGRQ total Scale from: 0 to 100 (lower scores better)	<b>Rehabilitation (pulmonary rehab)</b> (follow-up 52 weeks)	The mean SGRQ total score was 70	MD 10.85 lower (12.66 lower to 9.04 lower)	_	70 (1 RCT)	(95% CI)⊕⊝⊝ LOWa,b	MCID for SGRQ is a change of 4 points (Jones 2005)
Quality of life - CAT total Scale from 0 to	Pharmacotherapy (optimised COPD treatment) (follow-up 52 weeks)	The mean CAT to- tal score was 0.4	MD 0.00 (3.40 lower to 3.40 higher)	_	77 (1 RCT)	⊕⊕⊝⊝ LOWa,c,d	MCID for CAT total is 2 points (Kon 2014)
better)	<b>Rehabilitation (pulmonary rehab)</b> (follow-up 52 weeks)	The mean CAT total score was 24.34	MD 8.02 lower (9.44 lower to 6.6 lower)	_	70 (1 RCT)	⊕⊕⊕⊝ MODERATE <sup>a,b</sup>	-
	Organisation of care (telemonitor- ing) (follow-up 39 weeks)	The mean CAT total score was 17.17	MD 0.41 lower (2.19 lower to 1.37 higher)	_	312 (1 RCT)	⊕⊕⊝⊝ LOWc,d	-
	Multicomponent intervention (follow-up 52 weeks)	The mean CAT to- tal score was 1.6	MD 6.9 lower (9.56 lower to 4.24 lower)	_	80 (1 RCT)	⊕⊕⊕⊝ MODERATEa,c	-
Exacerbations - number of people experi-	<b>Rehabilitation (case management)</b> (follow-up 52 weeks)	573 per 1000	594 per 1000 (501 to 678)	OR 1.09 (0.75 to 1.57)	470 (1 RCT)	⊕⊝⊝⊝ VERY LOWe,f	-

Trusted evidence. Informed decisions. Better health.

# encing one or

Functional sta- tus-6MWD (me- tres)	Rehabilitation (pulmonary rehab and water-based exercise) (follow-up 38.8 weeks**)	The mean dis- tance walked in 6 minutes was 344 metres	MD 60.4 metres high- er (44.26 higher to 76.54 higher)	_	100 (2 RCTs)	⊕⊕⊙⊙ LOWa,c	MCID for the 6MWT is 25 to 35 me- tres (Holland
	<b>Multicomponent intervention</b> (follow-up 52 weeks)	The mean dis- tance walked in six minutes was -15	MD 75 higher (28.06 higher to 121.94 higher)	_	80 (1 RCT)	⊕⊕⊝⊝ LOWa,c	2013)
All-cause hos- pital admis- sions - people experiencing one or more	Organisation of care (telemonitor- ing) (follow-up 39 weeks)	292 per 1000	273 per 1000 (185 to 382)	OR 0.91 (0.55 to 1.50)	312 (1 RCT)	FOMc ⊕⊕⊙⊝	-
	Multicomponent intervention (follow-up 17 weeks)	732 per 1000	459 per 1000 (277 to 647)	OR 0.31 (0.14 to 0.67)	112 (1 RCT)	⊕⊕⊝⊝ LOW <sup>a,c</sup>	-
All-cause mor- tality (deaths)	<b>Pharmacotherapy (optimised COPD treatment)</b> (follow-up 17.6 weeks**)	170 per 1000	102 per 1000 (45 to 217)	OR 0.55 (0.23 to 1.35)	177 (2 RCTs)	⊕⊙⊙⊙ VERY LOW <sup>a,e,g</sup>	-
	Organisation of care (case man- agement and telemonitoring) (follow-up 46.7 weeks**)	102 per 1000	60 per 1000 (36 to 98)	OR 0.56 (0.33 to 0.96)	782 (2 RCTs)	⊕⊕⊝⊝ LOWe	-
	<b>Multicomponent intervention</b> (follow-up 52 weeks)	18 per 1000	18 per 1000 (1 to 230)	OR 1.00 (0.06 to 16.39)	112 (1 RCT)	⊕⊝⊝⊝ VERY LOWa,c,h	-

\*The risk in the intervention group (and its 95% confidence interval) is based on the assumed risk in the comparison group and the relative effect of the intervention (and its 95% CI).

\*\*Weighted mean duration of follow-up

**6MWD**: 6-minute walk distance; **CAT**: COPD assessment test; **CI**: Confidence interval; **COPD**: chronic obstructive pulmonary disease; **GIV**: generic inverse variance; **HADS**: Hospital Anxiety and Depression Scale; **MD**: mean difference; **MCID**: minimally clinically important difference; **OR**: Odds ratio; **RCT**: randomised controlled trial;**RR**: Risk ratio; **SGRQ**: St George's Respiratory Questionnaire.

# **GRADE Working Group grades of evidence**

High certainty: We are very confident that the true effect lies close to that of the estimate of the effect

**Moderate certainty:** We are moderately confident in the effect estimate: The true effect is likely to be close to the estimate of the effect, but there is a possibility that it is substantially different

Low certainty: Our confidence in the effect estimate is limited: The true effect may be substantially different from the estimate of the effect

Very low certainty: We have very little confidence in the effect estimate: The true effect is likely to be substantially different from the estimate of effect

<sup>a</sup>The evidence was downgraded by 1 for imprecision due to the optimal information size of less than 200 participants.

<sup>b</sup>The evidence was downgraded by 1 for risk of performance bias.

<sup>c</sup>The evidence was downgraded by 1 for risk of performance and attrition bias.

<sup>d</sup>The evidence was downgraded by 1 for imprecision due to wide confidence intervals.

<sup>e</sup>The evidence was downgraded by 2 for risk of performance and detection bias.

<sup>f</sup>The evidence was downgraded by 1 for imprecision as the lower confidence interval crossed the line of no effect.

gThe evidence was downgraded by 1 for risk of attrition due to high dropout rate in the study.

<sup>h</sup>The evidence for this outcome was downgraded by 2 for imprecision due to very wide confidence intervals.

# Summary of findings 2. Intervention compared to active comparison for COPD and at least one other long-term condition

# Intervention compared to active comparison for COPD and at least one other long-term condition

Patient or population: COPD and at least one other long-term condition

Setting: outpatient respiratory departments from 5 hospitals (multicentre), hospital outpatient clinic (1), tertiary public hospital (1)

Intervention: Intervention (rehabilitation water-based versus land-based exercise programme)

**Comparison:** active comparison

Outcome domain	Intervention group (follow-up)	Anticipated absolut	te effects <sup>*</sup> (95% CI)	Relative ef-	№ of partici- nants	Certainty of the evidence	Comments	
		Risk with active comparison	Risk with Inter- vention	(95% CI)	(studies)	(GRADE)		
Quality of life - SGRQ total	Not reported	-	-	-	-	-	-	
Quality of life - CAT total	Not reported	-	-	-	-	-	-	
Exacerbations	Not reported	-	-	-	-	-	-	
Functional status - 6MWD (me- tres)	Rehabilitation (follow-up 8 weeks)	The mean distance walked in 6 min- utes was 43 metres	MD 5 metres higher	-	30 (1 RCT)	⊕⊙⊝⊝ VERY LOWa,b,c	The MCID for 6MWT is 25 to 35 me-	

Tailored or adapted interventions for adults with chron mixed methods review (Review) Copyright © 2021 The Cochrane Collaboration. Published

for adults with chronic obstructive pulmonary

disease and

at least

one

other long-term condition:

ىە

by John Wiley & Sons, Ltd

			(2	22.21 lower to 2.21 higher)				tres (Holland 2013)
All-cause hospital admissions	Not reported	-	-		-	-	-	-
All-cause mortality	Not reported	-	-		-	-	_	-
* <b>The risk in the intervention</b> its 95% CI).	group (and its 95% o	confidence interv	val) is based on the	e assumed risk i	n the comparisor	n group and the	e relative effect of the in	tervention (and
6MWD: 6-minute walk distance clinically important difference;	e; <b>CAT:</b> COPD assessi <b>RCT:</b> randomised c	ment test; <b>CI:</b> Co controlled trial; <b>S</b>	nfidence interval; <b>(</b> GRQ: St George's R	<b>COPD:</b> chronic c espiratory Ques	bstructive pulmetionnaire.	onary disease;	MD: mean difference; MC	<b>ID:</b> minimally
Low certainty: Our confidence Very low certainty: We have v	e in the effect estima ery little confidence	ate is limited: The in the effect est	e true effect may be imate: The true effe	e substantially o ect is likely to be	lifferent from the substantially di	e estimate of th fferent from th	e effect e estimate of effect	
Low certainty: Our confidence Very low certainty: We have v The evidence was downgraded The evidence was downgraded The evidence was downgraded	e in the effect estima ery little confidence by 1 for imprecisior by 1 for imprecisior by 2 for risk of perfo	ate is limited: The in the effect esti- n due to the lowe n as the optimal i prmance and attr	e true effect may be imate: The true effe er confidence interv information size wa ition bias.	e substantially o ect is likely to be val crossing 1.0. as less than 200	lifferent from the e substantially di participants.	e estimate of th fferent from th	e effect e estimate of effect	
Low certainty: Our confidence Very low certainty: We have v The evidence was downgraded The evidence was downgraded The evidence was downgraded ummary of findings 3. Sur Theme	e in the effect estima ery little confidence by 1 for imprecision by 1 for imprecision by 2 for risk of perfo mmary of finding Methodologi-	ate is limited: The in the effect esti- n due to the lowe n as the optimal i prmance and attr cs table for qua Coherence	e true effect may be imate: The true effect er confidence interv nformation size wa ition bias. alitative GRADE	e substantially of ect is likely to be val crossing 1.0. as less than 200 CERqual asse Relevance	lifferent from the e substantially di participants. ssment Dissemina-	e estimate of th fferent from th Overall as-	e effect e estimate of effect Explanation of	Studies
Low certainty: Our confidence Very low certainty: We have v The evidence was downgraded The evidence was downgraded The evidence was downgraded ummary of findings 3. Sur Theme	e in the effect estima ery little confidence by 1 for imprecision by 1 for imprecision by 2 for risk of perfor mmary of finding Methodologi- cal limitations	ate is limited: The in the effect esti- n due to the lowe n as the optimal i ormance and attr coherence	e true effect may be imate: The true effect or confidence interv nformation size wa ition bias. alitative GRADE Adequacy of data	e substantially o ect is likely to be val crossing 1.0. as less than 200 CERqual asse Relevance	lifferent from the e substantially di participants. ssment Dissemina- tion bias	e estimate of th fferent from th Overall as- sessment	e effect e estimate of effect Explanation of CERQual assess- ment	Studies contribut- ing to the review finding
Low certainty: Our confidence Very low certainty: We have v The evidence was downgraded The evidence was downgraded The evidence was downgraded ummary of findings 3. Sur Theme Health status, beliefs and cor	e in the effect estima ery little confidence by 1 for imprecision by 2 for risk of perfo mmary of finding Methodologi- cal limitations	ate is limited: The in the effect esti- n due to the lowe n as the optimal i ormance and attr <b>coherence</b>	e true effect may be imate: The true effect or confidence intervent nformation size wa ition bias. alitative GRADE Adequacy of data	e substantially o ect is likely to be val crossing 1.0. as less than 200 CERqual asse Relevance	lifferent from the e substantially di participants. ssment Dissemina- tion bias	e estimate of th fferent from th Overall as- sessment	e effect e estimate of effect Explanation of CERQual assess- ment The findings were – graded	Studies contribut- ing to the review finding Middlemass 2017
Low certainty: Our confidence Very low certainty: We have v The evidence was downgraded The evidence was downgraded The evidence was downgraded ummary of findings 3. Sur Theme Health status, beliefs and cor Unchanging nature of condi- tion	e in the effect estima ery little confidence by 1 for imprecision by 1 for imprecision by 2 for risk of perfor mmary of finding Methodologi- cal limitations	ate is limited: The in the effect esti- in due to the lowe n as the optimal i ormance and attr stable for qua Coherence Major con- comsb	e true effect may be imate: The true effect or confidence interv information size wa ition bias. Adequacy of data Major con- cornsb	e substantially of ect is likely to be val crossing 1.0. as less than 200 CERqual asse Relevance Some	lifferent from the e substantially di participants. ssment Dissemina- tion bias No concerns	e estimate of th fferent from th Overall as- sessment Very low <sup>c</sup>	e effect e estimate of effect Explanation of CERQual assess- ment The findings were graded as very low confi-	Studies contribut- ing to the review finding Middlemass 2017
Low certainty: Our confidence Very low certainty: We have v The evidence was downgraded The evidence was downgraded The evidence was downgraded ummary of findings 3. Sur Theme Health status, beliefs and cor Unchanging nature of condi- tion	e in the effect estima ery little confidence by 1 for imprecision by 2 for risk of perfor mmary of finding Methodologi- cal limitations	ate is limited: The in the effect esti- in due to the lowen as the optimal i ormance and attr is table for qua Coherence Major con- cerns <sup>b</sup>	e true effect may be imate: The true effect er confidence intervent nformation size wa ition bias. alitative GRADE Adequacy of data Major con- cerns <sup>b</sup>	e substantially of ect is likely to be val crossing 1.0. as less than 200 CERqual asse Relevance Some Concerns <sup>c</sup>	lifferent from the e substantially di participants. ssment Dissemina- tion bias No concerns	e estimate of th fferent from th Overall as- sessment Very low <sup>c</sup>	e effect e estimate of effect	Studies contribut- ing to the review finding Middlemass 2017
Low certainty: Our confidence Very low certainty: We have v The evidence was downgraded The evidence was downgraded Ine evidence was downgraded ummary of findings 3. Sur Theme Health status, beliefs and cor Unchanging nature of condi- tion	e in the effect estima ery little confidence by 1 for imprecision by 2 for risk of perfor mmary of finding Methodologi- cal limitations	ate is limited: The in the effect esti- and due to the lowen as the optimal i prmance and attr as table for qua Coherence Major con- cerns <sup>b</sup> Major con-	e true effect may be imate: The true effect or confidence intervent ition bias. Alitative GRADE Adequacy of data Major con- cerns <sup>b</sup> Major con-	e substantially o ect is likely to be val crossing 1.0. as less than 200 CERqual asse Relevance Some Concerns <sup>c</sup> Some	lifferent from the e substantially di participants. ssment Dissemina- tion bias No concerns No concerns	e estimate of th fferent from th Overall as- sessment Very low <sup>c</sup> Very low <sup>c</sup>	e effect e estimate of effect	Studies contribut- ing to the review finding Middlemass 2017

Cochrane Database of Systematic Reviews

Cochrane Library

Trusted evidence. Informed decisions. Better health.

Reminder of illness and anxi-	Some	Major con-	Major con-	Some	No concerns	Very low <sup>c</sup>	methodological lim itations
ety	concerns <sup>a</sup>	cerns <sup>b</sup>	cerns <sup>b</sup>	Concernsc			and relevance.
Information							<ul> <li>There were major concerns regarding</li> </ul>
Subjective norms	Some	Major con-	Major con-	Some	No concerns	Very low <sup>c</sup>	- coherence and ade
	concerns <sup>a</sup>	cerns <sup>b</sup>	cernsb	Concerns <sup>c</sup>			quary of uata
Technology							_
Unreliable technology	Some	Major con-	Major con-	Some	No concerns	Very low <sup>c</sup>	_
	concerns <sup>a</sup>	cerns <sup>b</sup>	cerns <sup>D</sup>	Concerns <sup>c</sup>			
HIT Self-efficacy	Some	Major con-	Major con-	Some	No concerns	Very low <sup>c</sup>	_
	concerns <sup>a</sup>	cernsb	cernsb	Concerns <sup>c</sup>			
Perceived usefulness							_
Daily monitoring of condi-	Some	Major con-	Major con-	Some	No concerns	Very low <sup>c</sup>	_
tions	concerns <sup>a</sup>	cernsb	cernsb	Concerns <sup>c</sup>			
Factors affecting usefulness							_
Lack of feedback	Some	Major con-	Major con-	Some	No concerns	Very low <sup>c</sup>	_
	concerns <sup>a</sup>	cerns <sup>b</sup>	cerns <sup>D</sup>	Concerns <sup>c</sup>			
Behaviour							_
Self-management and health-	Some	Major con-	No concerns	No concerns	No concerns	Very low <sup>c</sup>	_
	concerns <sup>a</sup>	cernsb					

Criteria for assessment (https://www.cerqual.org/publications/)

Methodological limitations: risk to rigour see Table 1.

**Coherence:** how clear and cogent the fit is between the data from the primary studies and the review finding that synthesises that data. 'Findings' are 'transformations' of the underlying data into descriptions, interpretations and /or explanations of the phenomenon of interest. Findings are developed by identifying patterns in the data across primary studies

Trusted evidence. Informed decisions. Better health.

Adequacy: overall determination of the degree of richness as well as the quantity of data supporting the review finding i.e., extent to which information that the study authors provide is detailed enough to interpret the meaning and context of what is being researched.

**Relevance:** refers to the extent to which the body of data from primary studies supports the review finding in terms of applicability to the review question.

Dissemination bias: a systematic distortion of the phenomenon of interest due to selective dissemination of qualitative studies or the findings of qualitative studies

<sup>a</sup>There were some concerns about the research design, and recruitment strategy to address the aims. It was not clear how the data was collected.

<sup>b</sup>The evidence mainly because the evidence is based on one study. Due to the limited number of studies, we cannot be certain that there are any issues about whether the data fit the finding of the review. Findings do not support quantitative data.

<sup>c</sup>The findings from the study did not answer all aspects of context specified in the review question.



# BACKGROUND

# **Description of condition**

It is estimated that the global population of people aged 60 and over will triple to 2.1 billion by 2050, with an increase of 32%in more developed countries, and 10% to 19% in less developed countries (United Nations 2013). As more people live longer, the number of chronic physical conditions that they may have are likely to increase (Academy of Medical Sciences Report 2018; Garin 2016).

The term 'multimorbidity' is defined as the co-existence of two or more chronic conditions, neither (or none) of which are considered to be an index condition (Academy of Medical Sciences Report 2018). Multimorbidity is associated with increasingly poor health outcomes (including reduced quality of life; impaired functional status; weakened physical and mental health; increased risk of readmission to hospital; and mortality) (Barnett 2012; Holland 2016; NICE 2018).

Prevalence of multimorbidity on a global level may be difficult to determine, as access to health care and diagnosis of chronic conditions vary from country to country (Academy of Medical Sciences Report 2018). However, one cross-sectional study has recently shown that the prevalence of multimorbidity increases from over 40% to 70% in those aged 60 to 69 years across several low-, middle- and high-income countries (China, Finland, Ghana, India, Mexico, Poland, Russia, South Africa and Spain) (Garin 2016). It is estimated that approximately one in four people in the UK live with two or more long-term conditions, rising to two-thirds in people aged 65 and over (Barnett 2012; NHS England 2018; Salisbury 2018).

Chronic obstructive pulmonary disease (COPD) is the name for a group of lung diseases, including bronchitis and emphysema. COPD occurs in adults (aged 35 years and over), and is characterised by chronic airflow obstruction that interferes with normal breathing and is not fully reversible (World Health Organization 2018). Chronic airflow obstruction is defined by spirometry in which "the volume of air forcibly exhaled from the point of maximal inspiration (forced vital capacity, FVC), and the volume of air exhaled during the first second (forced expiratory volume in one second, FEV<sub>1</sub>)" are measured. A FEV<sub>1</sub>/FVC ratio of less than 0.70 is an indicator for airway obstruction (GOLD 2021). Diagnosis of COPD is considered in people experiencing day-to-day symptoms such as coughing, breathlessness (dyspnoea), wheezing, frequent chest infections and is confirmed with spirometry - a post-bronchodilator FEV1/ FVC ratio below 70% indicates airflow limitation (GOLD 2021). People may also experience periodic exacerbations (flare-ups) that punctuate the disease course. Risk factors for COPD include smoking and environmental exposures leading to abnormalities of the airways and alveoli (World Health Organization 2018; GOLD 2021).

Comorbidity is defined as any distinct clinical entity that may occur during the clinical course of a patient with the index disease under study. The focus of this review is COPD as the index disease. COPD is associated with a high prevalence of comorbidities (Smith 2014), and it is common for people with COPD to have more than one co-existing long-term health condition that can vary in nature and severity (Cavailles 2013; Holland 2016). People with more severe COPD (GOLD stage D) are likely to have a higher number of comorbidities (Raherison 2018), which puts them at a higher risk of mortality compared to people with mild or moderate COPD, or those without COPD and co-existing long-term health conditions (Divo 2012; Hanlon 2018; Mannino 2008).

Common long-term conditions that co-exist with COPD are cardiovascular disease, hypertension, diabetes, asthma, and lung cancer (Hillas 2015). People may also live with long-term condition system complexes such as frailty and chronic pain (Andenes 2018; Holland 2016). In this review we will treat pain as an outcome, rather than a condition. These long-term conditions may or may not be related to COPD.

In this review, we focus on people with COPD living with one or more long-term physical conditions (also referred to as comorbidities of COPD) (Holland 2016; Smith 2016). We did not plan to include people with conditions caused by COPD treatments, such as pneumonia, or ongoing conditions such as learning disability, sensory impairment such as sight or hearing loss, and alcohol and substance misuse.

#### **Description of interventions**

Interventions (treatments) for people with COPD are either aimed at helping them to manage the symptoms of COPD in day-today life, or are treatment of exacerbations (flare-ups). For treating the symptoms, there are drugs including inhaled therapies (such as long-acting beta<sub>2</sub>-agonists, long-acting muscarinic antagonists, and inhaled corticosteroids), phosphodiesterases and antibiotics, as well as physical interventions such as pulmonary rehabilitation, physical therapy (e.g. exercise), ventilation (e.g. non-invasive ventilation (NIV)). For treating exacerbations, there are inhaled therapies, antibiotics and ventilation.

In this review we looked at COPD interventions which target the comorbidity, and interventions for the overall management of people with COPD and one or more comorbidities.

We created a framework from the GOLD 2021 guidelines and the Cochrane Airways subtopic list, from which we intend to create an evidence (gap) map and use it as a basis for the analysis (Table 2).

#### How will the intervention work?

Long-term conditions other than COPD may interfere with the delivery of the COPD intervention. An example of people with comorbid COPD engaging with an intervention differently from those with COPD alone is seen in pulmonary rehabilitation, one of the more effective treatments for people with COPD (McCarthy 2015). Researchers have shown that people with comorbid COPD are more likely than people with COPD alone to either decline to enrol for treatment or, once enrolled, to drop out of the programme or not attend sessions regularly (Fischer 2009; Hayton 2013; Keating 2011). People are more likely to drop out of pulmonary rehabilitation programmes as a result of symptoms of other comorbidities (Blackstock 2018). Furthermore, researchers have evaluated the impact of co-existing conditions on outcomes of a pulmonary rehabilitation intervention for people with COPD which showed that, depending on the co-existing condition, pulmonary rehabilitation outcomes can be positive or negative (Carreiro 2013; Crisafulli 2008; Holland 2016; Walsh 2013). Targeted interventions can help people take part in pulmonary rehabilitation programmes: a targeted water-based exercise component of a pulmonary rehabilitation programme was shown to be more effective than land-based exercise (McNamara 2013a). We therefore

Tailored or adapted interventions for adults with chronic obstructive pulmonary disease and at least one other long-term condition: a mixed methods review (Review)

12

intend to summarise evidence from randomised controlled trials (RCTs) which target a COPD intervention to take account of another comorbidity.

People with multimorbidities may be taking multiple drugs for each individual condition; for example, prescribed drugs, over-thecounter treatments, herbal remedies or dietary supplements. This is called polypharmacy and 16.4% of people over the age of 65 years are estimated to be taking 10 or more treatments each day (Duerden 2013; Guthrie 2012). This can lead to unfavourable drug interactions and practical issues with remembering to take so many medications in a day. We will include interventions which help people adapt to taking multiple medications; we will not, however, be looking at polypharmacy interventions which aim to optimise a person's drugs and reduce harmful drug interactions.

People with multimorbidities may also have to see many healthcare professionals (HCPs) to help them with various different elements of their different long-term conditions. We will include trials which aim to streamline (or simplify) this care in some way, to make it easier or better for the patient. These might include, for example, putting a patient under the care of one particular consultant who works across several hospital departments, thereby providing a holistic package of care. It may include a hospital putting together an integrated disease management programme — a map of a patient's journey for managing their condition in a particular location. We will also consider simpler interventions such as running COPD and cardiovascular clinics on the same day to reduce the number of attendances at hospital.

Anxiety and depression are common in people with COPD. Pharmacological and psychological interventions aimed at treating the anxiety and depression are explored in a suite of Cochrane Reviews (Pollok 2018; Pollok 2019; Usmani 2011; Usmani 2017). Because the interventions are treating the comorbidity rather than the COPD, we do not include them in this review. We will also not include studies of people with COPD who have symptoms of depression or anxiety as the sole comorbidity.

We have been unable to update a draft logic model that we presented in the protocol for this review (Figure 1, Janjua 2019), due to limited evidence found. As a result, we were unable to take this forward to our Cochrane Airways Patient Advisory Group and Programme Grant Steering Group for their consideration.



# Figure 1. Study flow diagram for randomised controlled trials



Tailored or adapted interventions for adults with chronic obstructive pulmonary disease and at least one other long-term condition: a mixed methods review (Review)



# Figure 1. (Continued)

† 7 studies (19 records) included in quantitative synthesis (meta-analysis)

## Why is it important to do this review?

Most clinical trials are designed to involve people with one condition, and exclude people with multimorbidities — which may represent well over half of people who live with COPD. Systematic reviews, including Cochrane Reviews, have therefore also traditionally focused on these patients, rather than including a sample representing the true population. This means that most studies may not be applicable to people with more than one chronic condition: for example, trials may only enrol people with COPD and may exclude people with asthma or heart disease. This means that we cannot be confident about applying the results of the trial to people with COPD and asthma, or people with COPD and heart disease.

There is a substantial health burden for people living with COPD and multimorbidities, with associated cost implications due to an increased need for hospital utilisation compared to those who only have one condition (Chen 2017). People living with multimorbidity may also have to manage several symptoms, to adhere to multiple drug regimens and various lifestyle recommendations, all while attending appointments with different HCPs (Smith 2016). Healthcare services experience higher demands as people with multimorbidities require more frequent complex care (Barnett 2012; Rijken 2018), and these services can be fragmented (Smith 2016).

Policy-makers are increasingly aware that overall care for people with multimorbidities needs to be patient-centred (i.e. care that takes a person's needs into account, either via individual preference, or by involving the person in making decisions about their care) and integrated (i.e. organisations and staff working together to provide seamless care through processes that are flexible and continuous) (Rijken 2016).

In addition, guidance for managing multimorbidities is limited because of the potential exclusion from clinical trials of people living with multimorbidity. The systematic failure of clinical trials to include people living with multimorbidity leads to care strategies that may not be suitable or helpful for most people with COPD (Wyatt 2014). For example, multiple prescriptions (polypharmacy) can lead to potential interactions between conditions and medication resulting in inadequate and complex choices of treatment in terms of benefit and harm (Sinnot 2013; Muth 2018), or fragmented and poorly co-ordinated care packages can lead to complications such as over-hospitalisation when managing patients with multimorbidities (Sinnot 2013; Rijken 2016).

We have decided to undertake this review because the Cochrane Airways Patient Advisory Group and Programme Grant Steering Group considered this to be an important topic to be reviewed for a programme of Cochrane Airways Reviews funded by the National Institute for Health Research. The patients and HCPs agreed that the systematic review should report information about the clinical effectiveness of interventions, and the views and experiences of those involved in managing multimorbidities and COPD, and identify gaps in the evidence. The review will address issues that are important for people with COPD who have co-existing conditions, as well as for HCPs and policy-makers. A scoping search of quantitative and qualitative evidence conducted prior to initiation of the protocol showed potentially eligible studies.

In comparison with a previous Cochrane Review (Smith 2016), we decided to take a mixed-methods approach to evaluate the evidence that exists for people living with COPD and at least one other chronic condition in this review, because of concerns that interventions begun with the best intentions may not always be helpful for patients. Combining both quantitative and qualitative data can provide a better understanding of why some interventions are successful and why others less so. This approach helps to add richness and depth to quantitative findings, which is not methodologically possible to do when interpreting quantitative data alone. It can identify areas where quantitative research may be lacking but appears to be important to patients, carers or health professionals (as identified from qualitative research). We identified studies conducted in a community or hospital setting and combined both quantitative data (numerical data from clinical trials), and qualitative data (non-numerical data from, for example, semi-structured interviews, focus group discussions and patient, carer or health professional observations). To illustrate: we are aware of a local example where people with COPD and heart disease have been put under a co-ordinated care regimen, but the patients have said they prefer separate appointments because they are shorter, and they like having a reason to get out of the house.

We deliberately left the types of intervention very broad (compared to Smith 2016), to reflect the reality of people living with COPD and other long-term health conditions in trying to make sense of a sparse literature, who nonetheless need to make decisions about how to manage their own symptoms and daily life. The interventions aimed to address COPD rather than the full extent of multimorbidity.

## OBJECTIVES

- To assess the effectiveness of any single intervention for COPD adapted or tailored to their comorbidity(s) compared to any other intervention for people with COPD and one or more common comorbidities (quantitative data, RCTs) in terms of the following outcomes: Quality of life, exacerbations, functional status, all-cause and respiratory-related hospital admissions, mortality, pain, and depression and anxiety.
- To assess the effectiveness of an adapted or tailored single COPD intervention (simple or complex) that is aimed at changing the management of people with COPD and one or more

14

Tailored or adapted interventions for adults with chronic obstructive pulmonary disease and at least one other long-term condition: a mixed methods review (Review) Copyright © 2021 The Cochrane Collaboration. Published by John Wiley & Sons, Ltd. chrane

common comorbidities (quantitative data, RCTs) compared to usual care in terms of the following outcomes: Quality of life, exacerbations, functional status, all-cause and respiratoryrelated hospital admissions, mortality, pain, and depression and anxiety.

- To identify emerging themes that describe the views and experiences of patients, carers and healthcare professionals when receiving or providing care to manage comorbidities (qualitative data).
- To use a mixed-methods approach to combine quantitative and qualitative data resulting from the first three objectives, provided that we find relevant data. If we find that we are unable to combine quantitative data and qualitative textual themes, we will present the data and themes separately.

# METHODS

# **Types of studies**

We included the following study designs to address the objectives of this review.

- Randomised controlled trials (RCTs) to assess effectiveness of interventions (quantitative data).
- Qualitative studies of any design, including in-depth interviews, semi-structured interviews, focus group discussion, observations, and surveys that explore views, opinions and experiences of people with comorbid COPD, their carers and health professionals involved in provision of care.
- Mixed-methods studies (RCTs that also include a qualitative study as part of their investigations).

# **Types of participants**

We included adults with a primary diagnosis of COPD of any severity (e.g. Global Initiative for Chronic Obstructive Lung Disease (GOLD), or American Thoracic Society (ATS) criteria), with at least one other long-term condition (e.g. asthma, coronary heart disease, diabetes, atrial fibrillation, heart failure, hypertension, stroke/ transient Ischaemic attack, lung cancer or osteoporosis (Barnett 2012)).

We included people with COPD who also had anxiety or depression or both, but this was not permitted to be the only comorbidity.

We included studies involving carers and healthcare professionals (HCPs) when receiving or providing care to manage comorbidities.

# **Types of interventions**

We included the following interventions for quantitative studies.

- Any single intervention for COPD delivered to people with COPD adapted to or targeting their comorbidity (or comorbidities) (e.g. participants receiving a pulmonary rehabilitation programme tailored to take account of their comorbidities by delivering the exercise component in water rather than out of water (McNamara 2013a)) compared to any other intervention. We envisage these interventions being broken into the following categories of interventions.
  - \* Pulmonary rehabilitation.
  - \* Self-management.
  - \* Exercise or other physical therapy.

- \* Ventilation.
- \* Pharmacotherapy (e.g. change of inhaler).
- Any intervention aimed at changing the management of people with COPD and one (or more) co-existing long-term condition(s), which could be simple (e.g. scheduling COPD and heart clinics on the same day) or more complex (e.g. developing an integrated care package for management of people with COPD in a particular hospital and providing training to staff to deliver it), compared to routine care (or usual care, control, or no intervention). We envisage these interventions being broken into the following categories of interventions.
  - \* Organisation-wide interventions (such as introducing a new care pathway).
  - \* Simple changes within the organisation (such as scheduling relevant clinics on the same day).
  - \* Interventions across a wider area (such as integration between GP, hospital and pharmacy).

We included interventions delivered in primary (community) or secondary (hospital) care.

We excluded studies of interventions for the comorbidity (e.g. heart surgery).

We excluded studies of pharmacological or psychological interventions that targeted anxiety or depression or both rather than COPD (previous Cochrane Reviews have, for example, included COPD patients with either anxiety (Usmani 2017), depression (Pollok 2018; Pollok 2019), or both anxiety and depression (Usmani 2011)).

We excluded interventions that were designed to reduce the number of prescribed medicines or interactions between them (polypharmacy), but we planned to include interventions that aim to help people to manage polypharmacy.

We excluded interventions delivered to HCPs.

We included qualitative studies that explored the experiences of participants, carers and HCPs, taking part in the above interventions.

# Types of outcome measures

We included the following outcomes for quantitative analysis.

#### **Primary outcomes**

- Quality of life (e.g. St. George's Respiratory Questionnaire (SGRQ), COPD assessment test (CAT))
- Exacerbations (as defined by trialists, depending on the data available, we extracted either number of participants experiencing one or more exacerbation, or the exacerbation rate, or both)

#### Secondary outcomes

- Functional status (6-minute walk distance (6MWD)/incremental shuttle walk test (ISWT))
- All-cause hospital admissions (also as a proxy for use of services, e.g. reduction of use)
- Respiratory hospital admissions
- Mortality (all causes)

Tailored or adapted interventions for adults with chronic obstructive pulmonary disease and at least one other long-term condition: a mixed methods review (Review)

Copyright  ${\ensuremath{\mathbb C}}$  2021 The Cochrane Collaboration. Published by John Wiley & Sons, Ltd.



- Pain (as reported in trials)
- Anxiety symptoms (measured by e.g. Hospital Anxiety and Depression Scale (HADS))
- Depression symptoms (measured by e.g. HADS)

For the planned qualitative synthesis, our outcomes were themes arising from the data.

We included studies regardless of whether they report our predefined outcomes.

There was no minimum duration for the interventions, and we used data reported for the last follow-up point.

#### Search methods for identification of studies

# **Electronic searches**

We searched for studies in June 2019, February 2020, and January 2021 in the following databases and trials registries:

- Cochrane Airways Register of Trials through the CRS, from inception onwards;
- Cochrane Central Register of Controlled Trials (CENTRAL, in the Cochrane Library) through the Cochrane Register of Studies (CRS), from inception onwards;
- MEDLINE Ovid SP from 1946 onwards;
- Embase Ovid from 1974 onwards;
- PsycINFO Ovid Sp from 1974 onwards;
- CINAHL EBSCO (Cumulative Index to Nursing and Allied Health Literature) from 1937 onwards;
- Web of Science Core Collection from 1970 onwards;
- US National Institutes of Health Ongoing Trials Register ClinicalTrials.gov;
- World Health Organization International Clinical Trials Registry Platform (ICTRP).

Searches for qualitative and quantitative studies were run separately using appropriate study design filters. We combined search terms for the target population with the Cochrane Highly Sensitive Search Strategy to identify reports of RCTs (Lefebvre 2021), and terms from the search strategies developed and tested by DeJean 2016 to find reports of qualitative studies. The search was developed in MEDLINE by ES, with input from the other authors, and was peer-reviewed by another Information Specialist using the PRESS checklist (McGowan 2016). The MEDLINE search strategy was adapted appropriately for use in the other databases. We did not apply any language limits, and we did not limit the search strategy by population characteristics such as age, gender, or race. Details of the database search strategies, search dates, and the number of results retrieved are presented in Appendix 1.

We initially searched all databases from their inception to June 2019. We updated the searches in February 2020 and January 2021 in a reduced number of databases (Appendix 2) following an analysis of the individual database yield of eligible study references.

#### Searching other resources

We conducted a forwards and backwards citation search in Web of Science for each included study on 15 May 2020 (RCTs) and 5 June 2020 (qualitative studies). We checked the reference lists of related review articles for additional references. We used the Epistemonikos database to search for relevant systematic reviews (www.epistemonikos.org).

We searched for errata or retractions from included studies published in full text on PubMed on 4 December 2020.

#### Data collection and analysis

#### **Selection of studies**

We retrieved many search results, and we therefore used Cochrane's 'Screen4Me' workflow to help assess the results of our search for RCTs. Screen4Me comprises three components: known assessments — a service that matches records in the search results to records that have already been screened in Cochrane Crowd and have been labelled as 'RCT' or as 'Not an RCT'; the RCT classifier — a machine-learning model that distinguishes RCTs from non-RCTs (Marshall 2018); and if appropriate, Cochrane Crowd — Cochrane's citizen science platform where 'the crowd' help to identify and describe health evidence (Noel-Storr 2020).

Following use of the Screen4Me workflow, two of three review authors (SJ, ES and ED) screened each title and abstract of the remaining search results independently and coded them as 'retrieve' (eligible or potentially eligible/unclear) or 'do not retrieve'. We retrieved the full-text study reports of all potentially eligible studies and two of three review authors (SJ, ES and ED) independently screened each full text for inclusion, and recorded the reasons for exclusion of ineligible studies.

We resolved any disagreement through discussion or, if required, we consulted a third review author (SH). We identified and excluded duplicates and collated multiple reports of the same study so that each study, rather than each report, is the unit of interest in the review. We recorded the selection process in sufficient detail to complete a PRISMA flow diagram and Characteristics of excluded studies table (Moher 2009).

#### **Data extraction and management**

Three authors (SJ, ED, ES) screened citations in Covidence. One review author (SJ) piloted the data extraction form on at least one quantitative and one qualitative study before we extracted data from the rest of the included studies. We extracted data into a Microsoft Excel spreadsheet.

#### **Quantitative studies**

Three review authors extracted the following study characteristics from included studies.

- Methods: study design, total duration of study, details of any 'run-in' period, number of study centres and location, study setting, withdrawals and date of study.
- Participants: N, mean age, age range, gender, severity of condition, diagnostic criteria, baseline lung function, smoking history, inclusion criteria and exclusion criteria.
- Interventions: intervention, comparison, concomitant medications and excluded medications.
- Outcomes: primary and secondary outcomes specified and collected (e.g. confidence intervals, P values, measurement scales used), and time points reported. Definitions used to diagnose an exacerbation were sought and recorded.

Tailored or adapted interventions for adults with chronic obstructive pulmonary disease and at least one other long-term condition: a mixed methods review (Review)



• Notes: funding for studies and notable conflicts of interest of trial authors.

Three review authors (SJ, ES and ED) independently extracted outcome data from included studies. We planned to note in the Characteristics of included studies table if outcome data were not reported in a usable way. We resolved disagreements by consensus or by involving a third person/review author (SH). One review author (ED) transferred quantitative data into the Review Manager 5 (RevMan 5) file (Review Manager 2020). We double-checked that data are entered correctly by comparing the data presented in the review with the study reports. A second review author (SJ) spotchecked study characteristics for accuracy against the study report, and results were also checked by the Cochrane Airways Group statistician.

# **Qualitative studies**

In order to capture context, two review authors (from SJ, ES, ED) extracted the following study characteristics from included studies.

- Study details: country, study type (e.g. focus group, semistructured interviews, structured interviews, surveys), dates, source of funding, objectives.
- Participants: N, mean age, age range, gender, severity of condition, diagnostic criteria, baseline lung function, smoking history, inclusion criteria and exclusion criteria.
- Methods: sampling, setting (e.g. community or hospital), data collection (e.g. how the authors conducted the study, length of interviews, whether interviews were recorded, use of interview guide, data collected until achievement of thematic saturation), data analysis (e.g. method of analysis of transcripts, framework used, coding, thematic map).
- Results: authors' interpretations, quotes from participants provided by authors.

# Assessment of risk of bias

#### **Quantitative studies**

Three review authors (SJ, ES and ED) assessed risks of bias independently for each study using the criteria outlined in the *Cochrane Handbook for Systematic Reviews of Interventions* (Higgins 2011). We resolved any disagreements by discussion or by involving another author (SH). We assessed the risk of bias according to the following domains.

- Random sequence generation.
- Allocation concealment.
- Blinding of participants and personnel.
- Blinding of outcome assessment.
- Incomplete outcome data.
- Selective outcome reporting.
- Other potential bias.

We judged each potential source of bias as high, low or unclear and provided a quote from the study report together with a justification for our judgement in the risk of bias table. We summarised the risk of bias judgements across different studies for each of the domains listed. We considered blinding separately for different key outcomes where necessary (e.g. for unblinded outcome assessment, risk of bias for all-cause mortality may be very different from a patient-reported quality-of-life scale). We planned to note where information on risk of bias was from unpublished data or correspondence with a trialist, but we decided not to contact trial authors for clarification or unpublished data. When considering treatment effects, we took into account the risk of bias for the studies that contribute to that outcome via GRADE assessment of the certainty of the evidence (see below).

We presented a risk of bias table for all studies.

#### **Qualitative studies**

Two review authors (SJ, SH) assessed risk of bias independently for each study using the criteria outlined by the Cochrane Quality and Intervention Methods Group (Hannes 2011). We resolved any disagreements by discussion or by involving another review author (AH). We assessed the risk of bias according to the following criteria.

- Quality of reporting (explicitness in reporting of all study aspects).
- Methodological rigour (validity and reliability of study design and process).
- Conceptual depth and breadth (are reported aims, rationale or theory reflected in the study design, process and findings?).

We used the Critical Appraisal Skills Programme (CASP) checklist (Critical Appraisal Skills Programme 2018) to assess risk of bias. We present risk of bias of studies in a table.

We assessed the risk of bias after the identification of relevant data to help us make judgements about the relative strength of messages in the included research.

#### **Mixed-methods studies**

We planned to use the Mixed Methods Appraisal Tool (MMAT) to assess risk of bias (Hong 2018; Pluye 2011). Two review authors (SJ and ED) would have assessed risk of bias independently for each study using the criteria outlined by the MMAT. We planned to resolve any disagreements by discussion or by involving another author (SH). We planned to assess the risk of bias according to the following criteria.

- Is there an adequate rationale for using a mixed-methods design to address the research question?
- Are the different components of the study effectively integrated to answer the research question?
- Are the outputs of the integration of qualitative and quantitative components adequately addressed?
- Are divergences and inconsistencies between quantitative and qualitative results adequately addressed?
- Do the different components of the study adhere to the quality criteria of each tradition of the methods involved?

# **Measurement of treatment effect**

#### **Quantitative treatment effects**

We analysed dichotomous data as an odds ratios (OR) and continuous data as the mean difference (MD) or standardised mean difference (SMD). Where data from rating scales were combined in a meta-analysis, we ensured they were entered with a consistent direction of effect (e.g. lower scores always indicate improvement). We undertook meta-analyses only where this was meaningful: that is, if the treatments, participants and the underlying clinical

17



question were similar enough for pooling to make sense. Where we encountered substantial statistical or clinical heterogeneity, we presented data in graphs, but did not pool them. We described skewed data narratively (for example, as medians and interquartile ranges for each group).

Where multiple trial arms were reported in a single study, we included only the relevant arms for either comparison. Where two comparisons (e.g. intervention A versus intervention B) were combined in the same meta-analysis, we planned to either combine the active arms or halve the control group to avoid doublecounting, but this was not necessary. If adjusted analyses were available (ANOVA or ANCOVA), we used these as a preference in our meta-analyses. If both change from baseline and endpoint scores were available for continuous data, we used change from baseline unless there was low correlation between measurements in individuals. Where studies reported outcomes at multiple time points, we used endpoint data. We used intention-to-treat (ITT) or 'full analysis set' analyses where they were reported (i.e. those where data have been imputed for participants who were randomly assigned but did not complete the study) instead of completer or per protocol analyses.

# Unit of analysis issues

# **Quantitative analysis**

For dichotomous outcomes, we used participants, rather than events, as the unit of analysis. Where rate ratios were reported in a study, we planned to analyse them on this basis. We planned to meta-analyse data from cluster-RCTs where data had been adjusted (or could be adjusted by us), to account for the clustering.

# Dealing with missing data

We planned to contact investigators or study sponsors in order to verify key study characteristics and to obtain missing numerical outcome data (e.g. when a study is identified as an abstract only), however when conducting the review, we decided not to contact authors for missing data.

# Assessment of certainty of evidence

# **Quantitative data**

We used the five GRADE considerations (risk of bias, consistency of effect, imprecision, indirectness, and publication bias) to assess the quality of the body of evidence as it relates to the following outcomes: Quality of life (SGRQ and CAT), exacerbations, functional status (6MWD), all-cause hospital admissions, all-cause mortality, anxiety and depression (unfortunately we did not specify these a priori). We used the methods and recommendations described in the *Cochrane Handbook for Systematic Reviews of Interventions* (Higgins 2021), using GRADEpro GDT software (GRADEpro GDT; Guyatt 2008). We justified all decisions to downgrade the quality of studies in the footnotes of the table, and made comments to aid the reader's understanding of the results where necessary. We presented GRADE findings in a summary of findings table.

# **Qualitative data**

We used the GRADE Confidence in the Evidence from Reviews of Qualitative Research (CERQual) approach to assess our confidence in the evidence of effectiveness arising from studies evaluating interventions (Lewin 2015). One review author (SJ) did this independently and Jane Noyes (from the Cochrane Qualitative and Implementation methods group) checked the completed assessment separately. This assessment allowed us to make judgements on the following four domains.

- Methodological limitations of included studies.
- Relevance of contributing studies to the research question.
- Coherence of study findings.
- Adequacy of data supporting the study findings.

We used the methods and recommendations described in Chapter 21 of the *Cochrane Handbook for Systematic Reviews of Interventions* (Higgins 2021). We summarised findings of the four domains for each outcome in a CERQual Qualitative Evidence Profile (Lewin 2015). We rated the overall assessment of confidence of evidence as high, moderate, low or very low. We presented CERQual findings in a summary of findings table (Glenton 2020). We justified all decisions to downgrade the quality of studies in the footnotes of the table, and we made comments to aid the reader's understanding of the review where necessary.

# Assessment of heterogeneity

#### **Quantitative data**

We used the I<sup>2</sup> statistic to measure heterogeneity among the studies in each analysis where possible. We conducted a meta-analysis using a random-effects model, as the interventions were varied. We explored possible causes of heterogeneity.

We considered the following I<sup>2</sup> ranges in the analyses (Deeks 2021).

- 0% to 40%: might not be important
- 30% to 60%: may represent moderate heterogeneity
- 50% to 90%: may represent substantial heterogeneity
- 75% to 100%: considerable heterogeneity

We checked all data where we encountered substantial statistical heterogeneity. We did not pool data where there was substantial heterogeneity.

# Assessment of reporting bias

#### **Quantitative data**

If we had been able to pool more than 10 studies, we planned to create and examine a funnel plot to explore possible small-study and publication biases.

# **Data synthesis**

# **Quantitative data**

We used RevMan 5 and RevManWeb to perform quantitative data syntheses (meta-analyses) (Review Manager 2020); and where data for population or interventions were similar, we pooled such data. Where we felt it was not appropriate to pool data, we present the data in forest plots to show the range of effect sizes where possible. Where we found clinical heterogeneity within the studies we identified, we grouped studies according to interventions and outcomes, and used the random-effects model in the analyses (loannidis 2008). Where it was not possible to perform a metaanalysis, we considered presenting data graphically and narratively using recommendations in the latest version of the *Cochrane Handbook for Systematic Reviews of Interventions* (Higgins 2021).

Tailored or adapted interventions for adults with chronic obstructive pulmonary disease and at least one other long-term condition: a mixed methods review (Review)



#### Qualitative data

Where studies were similar in design we planned to synthesise their data using a thematic analysis (Thomas 2008). This method would have allowed us to identify important or recurrent themes that arise from studies and summarise them under thematic headings. We planned to tabulate information, allowing identification of prominent themes and offer structured ways of dealing with the data in each theme. This type of synthesis would have helped us to identify emerging themes that described the experiences of participants, carers and HCPs when receiving or providing care to manage comorbid COPD.

We planned to initially analyse carer and HCP data separately to identify, for example, conflicting views or experiences. If we had found that the views and experiences had been similar, we planned to combine the two subgroups in subsequent syntheses.

#### Combining quantitative and qualitative data

We planned to use the methods and recommendations described in the *Cochrane Handbook for Systematic Reviews of Interventions*, and methods outlined by the Cochrane Qualitative and Implementation Methods Group (Higgins 2021 and Harden 2018, respectively). There are two main approaches to integrating qualitative and quantitative data: sequential and convergent. The sequential approach involves synthesising qualitative and quantitative analyses separately, followed by using common frameworks to integrate the findings across syntheses. We planned to use the sequential approach to integrate qualitative data to explain quantitative findings. We planned to analyse quantitative data at the first stage, followed by synthesis of qualitative data in the second stage.

Integrating the qualitative syntheses with the quantitative analyses can be achieved by using a 'matrix' to compare and contrast findings across both types of evidence. The matrix will help to identify gaps in the evidence. This approach can help us to understand why heterogeneity exists that we may find in the quantitative analyses. Other approaches include the development of a 'logic model' by providing a common framework within which both quantitative and qualitative evidence can contribute (Harden 2018). We acknowledge that the methods for integration are dependent on the quantity of studies and extracted evidence available, and quality of description within included studies (e.g. intervention content, context, and study findings). For divergent data (qualitative data that does not match the quantitative data), we aimed to resolve divergence (deviation of the qualitative data from the quantitative data, or vice versa (Erzberger 1997)) where possible by providing a narrative explanation according to research and knowledge of the topic area.

# Subgroup and investigation of heterogeneity

We investigated clinical heterogeneity in the quantitative studies. We planned to perform subgroup analyses using the following prespecified groups, but we used the subgroup function in RevMan to present data by intervention type, and did not complete the following subgroup analysis due to lack of a sufficient number of studies.

- Number of comorbidities in addition to COPD (≤ 2 conditions versus ≥ 3 conditions).
- Duration of intervention (< 3 months versus ≥ 3 months).

We planned to use the following outcomes in the subgroup analyses.

- Quality of life.
- Functional status.
- Hospital admissions.
- Exacerbations.

We planned to use the formal test for subgroup interactions in Review Manager 5 (Review Manager 2020).

# Sensitivity analysis

We planed to carry out sensitivity analyses excluding studies in which one or more risk of bias domains is judged to be at high risk of bias.

# Assessment of bias conducting the systematic review

We conducted the review according to our published protocol and justified any deviations from it in the 'Differences between protocol and review' section.

#### **Review author reflexivity**

We maintained a reflexive stance throughout the stages of the review process, from study selection to data syntheses. Progress was discussed regularly among the team and decisions made were discussed critically. As a review author team, our expertise has been listed in Contributions of authors. Based on our collective and individual experiences as clinicians, academics and researchers, we anticipated that the findings of our review would identify a combination of organisational, professional and individual factors influencing the implementation of targeted interventions and approaches to care for people with COPD to manage comorbidities. ED has overseen progress of the review, a process that has allowed her to document and reflect on any decisions made.

# RESULTS

#### **Description of studies**

#### **Results of the search**

#### **Quantitative studies**

The literature search run on 8 January 2021 for reports of RCTs identified a total of 17,069 search results after duplicates were removed. We used Cochrane's Screen4Me workflow to help identify potential reports of randomised trials: 486 records were excluded by Cochrane Crowd Known Assessments, 6635 records were excluded by the Cochrane RCT Classifier, and 4528 records were excluded by Cochrane Crowd screeners After this initial assessment, we screened the remaining 5420 records and excluded 5252 records after reading the titles and abstracts. We obtained 168 articles for full-text review, excluded 142 of these with reasons (see Characteristics of excluded studies), and identified three studies that require further assessment (Characteristics of studies awaiting classification).

We included seven studies (19 references) and found a further four ongoing studies (Characteristics of ongoing studies). See Figure 1 for an overview of the study selection process.



#### **Qualitative studies**

The search for qualitative studies, run on 8 January 2021, identified a total of 9370 search results after duplicates were removed. We excluded 9257 records after reading the titles and abstracts, and obtained 113 articles for full-text assessment. We excluded 108 records with reasons (Characteristics of excluded studies) and identified two ongoing studies (four references), one of which is an ongoing RCT with a planned qualitative element (Characteristics of ongoing studies).

We included one study in the qualitative synthesis. See Figure 2 for an overview of the study selection process for qualitative studies.



# Figure 2. Study flow diagram for qualitative studies



Tailored or adapted interventions for adults with chronic obstructive pulmonary disease and at least one other long-term condition: a mixed methods review (Review)

Copyright © 2021 The Cochrane Collaboration. Published by John Wiley & Sons, Ltd.



#### **Included studies**

#### Quantitative

We included seven studies in the quantitative synthesis. An overview of the study characteristics is given in Table 3.

#### Participants

Participants in included studies had COPD that ranged from mild to very severe. The studies involved people with a range of comorbidities. Three studies accepted people with COPD plus one or more of a range of specified comorbidities (McNamara 2013b; Rose 2018; Walker 2018). The participants in McNamara 2013b had either musculoskeletal or neurological comorbidities, or obesity. Participants in Rose 2018 had two or more comorbidities. The most common comorbid conditions were cardiovascular disease, diabetes, osteopenia/osteoporosis, and depression. Walker 2018 included participants with one or more comorbid conditions including hyperlipidaemia, diabetes, congestive heart failure and/or ischaemic heart disease, sleep-disordered breathing and osteoporosis. The other four studies included people with COPD plus one specific comorbidity: lung cancer (EUCTR2010-021412-42-GB); lung cancer, or head and neck cancer (Gottlieb 2020); cardiovascular disease (Bernocchi 2018), and metabolic syndrome (Budnevskiy 2015). See Table 4 for more information.

The proportion of men in the studies ranged from 28% to 88%. Mean age ranged from 67 to 72 year. Ethnicity was not reported in the studies.

#### Interventions

Two studies delivered pharmacological interventions. EUCTR2010-021412-42-GB compared inhaler optimisation plus usual care, with usual care alone. EUCTR2010-021412-42-GB tailored the intervention by considering the poor prognosis of participants with co-existing lung cancer, and the intervention group was given the maximum inhaled therapy. Gottlieb 2020 optimised the COPD treatment for the intervention group while the control group received usual care; the tailoring element was that the therapy was re-considered at each six-monthly visit.

Two studies delivered a rehabilitation intervention. Budnevskiy 2015 compared a pulmonary rehabilitation programme, where the exercises took into account metabolic syndrome comorbidity, and included education, physical training and nutritional recommendations, versus usual care. McNamara 2013b compared water-based exercise training with land-based exercise training or usual care. The tailoring element was that the exercises were carried out in water, which provides more support to people's bodies, and participants were able to choose the most comfortable level of water immersion. We used both comparisons in the review in separate comparisons (water- vs land-based training and water-based training versus usual care).

Two studies were categorised under organisation of care. Rose 2018 assigned case-managers to deliver case management and this group was compared to usual care. Case-managers tailored the intervention to the individual by providing an individualised action plan. Walker 2018 compared telemonitoring with usual care. Participants in the treatment arm were given a wearable device and used the CHROMED monitoring platform, and there was a nested qualitative study that collected feedback from participants, researchers and HCPs in the study (Middlemass 2017).

All participants in Bernocchi 2018 received inpatient rehabilitation, then people were randomised to a package of care (including personalised discharge, nurse telephone support and telemonitoring, physiotherapist-personalised maintenance rehabilitation) or usual care.

#### Setting

Four of the seven studies were conduced in single-centre hospitalbased settings from Australia (McNamara 2013b), Denmark (Gottlieb 2020), Russia (Budnevskiy 2015), and United Kingdom (EUCTR2010-021412-42-GB). Three were multicentre studies, one based in two community teaching hospitals in Canada (Rose 2018), one based in three centres (respiratory, cardiology and telemedicine) in Italy (Bernocchi 2018), and one in multiple centres in Estonia, Slovenia, Spain, Sweden and United Kingdom (Walker 2018).

#### Study design

Six of the studies were parallel RCTs, plus one RCT (Walker 2018), which included a nested qualitative study of a subset of the participants and people involved in running the study (Middlemass 2017).

# **Trial duration**

The duration of the trials ranged from 4 to 52 weeks (Table 5). We used the data from the latest endpoint in those studies that reported multiple time points during the intervention duration (Bernocchi 2018; EUCTR2010-021412-42-GB; Gottlieb 2020; Rose 2018). The remaining studies reported outcome data at the end of the intervention (Budnevskiy 2015; McNamara 2013b; Walker 2018). None of the studies reported follow-up data after the intervention was stopped.

#### Outcomes

The studies reported a range of outcomes, summarised in Table 5. Briefly, measures of all-cause hospitalisations were reported by Bernocchi 2018, Rose 2018 and Walker 2018. Two studies reported functional status (Bernocchi 2018; McNamara 2013b). All seven studies reported one or more measures of quality of life (Bernocchi 2018; Budnevskiy 2015; EUCTR2010-021412-42-GB; Gottlieb 2020; McNamara 2013b; Rose 2018; Walker 2018) (Table 5).

#### Qualitative

We included one study in the qualitative synthesis. An overview of the study characteristics is given in Characteristics of included studies table.

#### Participants

Twenty-one participants with severe COPD aged between 60 and 99 years and their partners or relatives if available, from the pilot study and a subset of the main intervention group in Walker 2018 were included in Middlemass 2017. Middlemass 2017 did not report the participants' comorbidities. However, the CHROMED RCT linked to this publication included people with COPD who had one or more comorbidities (congestive heart failure and/or ischaemic heart disease hypertension, sleep-related disordered breathing, osteoporosis, or hyperlipidaemia) (Walker 2018).

Tailored or adapted interventions for adults with chronic obstructive pulmonary disease and at least one other long-term condition: a mixed methods review (Review)

Copyright © 2021 The Cochrane Collaboration. Published by John Wiley & Sons, Ltd.



#### Interventions

Middlemass 2017 explored participants' perceptions of using telehealth equipment at home (those who were assigned to the intervention arm of Walker 2018).

#### Setting

Middlemass 2017 was a nested qualitative study linked to Walker 2018, and was based in participants' homes in Estonia, Italy, Norway, Slovenia, Spain, Sweden and United Kingdom (two sites).

#### Study design

Middlemass 2017 was an instrumental, collective study design that used qualitative interviews. They conducted a framework thematic

analysis, using the Health Information Technology Acceptance Model (HITAM) as a guide.

## **Duration of study**

Qualitative interviews were conducted once, shortly after the equipment was installed, and at the end of the study at 39 weeks.

#### Themes

A range of themes are summarised in Table 6.

# Risk of bias in included studies - quantitative

See Figure 3 for a summary of the risk of bias judgments.



Figure 3. Risk of bias summary



#### Allocation

We judged five studies to be at low risk of bias for random sequence generation (Bernocchi 2018; Gottlieb 2020; McNamara 2013b; Rose 2018; Walker 2018), while two were unclear (Budnevskiy 2015; EUCTR2010-021412-42-GB). We judged three studies to be at low risk of bias for allocation concealment (Bernocchi 2018; McNamara 2013b; Walker 2018), while four were judged to be at unclear risk of bias (Budnevskiy 2015; EUCTR2010-021412-42-GB; Gottlieb 2020; Rose 2018).

Tailored or adapted interventions for adults with chronic obstructive pulmonary disease and at least one other long-term condition: a mixed methods review (Review)

#### Blinding

Where the interventions involved a complex intervention such as pulmonary rehabilitation, case management or telemonitoring, it was not possible to blind participants or personnel because they would know whether they were receiving the intervention or not and were therefore judged to be at high risk of bias. This applied to most of the studies. The two studies that involved optimisation of medication (EUCTR2010-021412-42-GB; Gottlieb 2020), were run as open-label studies and so were also judged to be at high risk of bias.

Blinding of outcome assessors only protects studies if the participants are also blinded, or if outcomes are objective or not self-reported or both. So while we have awarded some low risk of bias, they may not be protected. Three studies explained that they blinded outcome assessors, earning them a low risk of bias assessment for this domain (Bernocchi 2018; McNamara 2013b; Walker 2018). While the reporting was not clear enough to make a judgement for two studies (Budnevskiy 2015; Gottlieb 2020), two studies did not blind the outcome assessors so they were judged to be at high risk of bias (EUCTR2010-021412-42-GB; Rose 2018).

#### Incomplete outcomes data

Incomplete outcome data relates to attrition or withdrawal from the study. Two studies had zero to low levels of dropouts (EUCTR2010-021412-42-GB; Rose 2018) and were judged at low risk of bias for this domain. One study did not provide any information on dropouts or how many people completed the study, so we judged the domain as unclear risk (Budnevskiy 2015). The remaining four studies were at high risk of bias for the following reasons; Bernocchi 2018 reported more dropouts in the control group compared to the intervention group (37.5% versus 19.6%); Gottlieb 2020 had a high loss to follow-up in both intervention and control groups (28% and 33% respectively), and McNamara 2013b reported more dropouts (25%) in the land-based training group because of exacerbation of comorbidity or loss of interest in the study. Sixteen per cent of participants in the water-based training group dropped out due to skin tear or general fatigue. Walker 2018 had high and unbalanced dropout rates and 5% withdrew as they could not use the equipment. Rose 2018 reported that missing data were problematic for their secondary outcomes measured at 52 weeks.

#### Selective reporting

Four studies were at low risk of bias because protocols were available and outcomes specified were reported in the full text (EUCTR2010-021412-42-GB; McNamara 2013b; Rose 2018; Walker 2018). One study was at unclear risk of bias because there was no published protocol (Gottlieb 2020) and two studies were at unclear risk because they did not report a standard deviation (SD) to accompany a mean for some outcomes (Budnevskiy 2015; Bernocchi 2018). We did not contact the authors because we did not think that clarifying this information would change the outcome of the review.

# Other bias

We did not observe any other risks of bias.

**Risk of bias in included studies – Qualitative** 

See Table 1 for critical appraisal of qualitative studies.

Overall, there were some concerns about risk of bias in Middlemass 2017. We could not be sure if the study design was justified in addressing the aims of the study. Similarly, methods for collecting the data may not have addressed the research question because it was not clear if the interviews were in-depth or semi-structured. There was no justification provided for using interviews rather than focus groups. Authors did not provide details on data saturation. The researcher and participant relationship was not considered, as the role of the interviewer was not examined. We did not have any concerns with ethical issues as they had been taken into consideration. The data analysis was rigorous and the process was well described. There was a clear statement of findings which were explicit and well organised.

#### Effects of the interventions - quantitative

For an overall summary, see Summary of findings 1 and Summary of findings 2.

#### Intervention versus usual care

For this comparison we included seven studies with 1177 participants.

#### Quality of life (primary outcome)

Quality of life was reported in several studies using a range of measures: St George's Respiratory Questionnaire (SGRQ), COPD Assessment Test (CAT), Chronic Respiratory Disease Questionnaire (CRQ), Minnesota Living with Heart Failure Questionnaire (MLHFQ) and EuroQuol-5D VAS (EQ-5D).

In this comparison, we used water-based versus usual care for McNamara 2013b.

# SGRQ

Two studies reported the SGRQ total (Budnevskiy 2015; Rose 2018). Budnevskiy 2015, a rehabilitation study of 70 participants, reported SGRQ total scores at 52 weeks follow-up. Uncertain evidence suggests that pulmonary rehabilitation may result in a decrease (improvement) in SGRQ score compared to usual care (mean difference (MD) –10.85, 95% confidence interval (CI) –12.66 to –9.04; low-certainty evidence; Analysis 1.1; Summary of findings 1).

The second study (Rose 2018) provided outpatient case management and reported on the SGRQ total score at 52 weeks follow-up. The mean difference of 4 was reported with a very tight confidence interval This is likely to overestimate the benefit of the intervention. There were also some discrepancies between the published and supplemental data. We therefore decided not to present the results graphically.

#### CAT

Four studies from four different categories of intervention reported the CAT total score; these were not pooled because the interventions were too diverse (Analysis 1.2).

One rehabilitation study (Budnevskiy 2015) showed that pulmonary rehabilitation probably improves quality CAT score at 52 weeks follow-up (MD –8.02, 95% CI –9.44 to –6.60; moderatecertainty evidence; Analysis 1.2; Summary of findings 1). The multicomponent telehealth intervention trialled in Bernocchi 2018 probably improves CAT score at 17 weeks follow-up (MD –6.90, 95% CI –9.56 to –4.24; moderate-certainty evidence; Analysis 1.2;

Tailored or adapted interventions for adults with chronic obstructive pulmonary disease and at least one other long-term condition: a mixed methods review (Review)



Summary of findings 1). Evidence is uncertain about effects of pharmacotherapy optimisation or telemonitoring interventions on quality of life as there is little to no difference in effect compared to usual care at 25 weeks (MD 0.00, 95% CI –3.40 to 3.40) or at 39 weeks follow-up (MD –0.41, 95% CI –2.19 to 1.37) respectively (Walker 2018; Gottlieb 2020) (low-certainty evidence; Analysis 1.2; Summary of findings 1).

#### CRQ domains (dyspnoea, fatigue, emotion, mastery)

One study reported results from the CRQ which was presented as the four subdomains rather than an overall domain (McNamara 2013b; Analysis 1.3). Water-based exercise training may offer a slight improvement in quality of life, as measured by CRQ dyspnoea (MD 3.25, 95% CI 0.90 to 5.60; 1 study, 33 participants), fatigue (MD 4.70, 95% CI 2.40 to 7.00), and emotion (MD 3.10, 95% CI 0.10 to 6.10) domains, compared with usual care at eight weeks follow-up. There may be little of no difference in the mastery domain (MD 1.90, 95% CI -0.20 to 4.00).

#### MLHFQ

One study (Bernocchi 2018) reported on the MLHFQ and showed that a targeted multicomponent intervention may result in a small but clinically insignificant improvement in this outcome at 17 weeks follow-up (MD –10.06, 95% CI –16.27 to –3.85; 92 participants; Analysis 1.4). The minimal clinically important difference (MCID) is 45 (Behlouli 2009).

#### EQ-5D

One study reported on the EQ-5D, but reported two scores, the VAS and the utility domain (Walker 2018). For both scores on the standardised mean difference (SMD) scale, there is little to no difference in the effect of targeted interventions on VAS (SMD –0.02, 95% CI –0.24 to 0.20; 303 participants; Analysis 1.5) or utility scores (MD –0.01, 95% CI –0.23 to 0.21; 303 participants) at 39 weeks follow-up.

#### Exacerbations (primary outcome)

One study reported exacerbations as the number of people experiencing one or more exacerbations resulting in an emergency department (ED) visit (Rose 2018). Case management may result in little to no difference in the number of people experiencing exacerbations at 52 weeks follow-up compared to usual care, with the evidence very uncertain (OR 1.09, 95% 0.75 to 1.57; 470 participants; very low-certainty evidence; Analysis 1.6; Summary of findings 1). Rose 2018 also reported mean exacerbations per person, which showed case management may result in little to no difference in effect at 52 weeks follow-up, regardless of the issue of missing data reported (Analysis 1.7).

#### Functional status (secondary outcome)

Three rehabilitation studies reported at least one outcome relating to functional status (Bernocchi 2018; Budnevskiy 2015; McNamara 2013b). The specific outcomes reported were the six-minute walk distance (6MWD), incremental shuffle walk test (ISWT), and endurance shuttle walk test (ESWT).

#### 6MWD

Data from two studies reported that tailored rehabilitation interventions (pulmonary rehabilitation and water-based exercise) are likely to result in a large increase in 6MWD at mean 38.8 weeks follow-up (MD 60.40 metres, 95% CI 44.26 to 76.54;  $I^2 = 0\%$ ; 2 studies, 100 participants; low-certainty evidence; Analysis 1.8; Summary of findings 1). One study reported that a multicomponent intervention is likely to result in a large increase in 6MWD at 52 weeks follow-up, with evidence uncertain (MD 75.00 metres, 95% CI 28.06 to 121.94; 80 participants; low-certainty evidence; Analysis 1.8; Summary of findings 1). The MCID for the 6MWT is 25 to 35 meters (Holland 2013).

#### ISWT

One study (McNamara 2013b) with 30 participants reported that a water-based exercise may improve ISWT compared to usual care at eight weeks follow-up (MD 50 metres, 95% CI 20 to 80; Analysis 1.9). However, with the small number of participants, we were uncertain about the results.

#### ESWT

One study with 30 participants reported ESWT at eight weeks follow-up (McNamara 2013b). The results favoured the water-based exercise group compared to usual care (MD 371 metres, 95% CI 120 to 622; Analysis 1.10), although with so few participants and a wide confidence interval, we are uncertain about the results.

#### All-cause hospital admissions (secondary outcome)

#### Number of people experiencing one or more hospitalisations (allcause)

Two studies reported the number of people experiencing one or more hospitalisations for any cause (Bernocchi 2018; Walker 2018). We did not pool the data owing to variations in the interventions. The evidence is very uncertain about the effects of telemonitoring compared to usual care at 39 weeks (OR 0.91, 95% CI 0.55 to 1.50; 312 participants; low-certainty evidence; Analysis 1.11; Summary of findings 1). A multicomponent intervention may reduce the number of people experiencing hospitalisations at 17 weeks, but evidence is uncertain (OR 0.31, 95% CI 0.14 to 0.67; 112 participants; low-certainty evidence; Analysis 1.11; Summary of findings 1). Although the sample size is small, the trial was sufficiently powered (80% with a P value < 0.05), which was reported in the publication methods (Bernocchi 2018). The study is at risk of bias and should be interpreted with caution.

#### Mean hospitalisations per person

One study reported the mean number of hospitalisations per person (Rose 2018). There may be little to no difference in case management on mean hospitalisations compared to usual care at 52 weeks (MD –0.10, 95% CI –0.40 to 0.20; 470 participants; Analysis 1.12).

#### Respiratory hospital admissions (secondary outcome)

One study reported the number people with respiratory-related hospital admissions (Bernocchi 2018). There may be little to no difference in a multicomponent intervention on respiratory hospital admissions compared to usual care at 17 weeks (OR 0.49, 95% CI 0.17 to 1.44; 112 participants; Analysis 1.13).

#### Mortality - all-cause (secondary outcome)

Five studies reported the number of deaths during the trial (Bernocchi 2018; EUCTR2010-021412-42-GB; Gottlieb 2020; Rose 2018; Walker 2018). Overall there were 90 deaths in a total of 1071 participants (8.4%).

Tailored or adapted interventions for adults with chronic obstructive pulmonary disease and at least one other long-term condition: a mixed methods review (Review)

Evidence from two pharmacotherapy studies showed that optimising pharmacotherapy may result in little to no difference in mortality, with a pooled OR of 0.55 (95% Cl 0.23 to 1.35;  $l^2 = 0\%$ ; 2 studies, 177 participants; very low-certainty evidence; Analysis 1.14; Summary of findings 1).

Evidence from two studies showed that effects of organisationof-care interventions (case-management and telemonitoring) may result in fewer deaths compared to usual care at mean 46.7 weeks follow-up (OR 0.56, 95% CI 0.33 to 0.96; ;  $I^2 = 0\%$ ; 2 studies, 782 participants; low-certainty evidence; Analysis 1.14; Summary of findings 1).

Evidence from one multicomponent intervention study (Bernocchi 2018) was very uncertain (OR 1.00, 95% CI 0.06 to 16.39; 112 participants; very low-certainty evidence; Analysis 1.14; Summary of findings 1). Two studies did not report mortality as an outcome.

#### Pain (secondary outcome)

None of the studies reported on pain.

#### Anxiety (secondary outcome)

Two studies reported results from the HADS-anxiety questionnaire. Water-based exercise may have little or no effect on anxiety at eight weeks follow-up compared to no exercise, and we are uncertain about the evidence (MD -1.00, 95% CI -3.50 to 1.50; 1 study, 33 participants; Analysis 1.15). A case-management intervention may have an effect on anxiety at 52 weeks, (Rose 2018) but we are very uncertain about the evidence due to risk of bias. The confidence interval was very tight, and there were discrepancies between the results in the main text and supplementary information. We have therefore decided not to present the results.

# Depression (secondary outcome)

Two studies reported results from the HADS-depression questionnaire (McNamara 2013b; Rose 2018). Water-based exercise may have little to no effect on the HADS-Depression score at eight weeks follow-up compared with usual care (Analysis 1.16). Again there were discrepancies in the reporting of results in Rose 2018, so data are not presented here.

#### Intervention versus active comparator

In this comparison, we used water-based exercises versus landbased exercises for the McNamara 2013b study (30 participants).

# Quality of life (primary outcome)

# CRQ domains (dyspnoea, fatigue, emotion, mastery)

One study reported results from the four domains of the CRQ (McNamara 2013b). Water-based exercise training may result in little to no difference in the dyspnoea domain, compared with land-based exercise training (MD 1.70, 95% CI –0.65 to 4.05; 1 study, 38 participants, Analysis 2.1), emotion domain (MD 2.90, 95% CI –0.10 to 5.90), and the mastery domain (MD 1.10, 95% CI –0.90 to 3.10). A possible small difference in the fatigue domain was reported (MD 3.10, 95% CI 0.80 to 5.40).

# Exacerbations (primary outcome)

None of the studies reported on exacerbations.

#### Functional status (secondary outcome)

One rehabilitation study reported 6MWD, ISWT and ESWT as change from baseline to eight weeks (McNamara 2013b).

#### 6MWD

One study reported the 6MWD as change from baseline (McNamara 2013b). The evidence is very uncertain about the effect of water-based exercise compared with land-based exercise. The interventions may result in little to no difference in 6MWD (MD 5.00 meters, 95% CI –22.21 to 32.21; very low-certainty evidence, Analysis 2.2; Summary of findings 2).

#### ESWT

McNamara 2013b reported ESWT as change from baseline within group. McNamara 2013b indicated a potentially large difference favouring water-based exercise, but there is a wide confidence interval around the effect estimate, including the possibility of no effect (MD 2.04 meters, 95% CI –7.16 to 415.16; Analysis 2.3).

#### ISWT

McNamara 2013b reported ISWT as change from baseline within the group. The results favoured water-based exercise compared to land-based exercise and the confidence interval is wide (MD 36.00, 95% Cl 1.46 to 70.54; Analysis 2.4).

#### All-cause hospital admissions (secondary outcome)

None of the studies reported on hospitalisations.

#### Respiratory hospital admissions (secondary outcome)

None of the studies reported on hospitalisations.

# Mortality – all-cause (secondary outcome)

None of the studies reported on mortality.

#### Pain (secondary outcome)

No studies reported this outcome.

# Anxiety (secondary outcome)

One study reported results from the HADS-anxiety questionnaire at eight weeks (McNamara 2013b). Water-based exercise may have little or no effect on anxiety compared to land-based exercise (Analysis 2.5). The number of cases of anxiety were not reported in the studies.

# Depression (secondary outcome)

One study reported results from the HADS-depression questionnaire at eight weeks (McNamara 2013b). Water-based exercise may have little or no effect on depression compared to land-based exercise (Analysis 2.6). The number of cases of depression was not reported in the studies.

# Effects of interventions - qualitative

One study (Middlemass 2017) reported qualitative data from interviews of a subset of participants (n = 21) in a telemonitoring trial (Walker 2018). We present the results, including quotes from participants and personnel and judgements from the trial authors from Middlemass 2017 in Table 6. Because there was only one

Tailored or adapted interventions for adults with chronic obstructive pulmonary disease and at least one other long-term condition: a mixed methods review (Review)



qualitative study, we were unable to draw out themes across several studies.

Some participants said they were able to accept their condition, aging and inevitable death. While some people expressed that the telemonitoring machine was a daily reminder of their condition and got them into negative thinking, others felt positive about their data being sent to their HCP, having the sense that people were looking after them from afar, and others reported that their friends and relatives were happy that their condition was being monitored. Some technical issues were identified by participants, including issues with WiFi, and some people would have liked to have seen the screen with the readings while they were using the machine. The results were sent straight to the HCP, and some participants would have liked access to their own data so they could monitor themselves and give themselves the confidence to do things when their health was better. Some people went to the GP more often after getting the health information technology (HIT) device, and others felt that they were going to the GP less often because they were able to "sort everything out". For quotes and author and systematic review interpretations see Table 6.

The certainty of thematic evidence identified from Middlemass 2017 was rated as very low, with some concerns about study methodology and relevance, and major concerns about coherence, adequacy of data and dissemination (Table 1; Summary of findings 3). As we only found one qualitative study, we were not able to synthesise findings and examine emerging common themes.

# Integration of qualitative and quantitative data

As we only identified one eligible qualitative study (Middlemass 2017), it was not possible to carry out an integrated synthesis of qualitative and quantitative data. This study has given us some insight into the barriers and facilitators to participating in the CHROMED telemonitoring intervention, as described above.

# DISCUSSION

# Summary of main results

Owing to a paucity of studies, as well as the diversity in the intervention type, comorbidities and reported outcome measures, we were unable to provide a robust synthesis of data. Instead the review pulls together the disparate data available for this population in a series of tables and forest plots. There is insufficient evidence from high-quality studies to clearly determine benefits of these interventions. The key take-home message from this review is the lack of data from RCTs on treatments for people living with comorbid COPD.

We planned to update a preliminary logic model that we developed in the protocol for this review (Janjua 2019), intended to explain how the interventions affected people with COPD. However, due to the paucity of the evidence, we were unable to update the logic model in collaboration with our COPD patient steering group.

# Overall completeness and applicability of evidence

This review aimed to look at trials involving people living with COPD and one or more comorbidities that investigated COPD interventions specifically tailored to the comorbidity. We were interested in the tailoring aspect of the interventions, but unfortunately were unable to locate many studies addressing this group. An alternative way of looking at people with COPD and comorbidities would be to search for trials aimed at treating people with COPD and a specific comorbidity, such as coronary heart disease. This may lead to more trials being included and perhaps this would be of more help to certain users (e.g. if the tailoring aspect is of less interest).

This review, or trials eligible for it, may not be the best way to consider the evidence for interventions for this population. Given the high prevalence of multimorbidity in this patient population (GOLD 2021; Hillas 2015), many, if not all, COPD trials include people with comorbidities. It might be better for RCTs to report individual patient data together with more information about the individual's comorbidities, which would allow for analysis of outcomes in trials based on an individual patient's health.

We took data from the last reported time point in the trials, so none of the data relate to the impact of trials after the intervention has finished.

We chose to exclude studies where the only comorbidity was depression, anxiety, or both. This may have meant that people with depression and anxiety are underrepresented in the review. The implications of this are discussed below.

None of the studies evaluated impact on pain. Pain is emerging as an important symptom to consider in people with COPD, and targeted rehabilitation interventions are often rationalised by the presence of pain - for example, exercises done with the support of water rather than on land, where impact can cause pain. Sixty-six per cent of older people with COPD live with pain compared to 25% of the general population, and pain is cited as a common reason for dropping out of pulmonary rehabilitation programmes (Harrison 2017).

We were surprised by the apparent lack of qualitative studies. However, our inclusion criteria for qualitative studies focused very specifically on participants who had taken part in a tailored intervention, and their experiences of it. A broader inclusion criterion of qualitative studies investigating the experiences of people living with comorbid COPD, their carers, and HCPs more generally may have yielded more studies, and given some important information on the challenges of living with comorbid COPD and what the most important issues are for patients, carers and healthcare professionals. This in turn may help to inform the design of future interventions and evidence syntheses.

# Certainty of the evidence

# Quantitative - intervention versus usual care

The certainty of evidence in this comparison ranged from very low to moderate (Summary of findings 1). SGRQ evidence was rated as low certainty due to imprecision (small sample size) and risk of bias due to lack of blinding. Evidence for the CAT total score was rated as moderate certainty for rehabilitation and multicomponent interventions, but low certainty for pharmacotherapy and organisation-of-care interventions. Exacerbations were rated as very low certainty, due to lack of blinding, as well as imprecision (confidence intervals crossing the line of no effect). Functional status as measured by the six-minute walk distance, was rated as low certainty due to imprecision (small sample size) and risk of bias (lack of blinding). Evidence for all-cause hospital admissions was rated as low certainty, regardless of the intervention, mainly due to

Tailored or adapted interventions for adults with chronic obstructive pulmonary disease and at least one other long-term condition: a mixed methods review (Review)

Cochrane Library

Trusted evidence. Informed decisions. Better health.

imprecision (small sample size) and risk of bias (lack of blinding). Both HADS-A and HADS-D were rated as very low to low, due to imprecision (confidence intervals crossing the line of no effect), and risk of bias (lack of blinding).

#### Quantitative - intervention versus active control

The certainty of evidence in this comparison ranged from very low to low (Summary of findings 2). Functional status, 6MWD, was rated as very low certainty due to imprecision (small sample size and a confidence interval crossing the line of no effect) and risk of bias (lack of blinding and attrition). HADS-A evidence was rated as low certainty due to imprecision (small sample size) and lack of blinding of participants and those providing the intervention. Similarly, evidence for HADS-D was rated as very low certainty due to imprecision (small sample size and a confidence interval crossing the line of no effect) and risk of bias (lack of blinding of participants and personnel).

# Qualitative

The certainty of the qualitative evidence was assessed as very low (Summary of findings 3). There were some concerns with methodological limitations for all outcomes because of the research design, recruitment strategy, and how the data were collected. Coherence and adequacy of data were of major concern as the evidence was based on one study, and we could not be certain of any issues about the qualitative data fitting the findings of the review. The relevance of the findings from the evidence was of some concern, because the study did not answer all aspects of the context specified in the review question.

#### Potential biases in the review process

This review was based on a published protocol (Janjua 2019). The terminology used to describe comorbidity and multimorbidity varies across studies and the terms are sometimes used synonymously (Smith 2016). We therefore included both terms and their variants in our search strategy and conducted a broad search across multiple databases. Despite this, it is possible that we could have missed relevant studies that did not describe the population with our included search terms. To try and mitigate this, we conducted supplementary forward-and-backward citation searches of our included studies.

This multimorbidity review is the first of its kind in Cochrane Airways. We wanted to conduct a review to explore multimorbid COPD, and there are a number of ways that this could have been done. Mindful of taking on too large a project for the time and money we had available, we decided to focus on interventions for COPD that were tailored to take account of the multimorbidity. We also decided to exclude populations where anxiety or depression were the sole comorbidity, and also because of potential overlap with other Cochrane Reviews on depression and anxiety in people with COPD. This decision may have been misguided, owing to the high prevalence of clinically relevant anxiety and depression in people with COPD – 40% compared to less than 10% in the general population (Atlantis 2013). Furthermore, as explained by Atlantis 2013 "Depression or anxiety comorbidity in patients with COPD predicts poor adherence to pulmonary rehabilitation and COPDrelated medication; decreased exercise capacity and health-related quality of life; lost productivity; and increased health resource use, functional disability, and risk of exacerbation and mortality." Furthermore, there is a complex relationship between smoking, COPD and depression and anxiety — smoking is a risk factor for COPD, and depression predicts smoking initiation and deceases physical activity (Atlantis 2013). This limitation may have meant we missed studies that provided COPD interventions tailored to take account of people's depression and anxiety that would benefit 40% of the COPD population. Furthermore, because of these exclusions is possible that the level of anxiety and depression in the study populations may be lower than in the general COPD population and therefore the scope for improvement in these outcomes may have decreased.

We decided not to contact the authors of included studies for further information. This was a pragmatic decision, as we felt that the future information requested would not ultimately allow us to draw a firmer conclusion, even if greater accuracy was achieved.

# Agreements and disagreements with other studies or reviews

A review by Kastner 2018 investigated interventions aimed at managing multiple chronic diseases in older people. They included studies of patients who had the same combination of chronic diseases, rather than studies where all the participants had an index condition with any comorbidity. The interventions were mainly co-ordinated care or health technology involving multiple components. They found that co-ordinated care interventions had the greatest potential for improving outcomes in older adults. They highlighted a general lack of evidence around interventions aimed at managing multimorbidity.

A Cochrane Review of interventions for people with multimorbidity in primary care or community settings (Smith 2016) included a mix of studies in which participants either had the same combination of chronic diseases or a broad range of conditions. The included interventions were mainly organisation of care, or self-management, and again involved multiple components. They found mixed evidence on the effectiveness of interventions, with no clear improvements seen in clinical outcomes, healthcare use, medication adherence, patient or healthcare professional behaviour or cost. However, they observed an improvement in mental health and functional outcomes.

The population included in this review differs from the above reviews, in that we included participants with an index condition (COPD) and one or more comorbidities. However, we found a similar paucity of evidence on interventions for managing patients with comorbidities. Because the number of included studies was small, it is difficult to draw direct comparisons between the efficacy of interventions in people with COPD and multimorbidity and those without multimorbidity. However limited evidence indicates the effects of pulmonary rehabilitation interventions were similar to or better than those seen in previous COPD trials.

# AUTHORS' CONCLUSIONS

#### **Implications for practice**

Owing to a paucity of eligible trials, as well as diversity in the intervention type, comorbidities and the outcome measures reported, we were unable to provide a robust synthesis of data. Rehabilitation or pharmacological management may improve quality of life, but evidence is based on single studies and should be interpreted with caution. We could not determine a benefit or

Tailored or adapted interventions for adults with chronic obstructive pulmonary disease and at least one other long-term condition: a mixed methods review (Review)



harm of interventions on other outcomes, including exacerbations. The key take-home message from this review and a potential area of investigation is the lack of data from RCTs on treatments for people living with COPD and comorbidities.

## Implications for research

Future COPD comorbidity studies should evaluate the impact of interventions on pain. Researchers should consider adding a qualitative element to their RCT, or running a qualitative study alongside it to help understand the experiences of care for people with complex chronic conditions which may not be captured by quantitative measurement tools that are often disease-specific. This information is important in understanding decision-making processes about acceptance and their ability to process the information provided. It can inform the delivery of the intervention and the individuals most likely to benefit. Qualitative studies should explore the experiences of participants, carers and HCPs who take part in trials of these interventions.

It is important that the inclusion criteria for COPD trials allow the participation of people with comorbidity, to ensure their results can be applied to people with COPD living with multiple long-term conditions. Trials should make full individual patient data (IPD) available so that the impact of interventions on outcomes in people with comorbid COPD can be assessed.

# ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

We thank Audrey Tan for help screening records and locating fulltext documents for included studies. Thanks to Doug Salzwedel for peer reviewing the search strategy. Thank you to the patient advisory group for raising this topic in discussion, and the steering group for the programme grant for continued advice and support. We thank Professor Jane Noyes (JN) from the Cochrane Qualitative and Implementation methods group for providing advice on how to present the evidence table and checking the GRADE CERQual assessment for the qualitative study included in the review.

We thank the following members of Cochrane Crowd for their help in assessing the search results via Cochrane's Screen4Me workflow: Anna Noel-Storr, Anna Resolver, Antonio Nicolás Salmerón Rubio, Azeem Ahmad, Chris Jones, David Santos, Deborah Jackson, Fazal Ghani, Igor Svintsitskyi, Hebatullah Abdulazeem, Karen Ma, Lyle Croyle, Marlon L. Bayot MPH RMT, Nicole Askin, Nicole Edworthy, Nikolaos Sideris, Nuno Fernandes, Priscilla Smith, Riccardo Guarise, Ricky Ravindra Fajar Adi Putra, Sadie Miller, Sharanbasappa Durg, Stefanie Rosumeck, Stella Maria O'Brien, Susanna Wisniewski, Svetlana Tymchenko, Sydney Roshan Rebello Rebello, Sze Wah Samuel Chan, Veincent Christian Pepito, Yuan Chi.

The authors and Airways editorial team are grateful to Tanja Effing (Australia), Evan Atlantis (Australia) and Sarah Hodgkinson (UK) for their peer review comments and to Sally Spencer and Rebecca Fortescue for editorial comments, and to Chris Cates and Lucy Goldsmith for data checking.

The Background and Methods sections of this review are based on a standard template used by Cochrane Airways.

This project was funded by the National Institute for Health Research Systematic Reviews Programme (project number 16/114/21). This project was also supported by the National Institute for Health Research (NIHR), via Cochrane Infrastructure funding to the Cochrane Airways Group. The views and opinions expressed therein are those of the authors and do not necessarily reflect those of the Health Research Systematic Reviews Programme, NIHR, NHS or the Department of Health and Social Care.

# REFERENCES

#### References to studies included in this review

#### Bernocchi 2018 {published data only}

Bernocchi P, Scalvini S, Galli T, Paneroni M, Baratti D, Turla O, et al. A multidisciplinary telehealth program in patients with combined chronic obstructive pulmonary disease and chronic heart failure: study protocol for a randomized controlled trial. *Trials* 2016;**17**(1):462.

\* Bernocchi P, Vitacca M, La Rovere MT, Volterrani M, Galli T, Baratti D, et al. Home-based telerehabilitation in older patients with chronic obstructive pulmonary disease and heart failure: a randomised controlled trial. *Age and Ageing* 2018;**47**(1):82-8.

Scalvini S, Bernocchi P, Baratti D, Gatti T, Paneroni M, La Rovere MT, et al. Multidisciplinary telehealth program for patients affected by chronic heart failure and chronic obstructive pulmonary disease. *European Journal of Heart Failure* 2016;**18**:94.

#### Budnevskiy 2015 {published data only}

\* Budnevskiy AV, Chernov AV, Isaeva YV, Yu Malysh E. Clinical efficacy of pulmonary rehabilitation program in patients with chronic obstructive pulmonary disease and metabolic syndrome. *Pulmonologiya* 2015;**25**(4):447-55.

Budnevsky AV, Isaeva YV, Malysh EY, Kozhevnikova SA. Pulmonary rehabilitation as an effective method for optimizing therapeutic and preventive measures in patients with chronic obstructive pulmonary disease concurrent with metabolic syndrome. *Terapevticheskii Arkhiv* 2016;**88**(8):25-9.

# EUCTR2010-021412-42-GB {published data only}

EUCTR2010-021412-42-GB. Prospective randomised controlled trial to investigate the effectiveness of inhalers for the relief of breathlessness in patients with lung cancer and COPD - Airway disease optimisation of pharmaco-therapy in lung cancer. www.who.int/trialsearch/Trial2.aspx? TrialID=EUCTR2010-021412-42-GB (first received 26 November 2010).

#### Gottlieb 2020 {published data only}

Gottlieb M, Marsaa K, Godtfredsen NS, Mellemgaard A. Prevalence and management of pulmonary comorbidity in patients with lung and head and neck cancer. *Acta Oncologica* 2015;**54**(5):767-71.

Gottlieb M, Marsaa K, Mellemgaard A, Godtfredsen NS. Management of concomitant COPD in patients with lung cancer. *European Respiratory Journal* 2018;**52**:PA2228.

\* Gottlieb M, Mellemgaard A, Marsaa K, Godtfredsen N. Optimizing COPD treatment in patients with lung- or head and neck cancer does not improve quality of life - a randomized, pilot, clinical trial. *European Clinical Respiratory Journal* 2020;**7**(1):1731277. [DOI: 10.1080/20018525.2020.1731277]

#### McNamara 2013b {published data only}

Mcnamara RJ, Alison JA, McKenzie DK, McKeough ZJ. Waterbased exercise improves exercise capacity in people with COPD with physical co-morbid conditions. *Respirology* 2010;**15**:A24. McNamara RJ, Alison JA, McKenzie DK, McKeough ZJ. Waterbased exercise in people with COPD with physical comorbid conditions: a randomised controlled trial. In: European Respiratory Society Annual Congress, Barcelona, Spain, September 18-22. 2010:181.

McNamara RJ, McKeough ZJ, McKenzie DK, Alison JA. Acceptability of the aquatic environment for exercise training by people with chronic obstructive pulmonary disease with physical comorbidities: additional results from a randomised controlled trial. *Physiotherapy* 2014;**101**(2):187-92.

\* McNamara RJ, McKeough ZJ, McKenzie DK, Alison JA. Water-based exercise in COPD with physical comorbidities: a randomised controlled trial. *European Respiratory Journal* 2013;**41**(6):1284-91.

#### Middlemass 2017 {published data only}

Middlemass JB, Vos J, Siriwardena AN. Perceptions on use of home telemonitoring in patients with long term conditions - concordance with the Health Information Technology Acceptance Model: a qualitative collective case study. *BMC Medical Informatics and Decision Making* 2017;**17**(1):89.

#### Rose 2018 {published data only}

NCT01648621. Program of integrated care for patients with chronic obstructive pulmonary disease and multiple comorbidities (PICCOPD+) [Program of integrated care for patients with chronic obstructive pulmonary disease and multiple comorbidities: a randomized controlled trial]. clinicaltrials.gov/ct2/show/NCT01648621 (first received 24 July 2012).

Rose L, Istanboulian L, Carriere L, Price A, Lee L, Rezaie S, et al. Program of integrated care for patients with chronic obstructive pulmonary disease and multiple comorbidities (PIC COPD+): a randomized controlled trial. *American Journal of Respiratory and Critical Care Medicine* 2017;**195**:A6739.

\* Rose L, Istanboulian L, Carriere L, Thomas A, Lee H-B, Rezaie S, et al. Program of integrated care for patients with chronic obstructive pulmonary disease and multiple comorbidities (PIC COPD+): a randomised controlled trial. *European Respiratory Journal* 2018;**51**(1):1701567.

#### Walker 2018 {published data only}

Pompilio P, Isetta V, Malinovschi A, Middlemass J, Munaro G, Dalmases M, et al. Clinical trials for elderly patients with multiple diseases (CHROMED): a pilot study. *European Respiratory Journal* 2014;**44**:P971.

Pompilio P, Zanaboni P, Bergmo T, Romcevic TG, Isetta V, Janson C, et al. Randomised controlled trial of telemonitoring with addition of daily forced oscillation in older people with COPD and co-morbidity. *European Respiratory Journal* 2016;**48**:OA3519.

\* Walker PP, Pompilio PP, Zanaboni P, Bergmo TS, Prikk K, Malinovschi A, et al. Telemonitoring in chronic obstructive pulmonary disease (CHROMED). A randomized clinical trial.

Tailored or adapted interventions for adults with chronic obstructive pulmonary disease and at least one other long-term condition: a mixed methods review (Review)



American Journal of Respiratory and Critical Care Medicine 2018;**198**(5):620-8.

# References to studies excluded from this review

#### ACTRN12608000348358 {published data only}

ACTRN12608000348358. The effect of continuous positive airway pressure treatment on markers of systemic inflammation, pulmonary function and respiratory-related quality of life, in patients with combined chronic obstructive pulmonary disease and obstructive sleep apnea, a parallel group randomized trial. www.who.int/trialsearch/Trial2.aspx? TrialID=ACTRN12608000348358 (first received 23 July 2008).

# ACTRN12613000187741 {published data only}

ACTRN12613000187741. Telehealth remote monitoring for people with multiple chronic conditions [Utilising telehealth remote monitoring for individuals with multiple chronic illnesses to reduce hospital admissions and improve selfmanagement behaviours]. ANZCTR www.anzctr.org.au (first received 15 February 2013).

# ACTRN12614001186640 {published data only}

ACTRN12614001186640. Multimorbidity rehabilitation in chronic disease: disease-specific compared to generic rehabilitation [What is the effect of a generic compared to a disease-specific outpatient exercise rehabilitation program on functional exercise tolerance in people with multimorbidity eligible for disease-specific rehabilitation: a pilot parallel randomized controlled trial]. www.who.int/trialsearch/ Trial2.aspx?TrialID=ACTRN12614001186640 (first received 12 November 2014).

#### ACTRN12614001187639 {published data only}

ACTRN12614001187639. Multimorbidity rehabilitation in chronic disease: general rehabilitation compared to usual care. www.who.int/trialsearch/Trial2.aspx? TrialID=ACTRN12614001187639 (first received 12 November 2014).

#### ACTRN12616000607471 {published data only}

ACTRN12616000607471. Evaluation of the effectiveness of a mindfulness-based change in cognitive state in reducing effects of chronic uncontrolled reversible disases [Evaluation of the effectiveness of a mindfulness-based program (MB-SMART) in reducing autonomic stress response in subjects with chronic uncontrolled reversible diseases. Short title: Self-managed autonomic regulation therapy for chronic uncontrolled reversible diseases. SMART-CURE]. www.who.int/trialsearch/Trial2.aspx?TrialID=ACTRN12616000607471 (first received 10 May 2016).

#### ACTRN12617001285347 {published data only}

ACTRN12617001285347. A randomized controlled trial to determine the efficacy of Perx, an iPhone application for promoting medication adherence. www.who.int/trialsearch/ Trial2.aspx?TrialID=ACTRN12617001285347 (first received 6 September 2017).

#### Ageev 2010 {published data only}

Ageev FT, Makarova GV, Patrusheva IF, Orlova IaA. The efficacy and safety of the combination of -blocker bisoprolol and if inhibitor I(f) ivabradine in patients with stable angina and chronic obstructive pulmonary disease. *Kardiologiia* 2010;**50**(10):22-6.

## Aisanov 2004 {published data only}

Aisanov ZR, Kalamanova EN, Chuchalin AG. Chronic obstructive pulmonary disease in combination with cardiovascular diseases: treatment with inhalatory cholinolytic drugs. *Terapevticheskii Arkhiv* 2004;**76**(12):81-2.

# Ali 2018 {published data only}

Ali L, Fors AF, Ekman I. Belief in medication among people with chronic obstructive pulmonary disease and/or chronic heart failure. *European Journal of Cardiovascular Nursing* 2018;**17**(1):21-2.

#### Andell 2019 {published data only}

Andell P, James SK, Ostlund O, Yndigegn T, Sparv D, Pernow J, et al. Oxygen therapy in suspected acute myocardial infarction and concurrent chronic obstructive pulmonary disease: a prespecified subgroup analysis from the DETO2X-AMI trial. *European Heart Journal* 2019;**40**(Suppl 1):1288. [DOI: 10.1093/ eurheartj/ehz748.0113]

#### Ansari 2013 {published data only}

Ansari S, Hosseinzadeh H, Dennis S, Zwar N. Diagnosis of COPD in the face of multimorbidity, patients' perspectives. *Respirology* 2013;**18**:77.

Ansari S, Hosseinzadeh H, Dennis S, Zwar N. Impact of COPD diagnosis in the face of multi-morbidity: patients' perspectives. *European Respiratory Journal* 2014;**44**(Suppl 58):P1452.

Ansari S, Hosseinzadeh H, Dennis S, Zwar N. Patients' perspectives on the impact of a new COPD diagnosis in the face of multimorbidity: a qualitative study. *NPJ Primary Care Respiratory Medicine* 2014;**24**:14036. [DOI: 10.1038/ npjpcrm.2014.36]

#### **Apps 2017** {*published data only*}

Apps LD, Harrison SL, Mitchell KE, Williams JE, Hudson N, Singh SJ. A qualitative study of patients' experiences of participating in SPACE for COPD: a self-management programme of activity, coping and education. *ERJ Open Research* 2017;**3**(4):00017-2017. [DOI: 10.1183/23120541.00017-2017]

# Ashton 2017 {published data only}

Ashton C, Duffie D, Millar J. Conserving quality of life through community paramedics. *Healthcare Quarterly* 2017;**20**(2):48-53.

#### Barker 2018 {published data only}

Barker K, Holland AE, Lee AL, Haines T, Ritchie K, Boote C, et al. Multimorbidity rehabilitation versus disease-specific rehabilitation in people with chronic diseases: a pilot randomized controlled trial. *Pilot and Feasibility Studies* 2018;**4**(1):181. [DOI: 10.1186/s40814-018-0369-2]



# Barua 2012 {published data only}

Barua A, Ghosh MK, Kar N, Basilio MA. Chronic co-morbidities associated with depression in elderly. *Annals of Tropical Medicine and Public Health* 2012;**5**(2):145-8.

#### Bayliss 2016 {published data only}

Bayliss EA, McQuillan DB, Ellis JL, Maciejewski ML, Zeng C, Barton MB, et al. Using electronic health record data to measure care quality for individuals with multiple chronic medical conditions. *Journal of the American Geriatrics Society* 2016;**64**(9):1839-44.

# Benzo 2011 {published data only}

Benzo R, Wigle D, Novotny P, Wetzstein M, Nichols F, Shen RK, et al. Preoperative pulmonary rehabilitation before lung cancer resection: results from two randomized studies. *Lung Cancer* 2011;**74**(3):441-5.

# Bingol 2005 {published data only}

Bingol H, Cingoz F, Balkan A, Kilic S, Bolcal C, Demirkilic U, et al. The effect of oral prednisolone with chronic obstructive pulmonary disease undergoing coronary artery bypass surgery. *Journal of Cardiac Surgery* 2005;**20**(3):252-6.

# Blanck 2018 {published data only}

Blanck E, Fors A, Ali L, Brannstrom M, Ekman I. Being support for patients with chronic heart failure and/or chronic obstructive pulmonary disease-the relatives perspective. *European Journal of Cardiovascular Nursing* 2018;**17**(Suppl 1):98-9.

#### Boeckxstaens 2012 {published data only}

Boeckxstaens P, Deregt M, Vandesype P, Willems S, Brusselle G, De Sutter A. Chronic obstructive pulmonary disease and comorbidities through the eyes of the patient. *Chronic Respiratory Disease* 2012;**9**(3):183-91. [DOI: 10.1177/1479972312452436]

#### Boeckxstaens 2016 {published data only}

Boeckxstaens P, Willems S, Lanssens M, Decuypere C, Brusselle G, Kuhlein T, et al. A qualitative interpretation of challenges associated with helping patients with multiple chronic diseases identify their goals. *Journal of Comorbidity* 2016;**6**(2):120-6. [DOI: 10.15256/joc.2016.6.64]

## BohingamuMudiyanselage 2018 {published data only}

Bohingamu Mudiyanselage S, Stevens J, Watts JJ, Toscano J, Kotowicz MA, Steinfort CL, et al. Personalised telehealth intervention for chronic disease management: a pilot randomised controlled trial. *Journal of Telemedicine and Telecare* 2019;**25**(6):343–52. [DOI: doi.org/10.1177/1357633X18775850]

# Bolieva 2014 {published data only}

Bolieva L, Gavins F, Daurova M. Telmisartan plus amlodipine combination for the management of hypertensive patients with chronic obstructive pulmonary disease. *Basic and Clinical Pharmacology and Toxicology* 2014;**115**:46.

#### Bond 2015 {published data only}

Bond CS, Worswick L. Self management and telehealth: lessons learnt from the evaluation of a Dorset telehealth program. *The Patient: Patient-Centered Outcomes Research* 2015;**8**(4):311-6.

#### Bower 2012 {published data only}

Bower P, Kennedy A, Reeves D, Rogers A, Blakeman T, Chew-Graham C, et al. A cluster randomised controlled trial of the clinical and cost-effectiveness of a 'whole systems' model of self-management support for the management of long- term conditions in primary care: trial protocol. *Implementation Science* 2012;**7**(1):7.

#### Brien 2016 {published data only}

Brien SB, Lewith GT, Thomas M. Patient coping strategies in COPD across disease severity and quality of life: a qualitative study. *NPJ Primary Care Respiratory Medicine* 2016;**26**:16051. [DOI: 10.1038/npjpcrm.2016.51]

#### Brusselle 2016 {published data only}

Brusselle G. Vilanterol fluticasone and mortality in comorbid COPD GOLD B. *Lancet* 2016;**387**(10030):1791-2.

## Bubnova 2016 {published data only}

Bubnova M, Aronov D, Sulim U, Vygodin V. Effects of combination of angiotensin II receptor antagonist with calcium antagonist in hypertensive patients with coronary heart disease and chronic obstructive pulmonary disease. *Journal of Hypertension* 2016;**34**:e195. [DOI: 10.1097/01.hjh.0000491888.17265.f0]

#### Burgess 2013 {published data only}

Burgess T, Young M, Crawford GB, Brooksbank MA, Brown M. Best-practice care for people with advanced chronic obstructive pulmonary disease: the potential role of a chronic obstructive pulmonary disease care co-ordinator. *Australian Health Review* 2013;**37**(4):474-81.

#### Butorov 1999 {published data only}

Butorov IV, Vatulin VN, Bodrug NI, Fudulei RF, Matkovskii SK, Butorova VG. Efficiency of ramipril treatment in patients with chronic obstructive bronchitis complicated by chronic cor pulmonale. *Problemy Tuberkuleza* 1999;**6**:42-4.

## Camsari 2003 {published data only}

Camsari A, Arikan S, Avan C, Kaya D, Pekdemir H, Cicek D, et al. Metoprolol, a beta-1 selective blocker, can be used safely in coronary artery disease patients with chronic obstructive pulmonary disease. *Heart and Vessels* 2003;**18**(4):188-92.

# Carlin 2018 {published data only}

Carlin B, Ferguson GT, Sanjar S, Sharma S, OzolGodfrey A, Goodin T. Effect of metabolic syndrome status on lung function and patient-reported outcomes in patients with chronic obstructive pulmonary disease (COPD) receiving indacaterol/ glycopyrrolate: co-morbidity analysis of the phase 3 flight1 and 2 studies. *Circulation* 2018;**138**:A14734.

#### Cazzola 1998 {published data only}

Cazzola M, Imperatore F, Salzillo A, Di Perna F, Calderaro F, Imperatore A, et al. Cardiac effects of formoterol and salmeterol in patients suffering from COPD with preexisting cardiac arrhythmias and hypoxemia. *Chest* 1998;**114**(2):411-5.

# Cejudo 2014 {published data only}

Cejudo P, Lopez-Marquez I, Lapez-Campos JL, Marquez E, De la Vega F, Barrot E, et al. Exercise training in patients with chronic respiratory failure due to kyphoscoliosis: a randomized controlled trial. *Respiratory Care* 2014;**59**(3):375-82.

## Centanni 1997 {published data only}

Centanni S, Pregliasco F, Bonfatti C, Mensi C, Tarsia P, Guarnieri R, et al. Clinical efficacy of a vaccineimmunostimulant combination in the prevention of influenza in patients with chronic obstructive pulmonary disease and chronic asthma. *Journal of Chemotherapy* 1997;**9**(4):273-8.

# Centanni 2002 {published data only}

Centanni S, Santus P, Casanova F, Carlucci P, Boveri B, Castagna F, et al. Bronchodilating effect of oxitropium bromide in heart disease patients with exacerbations of COPD: doubleblind, randomized, controlled study. *Respiratory Medicine* 2002;**96**(3):137-41.

# Chang 2016 {published data only}

Chang Y-Y, Dai Y-T, Chien N-H, Chan H-Y. The lived experiences of people with chronic obstructive pulmonary disease: a phenomenological study. *Journal of Nursing Scholarship* 2016;**48**:466-71.

#### Chaplin 2018 {published data only}

Chaplin K, Bower P, Man M-S, Brookes ST, Gaunt D, Guthrie B, et al. Understanding usual care for patients with multimorbidity: baseline data from a cluster-randomised trial of the 3D intervention in primary care. *BMJ Open* 2018;**8**(8):e019845. [DOI: 10.1136/bmjopen-2017-019845]

# Charbek 2018 {published data only}

Charbek E, Espiritu JR, Nayak R, Morley JE. Frailty, comorbidity, and COPD. *Journal of Nutrition, Health and Aging* 2018;**8**:876-9. [DOI: 10.1007/s12603-018-1068-7]

# Chen 2008 {published data only}

Chen KH, Chen ML, Lee S, Cho HY, Weng LC. Self-management behaviours for patients with chronic obstructive pulmonary disease: a qualitative study. *Journal of Advanced Nursing* 2008;**64**(6):595-604.

# **Chen 2016** {*published data only*}

Chen K-H, Liu C-Y, Shyu Y-IL, Yeh S-L. Living with chronic obstructive pulmonary disease: the process of selfmanaging chronic obstructive pulmonary disease. *Journal* of Nursing Research 2016;**24**(3):262-71. [DOI: 10.1097/ jnr.000000000000152]

# ChiCTR1800016955 {published data only}

ChiCTR1800016955. A multicenter study for a monomer drug derived from traditional Chinese medicine in the treatment of chronic obstructive pulmonary disease and its complications. www.who.int/trialsearch/Trial2.aspx? TrialID=ChiCTR1800016955 (first received 27 September 2018).

#### ChiCTR INR 17012648 {published data only}

ChiCTR-INR-17012648. A pilot, multi-center, open-label, parallel group study to assess the effects of a novel application of non-invasive positive pressure ventilation (NPPV) therapy for COPD patients with comorbid sleep-disordered breathing. www.who.int/trialsearch/Trial2.aspx?TrialID=ChiCTR-INR-17012648 (first received 12 September 2017).

# ChiCTR IOR 16007768 {published data only}

ChiCTR-IOR-16007768. The characteristics of the Capital-Clinical study of Guben quyu jiedu capsule for chronic obstructive pulmonary disease and sleep apnea. www.who.int/trialsearch/ Trial2.aspx?TrialID=ChiCTR-IOR-16007768 (first received 23 June 2016).

#### ChiCTR TRC 12002559 {published data only}

ChiCTR-TRC-12002559. The effects of a transitional care programme on patients with chronic diseases at high risk for readmission: a randomized controlled trial. www.who.int/ trialsearch/Trial2.aspx?TrialID=ChiCTR-TRC-12002559 (first received 29 October 2012).

# ChiCTR TRC 12002889 {published data only}

ChiCTR-TRC-12002889. Effect and safety of Shenmai injection in the treatment of chronic obstructive pulmonary disease complicated with chronic pulmonary heart disease (both Qi and Yin deficiency): a multicenter, randomized, blinding, controlled trial. www.who.int/trialsearch/Trial2.aspx?TrialID=ChiCTR-TRC-12002889 (first received 29 December 2012).

#### Cittee 2015 {published data only}

Cittee J, Sauteron B, Brossier S, Ferrat E, Attali C, Chouaid C, et al. COPD patient care pathways: points of view of hospital personnel. *Sante Publique* 2015;**27**(Suppl 1):S177-87.

#### Cochrane 2016 {published data only}

Cochrane B, Foster J, Boyd R, Atlantis E. Implementation challenges in delivering team-based care ('TEAMcare') for patients with chronic obstructive pulmonary disease in a public hospital setting: a mixed methods approach. *BMC Health Services Research* 2016;**16**(a):347.

#### Cornford 2000 {published data only}

Cornford CS. Lay beliefs of patients using domiciliary oxygen: a qualitative study from general practice. *British Journal of General Practice* 2000;**50**(459):791-3.

#### Coventry 2014a {published data only}

Coventry PA, Fisher L, Kenning C, Bee P, Bower P. Capacity, responsibility, and motivation: a critical qualitative evaluation of patient and practitioner views about barriers to self-management in people with multimorbidity. *BMC Health Services Research* 2014;**14**:536. [DOI: 10.1186/s12913-014-0536-y]

#### Coventry 2014b {published data only}

Coventry PA, Dickens C, Todd C. How does mental-physical multimorbidity express itself in lived time and space? A phenomenological analysis of encounters with depression and chronic physical illness. *Social Science and Medicine* 2014;**118**:108-18.
## Cowie 2009 {published data only}

Cowie L, Morgan M, White P, Gulliford M. Experience of continuity of care of patients with multiple long-term conditions in England. *Journal of Health Services and Research Policy* 2009;**14**(2):82-7.

## CTRI/2012/12/003223 {published data only}

CTRI/2012/12/003223. Effect of rosuvastatin in patients of chronic obstructive airway disease and pulmonary hypertension. www.who.int/trialsearch/Trial2.aspx? TrialID=CTRI/2012/12/003223 (first received 1 October 2012).

## Curry 2006 {published data only}

Curry R. Vision to reality: using patients' voices to develop and improve services. *British Journal of Community Nursing* 2006;**11**(10):438-45.

## Dahlberg 1992 {published data only}

Dahlberg U, Brundin A, Ekstrom T, Nystrom-Kronander U. Safer diagnosis and better follow up with care programs for patients with asthma and chronic lung diseases. *Lakartidningen* 1992;**89**(32):2579-80.

## Davis 2016 {published data only}

Davis R, Lipschitz R. Coordinating complex care-a high-risk residency clinic. In: 39th Annual Meeting of the Society of General Internal Medicine (SGIM); 2016 May 11-14; Hollywood. Vol. American Thoracic Society International Conference; 2008 May 16-21; Toronto. 2016:S871-2.

## Davisson 2018 {published data only}

Davisson EA, Swanson EA. Patient and nurse experiences in a rural chronic disease management program: a qualitative evaluation. *Professional Case Management* 2018;**23**(1):10-8. [DOI: 10.1097/NCM.0000000000244]

## Dennis 2017 {published data only}

Dennis S, Reddel HK, Middleton S, Hasan I, Hermiz O, Phillips R, et al. Barriers and outcomes of an evidence-based approach to diagnosis and management of chronic obstructive pulmonary disease (COPD) in Australia: a qualitative study. *Family Practice* 2017;**34**(4):485-90.

## Desveaux 2017 {published data only}

Desveaux L, Harrison S, Lee A, Mathur S, Goldstein R, Brooks D. "We are all there for the same purpose": support for an integrated community exercise program for older adults with HF and COPD. *Heart and Lung: The Journal of Acute and Critical Care* 2017;**46**(4):308-12.

## Dibao-Dina 2018 {published data only}

Dibao-Dina C, Taylor S, Pinnock H, Steed E, Saqi-Waseem S, Kelly M. TANDEM (Tailored intervention for anxiety and depression management in COPD) trial: qualitative interviews with health care professionals from the pilot phase. *European Respiratory Journal* 2018;**52**(Suppl 62):PA923. [DOI: 10.1183/13993003.congress-2018.PA923]

## Disler 2015 {published data only}

Disler RT, Inglis SC, Newton PJ, Currow DC, Macdonald P, Glanville AR, et al. Perspectives of online health information and support in chronic disease respiratory disease: focus group study. *American Journal of Respiratory and Critical Care Medicine* 2015;**191**:A1386.

Disler RT, Spiliopoulos N, Inglis SC, Currow DC, Davidson PM. Attitudes to cognitive impairment and testing in patients with chronic obstructive pulmonary disease: focus group study. *American Journal of Respiratory and Critical Care Medicine* 2015;**191**(MeetingAbstracts):A5291.

## Disler 2019 {published data only}

Disler RT, Spiliopoulos N, Inglis SC, Currow DC, Davidson PM. Cognitive screening in chronic obstructive pulmonary disease: patient's perspectives. *Disability and Rehabilitation* 2019;**42**(9):1233-9. [DOI: 10.1080/09638288.2018.1519046]

## Doos 2015 {published data only}

Doos L, Bradley E, Rushton CA, Satchithananda D, Davies SJ, Kadam UT. Heart failure and chronic obstructive pulmonary disease multimorbidity at hospital discharge transition: a study of patient and carer experience. *Health Expectations* 2015;**18**(6):2401-12. [DOI: 10.1111/hex.12208]

## Dorenkamp 2015 {published data only}

Dorenkamp S, Mesters I, Teijink J, De Bie R. Comorbidities force physiotherapists to deviate from guidelines: a vignette study. In: 8th European Congress of Epidemiology; 2015 June 25-27; Maastricht. 2015:926.

Dorenkamp S, Mesters I, Teijink J, De Bie R. Comorbidity forces physiotherapists to deviate from guidelines: a vignette study. In: American Congress of Rehabilitation Medicine Conference; 2015 Oct 25-30; Dallas. 2015:e58.

## DRKS00000476 2010 {published data only}

DRKS00000476. Experiences of crises in patients with advanced chronic obstructive pulmonary disease (COPD) or lung cancer and their carers - a qualitative interview study. www.drks.de/ DRKS00000476 (first received 18 August 2010).

## DRKS00000584 {published data only}

DRKS00000584. Evaluation of a telephone based health coaching in chronic diseases. www.who.int/trialsearch/ Trial2.aspx?TrialID=DRKS00000584 (first received 23 March 2011).

## DRKS00005602 {published data only}

DRKS00005602. Effects of telephone-based health coaching for patients with chronic conditions. www.who.int/trialsearch/ Trial2.aspx?TrialID=DRKS00005602 (first received 4 October 2013).

## **Ellison 2012** {*published data only*}

Ellison L, Gask L, Bakerly ND, Roberts J. Meeting the mental health needs of people with chronic obstructive pulmonary disease: a qualitative study. *Chronic Illness* 2012;**8**(4):308-20.

# Elwyn 2012 {published data only}

Elwyn G, Hardisty AR, Peirce SC, May C, Evans R, Robinson DK, et al. Detecting deterioration in patients with chronic disease using telemonitoring: navigating the 'trough of disillusionment'. *Journal of Evaluation in Clinical Practice* 2012;**18**(4):896-903.

Tailored or adapted interventions for adults with chronic obstructive pulmonary disease and at least one other long-term condition: a mixed methods review (Review)

Copyright  ${\ensuremath{\mathbb C}}$  2021 The Cochrane Collaboration. Published by John Wiley & Sons, Ltd.

## Essue 2010 {published data only}

Essue BM, Jowsey T, Jeon YH, Mirzaei M, Pearce-Brown CL, Aspin C, et al. Informal care and the self-management partnership: implications for Australian health policy and practice. *Australian Health Review* 2010;**34**(4):414-22.

## Etkind 2017 {published data only}

Etkind SN, Bristowe K, Bailey K, Selman LE, Murtagh FE. How does uncertainty shape patient experience in advanced illness? A secondary analysis of qualitative data. *Palliative Medicine* 2017;**31**(2):171-80. [DOI: 10.1177/0269216316647610]

## EUCTR2004 002216 28 BE {published data only}

EUCTR2004-002216-28-BE. A multi-center, multinational, randomized, double-blind, placebo-controlled, proof of concept trial to assess the effects of a subject-optimized dose of UK-369,003 Modified Release on exercise capacity in subjects with pulmonary hypertension associated with chronic obstructive pulmonary disease. www.who.int/trialsearch/ Trial2.aspx?TrialID=EUCTR2004-002216-28-BE (first received 13 January 2005).

## EUCTR2007 007725 46 BG {published data only}

EUCTR2007-007725-46-BG. A phase 2b, multicenter, randomized, double-blind, parallel, placebo-controlled study to evaluate the efficacy and safety of SUN11031 for injection administered subcutaneously twice daily for 12 weeks to subjects having cachexia associated with chronic obstructive pulmonary disease. www.who.int/trialsearch/Trial2.aspx? TrialID=EUCTR2007-007725-46-BG (first received 21 January 2008).

## EUCTR2010 018763 42 GB {published data only}

EUCTR2010-018763-42-GB. Do phosphodiesterase 5 inhibitors improve exercise capacity in COPD patients with pulmonary hypertension? - The 3P study. www.who.int/trialsearch/ Trial2.aspx?TrialID=EUCTR2010-018763-42-GB (first received 14 July 2010).

# EUCTR2010 020917 97 IT {published data only}

EUCTR2010-020917-97-IT. SPHERIC-1 (Sildenafil in the chronic obstructive pulmonary disease associated to chronic pulmonary hypertension. Sixteen weeks long, multicentre, randomized, double blind study, in comparison with placebo, for the evaluation of sildenafil in the treatment of patients affected by pulmonary hypertension associated to COPD. - SPHERIC-1. www.who.int/trialsearch/Trial2.aspx? TrialID=EUCTR2010-020917-97-IT (first received 23 June 2011).

## EUCTR2011 003310 17 ES {published data only}

EUCTR2011-003310-17-ES. Comparison of endurance time before and after treatment with inhaled lloprost in patients with elevated blood pressure in the lungs (pulmonary hypertension) secondary to chronic lung disease (chronic obstructive pulmonary disease). www.who.int/trialsearch/Trial2.aspx? TrialID=EUCTR2011-003310-17-ES (first received 23 November 2011).

## EUCTR2013 001312 30 IT {published data only}

EUCTR2013-001312-30-IT. Use of selective beta-blockers in elderly patients with lung and cardiac disease. www.who.int/

trialsearch/Trial2.aspx?TrialID=EUCTR2013-001312-30-IT (first received 15 September 2013).

## EUCTR2017 003551 32 DK {published data only}

EUCTR2017-003551-32-DK. Effects of Saxenda (R) on respiratory function in obese patients with chronic obstructive lung disease. www.who.int/trialsearch/Trial2.aspx? TrialID=EUCTR2017-003551-32-DK (first received 1 November 2017).

## Faul 2009 {published data only}

Faul JL, Wilson SR, Chu JW, Canfield J, Kuschner WG. The effect of an inhaled corticosteroid on glucose control in type 2 diabetes. *Clinical Medicine and Research* 2009;**7**(1):14-20.

## Fors 2018 {published data only}

Fors A, Blanck E, Ali L, Ekberg-Jansson A, Fu M, Lindstrom Kjellberg I, et al. Effects of a person-centred telephone-support in patients with chronic obstructive pulmonary disease and/or chronic heart failure - A randomized controlled trial. *PLOS One* 2018;**13**(8):e0203031.

## Freund 2011 {published data only}

Freund T, Peters-Klimm F, Rochon J, Mahler C, Gensichen J, Erler A, et al. Primary care practice-based care management for chronically ill patients (PraCMan): study protocol for a cluster randomized controlled trial. *Trials* 2011;**12**:163.

## Gale 2015 {published data only}

Gale NK, Jawad M, Dave C, Turner AM. Adapting to domiciliary non-invasive ventilation in chronic obstructive pulmonary disease: a qualitative interview study. *Palliative Medicine* 2015;**29**(3):268-77.

## Glasser 2016 {published data only}

Glasser I, Wang F, Reardon J, Vergara CD, Salvietti R, Acevedo M, et al. Improving COPD care in a medically underserved primary care clinic: a qualitative study of patient perspectives. *COPD: Journal of Chronic Obstructive Pulmonary Disease* 2016;**13**(5):616-21. [DOI: 10.3109/15412555.2015.1126570]

## GlaxoSmithKline 2005 {published data only}

GlaxoSmithKline. A multicentre randomised, double-blind, double-dummy, cross-over study to assess the safety and tolerability of salmeterol (50µg) via Diskus and formoterol (12µg and 24µg) via Turbohaler in co-morbid adults with mild to moderate chronic obstructive pulmonary disease and coronary heart disease. GlaxoSmithKline Clinical Trial Register (first received 26 March 2005).

## **Goodridge 2011** {published data only}

Goodridge D, Hutchinson S, Wilson D, Ross C. Living in a rural area with advanced chronic respiratory illness: a qualitative study. *Primary Care Respiratory Journal* 2011;**20**(1):54-8.

## Goodridge 2019 {published data only}

Goodridge D, Bandara T, Marciniuk D, Hutchinson S, Crossman L, Kachur B, et al. Promoting chronic disease management in persons with complex social needs: a qualitative descriptive study. *Chronic Respiratory Disease* 2019;**16**:1479973119832025.

Tailored or adapted interventions for adults with chronic obstructive pulmonary disease and at least one other long-term condition: a mixed methods review (Review)



## GorgasTorner 2012 {published data only}

Gorgas Torner MQ, Paez Vives F, Camos Ramio J, De Puig Cabrera E, Jolonch Santasusagna P, Homs Peipoch E, et al. Integrated pharmaceutical care programme in patients with chronic diseases. *Farmacia Hospitalaria* 2012;**36**(4):229-39.

## GrigorevaNIu 2013 {published data only}

Grigor'eva NIu, Kuznetsov AN, Koroleva TV, Koroleva ME. The combined drug ascoril in the treatment of patients with chronic obstructive pulmonary disease concurrent with coronary heart disease. *Terapevticheskii Arkhiv* 2013;**85**(8):91-4.

#### Grimsmo 2018 {published data only}

Grimsmo A, Løhre A, Røsstad T, Gjerde I, Heiberg I, Steinsbekk A. Disease-specific clinical pathways - are they feasible in primary care? A mixed-methods study. *Scandinavian Journal of Primary Health Care* 2018;**36**(2):152-60. [DOI: 10.1080/02813432.2018.1459167]

#### GSK115805 2012 {published data only}

GSK 115805. A 12-week study to evaluate the 24-hour pulmonary function profile of fluticasone furoate/vilanterol (FF/VI) inhalation powder 100/25mcg once-daily via a novel dry powder inhaler compared with tiotropium bromide inhalation powder 18mcg delivered once-daily via the HandiHaler in subjects with chronic obstructive pulmonary disease (COPD) who have or are at risk for co-morbid cardiovascular disease. gsk-clinicalstudyregister.com/files2/gsk-115805-clinical-studyreport-redact.pdf (first received 13 December 2012).

## Gurgun 2013 {published data only}

\* Gurgun A, Deniz S, Argan M, Karapolat H. Effects of nutritional supplementation combined with conventional pulmonary rehabilitation in muscle-wasted chronic obstructive pulmonary disease: a prospective, randomized and controlled study. *Respirology* 2013 Apr;**18**(3):495-500. [CENTRAL: CN-00853367] [EMBASE: 2013208473] [PMID: 23167516]

Gurgun A, Deniz S, Argin M, Karapolat H. The effects of nutritional supplementation added to pulmonary rehabilitation in muscle wasted chronic obstructive pulmonary disease: a randomised, controlled, prospective study. *American Journal of Respiratory and Critical Care Medicine* 2011;**183**:A3972.

Gurgun A, Deniz S, Argin M, Karapolat H. The effects of nutritional supplementation combined with conventional pulmonary rehabilitation in muscle wasted chronic obstructive pulmonary disease: a prospective, randomized, and controlled study. *Chest* 2013;**144**(4 Meeting Abstracts):832A. [CENTRAL: CN-00984094] [EMBASE: 71269927]

## Hannink 2011 {published data only}

Hannink JD, Van Hees HW, Dekhuijzen PN, Van Helvoort HA, Heijdra YF. Non-invasive ventilation modulates the inflammatory response to exercise in muscle-wasted COPD patients. *American Journal of Respiratory and Critical Care Medicine* 2011;**183**:A4582. [DOI: 10.1164/ajrccmconference.2011.183.1 MeetingAbstracts.A4582]

#### Hawkins 2009 {published data only}

Hawkins NM, Macdonald MR, Petrie MC, Chalmers GW, Carter R, Dunn FG, et al. Bisoprolol in patients with heart failure and moderate to severe chronic obstructive pulmonary disease: a randomized controlled trial. *European Journal of Heart Failure* 2009;**11**(7):684-90.

## Hawkins 2010 {published data only}

Hawkins NM, Wang D, Petrie MC, Pfeffer MA, Swedberg K, Granger CB, et al. Baseline characteristics and outcomes of patients with heart failure receiving bronchodilators in the CHARM programme. *European Journal of Heart Failure* 2010;**12**(6):557-65.

## Hesselink 2017 {published data only}

Hesselink G, Johnson J, Batalden P, Carlson M, Geense W, Groenewoud S, et al. 'Reframing Healthcare Services through the Lens of Co-Production' (RheLaunCh): a study protocol for a mixed methods evaluation of mechanisms by which healthcare and social services impact the health and well-being of patients with COPD and CHF in the USA and The Netherlands. *BMJ Open* 2017;**7**(9):e017292. [DOI: 10.1136/bmjopen-2017-017292]

## Hogg 2009 {published data only}

Hogg W, Lemelin J, Dahrouge S, Liddy C, Armstrong CD, Legault F, et al. Randomized controlled trial of anticipatory and preventive multidisciplinary team care: for complex patients in a community-based primary care setting. *Canadian Family Physician* 2009;**55**(12):e76-85.

#### Hohlfeld 2015 {published data only}

Hohlfeld JM, Furtwaengler A, Konen-Bergmann M, Wallenstein G, Walter B, Bateman ED. Cardiac safety of tiotropium in patients with COPD: a combined analysis of Holter-ECG data from four randomised clinical trials. *International Journal of Clinical Practice* 2015;**69**(1):72-80.

#### ISRCTN62025354 {published data only}

ISRCTN62025354. Minimal interventions to improve medication adherence in people with multiple long-term conditions (MINIMA) study. www.who.int/trialsearch/Trial2.aspx? TrialID=ISRCTN62025354 (first received 24 July 2014).

## Jabbour 2010 {published data only}

Jabbour A, Macdonald PS, Keogh AM, Kotlyar E, Mellemkjaer S, Coleman CF, et al. Differences between beta-blockers in patients with chronic heart failure and chronic obstructive pulmonary disease: a randomized crossover trial. *Journal of the American College of Cardiology* 2010;**55**(17):1780-7.

## Jensen Lise 2016 {published data only}

Jensen LK. Organisational assessment of three telehealth interventions in a European multicentre study: the United4Health project. *International Journal of Integrated Care* 2016;**16**(5 Suppl):1-2. [DOI: 10.5334/ijic.2575]

#### **Jerant 2008** {*published data only*}

Jerant A, Moore M, Lorig K, Franks P. Perceived control moderated the self-efficacy-enhancing effects of a chronic illness self-management intervention. *Chronic Illness* 2008;**4**(3):173-82.

Tailored or adapted interventions for adults with chronic obstructive pulmonary disease and at least one other long-term condition: a mixed methods review (Review)



## Johnson 2016 {published data only}

Johnson K, McEvoy CE, Naqvi S, Wendt C, Reilkoff RA, Kunisaki KM, et al. High-dose oral N-acetylcysteine fails to improve respiratory health status in patients with chronic obstructive pulmonary disease and chronic bronchitis: a randomized, placebo-controlled trial. *International Journal of Chronic Obstructive Pulmonary Disease* 2016;**11**(1):799-807.

#### Jones 2019 {published data only}

Jones AV, Evans RA, Esliger DW, Sherar LB, Singh SJ. Protocol for a feasibility trial to inform the development of a breathlessness rehabilitation programme for chronic obstructive pulmonary disease and chronic heart failure (the COHERE trial). *BMJ Open* 2019;**9**(7):e029387. [DOI: 10.1136/bmjopen-2019-029387]

## Jowsey 2009 {published data only}

Jowsey T, Jeon YH, Dugdale P, Glasgow NJ, Kljakovic M, Usherwood T. Challenges for co-morbid chronic illness care and policy in Australia: a qualitative study. *Australia and New Zealand Health Policy* 2009;**6**:22. [DOI: 10.1186/1743-8462-6-22]

#### Jowsey 2014 {published data only}

Jowsey T, Pearce-Brown C, Douglas KA, Yen L. What motivates Australian health service users with chronic illness to engage in self-management behaviour? *Health Expectations* 2014;**17**(2):267-77.

#### Juanes 2018 {published data only}

Juanes A, Garin N, Mangues MA, Herrera S, Puig M, Faus MJ, et al. Impact of a pharmaceutical care programme for patients with chronic disease initiated at the emergency department on drug-related negative outcomes: a randomised controlled trial. *European Journal of Hospital Pharmacy* 2018;**25**(5):274-80.

#### Kaimakamis 2019 {published data only}

Kaimakamis E, Perantoni E, Serasli E, Kilintzis V, Chouvarda I, Cheimariotis GA, et al. Applying translational medicine by using the WELCOME remote monitoring system on patients with COPD and comorbidities. In: 2019 IEEE EMBS International conference on biomedical & health informatics; 2019 May 19-22; Chicago. 2019. [DOI: 10.1109/BHI.2019.8834464]

#### Kapella 2011 {published data only}

Kapella MC, Herdegen JJ, Perlis ML, Shaver JL, Larson JL, Law JA, et al. Cognitive behavioral therapy for insomnia comorbid with COPD is feasible with preliminary evidence of positive sleep and fatigue effects. *International Journal of COPD* 2011;**6**(1):625-35.

## Kapella 2016 {published data only}

Kapella MC, Herdegen JJ, Laghi F, Steffen AD, Carley DW. Efficacy and mechanisms of behavioral therapy components for insomnia coexisting with chronic obstructive pulmonary disease: study protocol for a randomized controlled trial. *Trials* 2016;**17**(1):258. [DOI: 10.1186/s13063-016-1334-0]

## Kaptein 1993 {published data only}

Kaptein AA, Brand PL, Dekker FW, Kerstjens HA, Postma DS, Sluiter HJ. Quality-of-life in a long-term multicentre trial in chronic nonspecific lung disease: assessment at baseline. *European Respiratory Journal* 1993;**6**(10):1479-84.

#### Kayyali 2014 {published data only}

Kayyali R, Odeh B, Frerichs I, Davies N, Perantoni E, D'Arcy S, et al. Exploring COPD care pathway in different EU countries. *European Respiratory Journal* 2014;**44**(Suppl 58):P4739.

## Kayyali 2016 {published data only}

Kayyali R, Savickas V, Spruit MA, Kaimakamis E, Siva R, Costello RW, et al. Qualitative investigation into a wearable system for chronic obstructive pulmonary disease: the stakeholders' perspective. *BMJ Open* 2016;**6**(8):e011657. [DOI: 10.1136/bmjopen-2016-011657]

Kayyali R, Siva R, Kaimakamis E, Spruit MA, Vaes A, Chang J, et al. Wearable smart technology for monitoring COPD with co-morbidities - Patients' perceptions. *European Respiratory Journal* 2015;**46**(Suppl 59):OA3278.

Nabhani S, Siva R, Kayyali R, Yagambrun C, Robinson P, Spruit M, et al. The use of wearables for COPD patients: a qualitative study. *Thorax* 2016;**70**(Suppl 3):A236-7.

#### Kayyali 2016a {published data only}

Kayyali R, Odeh B, Frerichs I, Davies N, Perantoni E, D'arcy S, et al. COPD care delivery pathways in five European Union countries: mapping and health care professionals' perceptions. *International Journal of COPD* 2016;**11**:2831-8. [DOI: 10.2147/COPD.S104136]

#### Kenning 2013 {published data only}

Kenning C, Fisher L, Bee P, Bower P, Coventry P. Primary care practitioner and patient understanding of the concepts of multimorbidity and self-management: a qualitative study. *SAGE Open Medicine* 2013;**1**:2050312113510001. [DOI: 10.1177/2050312113510001]

#### Koul 2005 {published data only}

Koul PA. Managing chronic diseases: combination of inhaler treatment in India has shown good results. *BMJ* 2005;**330**(7497):964; discussion 964-5.

#### Koziolova 2015 {published data only}

Koziolova N, Kozlova E, Masalkina O. Influence of fixed combination of perindopril and amlodipine in arterial hypertension and COPD patients on chronic heart failure and respiratory function. *Journal of Hypertension* 2015;**33**:e319.

#### Krahnke 2015 {published data only}

Krahnke JS, Abraham WT, Adamson PB, Bourge RC, Bauman J, Ginn G, et al. Heart failure and respiratory hospitalizations are reduced in patients with heart failure and chronic obstructive pulmonary disease with the use of an implantable pulmonary artery pressure monitoring device. *Journal of Cardiac Failure* 2015;**21**(3):240-9.

#### Kucukcoskun 2013 {published data only}

Kucukcoskun M, Baser U, Oztekin G, Kiyan E, Yalcin F. Initial periodontal treatment for prevention of chronic obstructive pulmonary disease exacerbations. *Journal of Periodontology* 2013;**84**(7):863-70.

Tailored or adapted interventions for adults with chronic obstructive pulmonary disease and at least one other long-term condition: a mixed methods review (Review)



## Kukes 2003 {published data only}

Kukes VG, Ostroumova OD, Mamaev VI, Batutina AM, Abakumov IuE, Zykova AA. Efficacy and safety of different beta-blockers in patients with isolated systolic hypertension associated with diabetes mellitus and obstructive pulmonary diseases. *Terapevticheskii Arkhiv* 2003;**75**(8):43-7.

## Lainscak 2011 {published data only}

Lainscak M, Podbregar M, Kovacic D, Rozman J, Von Haehling S. Differences between bisoprolol and carvedilol in patients with chronic heart failure and chronic obstructive pulmonary disease: a randomized trial. *Respiratory Medicine* 2011;**105**:S44-9.

#### Lainscak 2013 {published data only}

Lainscak M, Tavazzi L, Swedberg K, Komajda M, Bohm M, Borer J, et al. Clinical profile, outcomes, and ivabradine effects in patients with chronic obstructive pulmonary disease and chronic heart failure: The SHIFT trial analysis. In: European Respiratory Society Annual Congress; 2013 Sept 7-11; Barcelona. Vol. 42. 2013:367s [P1860].

#### Lamothe 2006 {published data only}

Lamothe L, Fortin JP, Labbe F, Gagnon MP, Messikh D. Impacts of telehomecare on patients, providers, and organizations. *Telemedicine Journal and E-health* 2006;**12**(3):363-9.

#### Lang 2019 {published data only}

Lang C, Scheibe M, Voigt K, Hubsch G, Mocke L, Schmitt J, et al. Reasons for non-acceptance and non-use of a home telemonitoring application by multimorbid patients aged 65 years and over. *Zeitschrift fur Evidenz, Fortbildung und Qualitat im Gesundheitswesen* 2019;**141-142**:76-88. [DOI: 10.1016/ j.zefq.2019.02.009]

#### Lanning 2017 {published data only}

Lanning E, Roberts C, Green B, Brown T, Storrar W, Jones T, et al. Modern innovative solutions in improving outcomes in chronic obstructive pulmonary disease (MISSION COPD): a comparison of clinical outcomes before and after the MISSION clinic. *JMIR Research Protocols* 2017;**6**(6):e104. [DOI: 10.2196/resprot.6850]

#### Lanning 2019 {published data only}

Lanning E, Heiden E, Longstaff J, Fogg C, Brown T, Rupani H, et al. Modern innovative solutions to improve outcomes in asthma, breathlessness, and chronic obstructive pulmonary disease (MISSION ABC): protocol for a mixed-methods study. *JMIR Research Protocols* 2019;**8**(3):e9228. [DOI: 10.2196/ resprot.9228]

## Laue 2016 {published data only}

Laue J, Melbye H, Halvorsen PA, Andreeva EA, Godycki-Cwirko M, Wollny A, et al. How do general practitioners implement decision-making regarding COPD patients with exacerbations? An international focus group study. *International Journal of COPD* 2016;**11**:3109-19. [DOI: 10.2147/COPD.S118856]

## Lee 2015 {published data only}

Lee L, Heckman G, McKelvie R, Jong P, D'Elia T, Hillier LM. Physicians' perceptions of capacity building for managing chronic disease in seniors using integrated interprofessional care models. *Canadian Family Physician* 2015;**61**(3):E148-57.

#### Lemmens 2011 {published data only}

Lemmens KM, Rutten-Van Molken MP, Cramm JM, Huijsman R, Bal RA, Nieboer AP. Evaluation of a large scale implementation of disease management programmes in various Dutch regions: a study protocol. *BMC Health Services Research* 2011;**11**:6.

#### Lenferink 2016 {published data only}

Lenferink A, Van Der Palen J, Frith P, Van Der Valk P, Effing T. Differences in patient characteristics and associations with comorbid load in Dutch and Australian COPD patients. *European Respiratory Journal* 2016;**48**:PA3756. [DOI: 10.1183/13993003.congress-2016.PA3756]

#### Lenferink 2019 {published data only}

Lenferink A, Frith P, Van der Valk P, Buckman J, Sladek R, Cafarella P, et al. A self-management approach using selfinitiated action plans for symptoms with ongoing nurse support in patients with chronic obstructive pulmonary disease (COPD) and comorbidities: the COPE-III study protocol. *Contemporary Clinical Trials* 2013;**36**(1):81-9.

Lenferink A, Van Der Palen J, Frith P, Van Der Valk P, Effing T. Associations between comorbid load and baseline characteristics in COPD patients with comorbidities: preliminary results. *European Respiratory Journal* 2014;**44**:P4571.

Lenferink A, Van der Palen J, Van der Valk P, Cafarella P, Van Veen A, Quinn S, et al. Effects of self-management action plans for COPD patients with comorbidities on health status and selfefficacy. *European Respiratory Journal* 2017;**50**:PA3456.

Lenferink A, Van Der Palen J, Van Der Valk P, Cafarella P, Van Veen A, Quinn S, et al. Self-management action plans for patients with chronic obstructive pulmonary disease and comorbidities reduce exacerbation duration and respiratoryrelated hospitalisations - the COPE-III study. *American Journal of Respiratory and Critical Care Medicine* 2017;**195**:A7003.

\* Lenferink A, Van der Palen J, Van der Valk PD, Cafarella P, Van Veen A, Quinn S, et al. Exacerbation action plans for patients with COPD and comorbidities: a randomised controlled trial. *European Respiratory Journal* 2019;**54**(5):1802134.

#### Levine 2018 {published data only}

Levine DM, Burke KP, Paz M, Schnipper JL. Predictors and reasons why patients decline to participate in high tech and novel sites of care: a home hospital experience. *Journal of General Internal Medicine* 2018;**33**(2):304.

#### Lewis 2012 {published data only}

Lewis A, Bruton A, Donovan-Hall M. Chronic obstructive pulmonary disease (COPD) patient experiences of pulmonary rehabilitation (PR): a longitudinal qualitative UK study. *European Respiratory Journal* 2012;**40**(Suppl 56):P1168.

#### Liddy 2008 {published data only}

Liddy C, Dusseault JJ, Dahrouge S, Hogg W, Lemelin J, Humbert J, et al. Telehomecare for patients with multiple chronic illnesses: pilot study. Comment in: Can Fam Physician.

Tailored or adapted interventions for adults with chronic obstructive pulmonary disease and at least one other long-term condition: a mixed methods review (Review)



2008 Jan;54(1): 13; PMID: 18208941. *Canadian Family Physician* 2008;**54**(1):58-65.

#### Lima 2016 {published data only}

Lima F, Altero G, Franco MC, Pinto R, Freire AP, Gomes P, et al. Factors influencing participation and adherence to a pulmonary rehabilitation program in patients with COPD: a qualitative study. *European Respiratory Journal* 2016;**48**(Suppl 60):PA1901.

#### Lin 1996 {published data only}

Lin M, Yang YF, Lee D, Chiang HT. Comparisons of long-term effects of lisinopril vs nifedipine vs conventional therapy in the treatment of mild-to-moderate hypertension in patients with chronic obstructive pulmonary disease. *Zhonghua yi xue za zhi* [*Chinese medical journal*] 1996;**57**(6):392-400.

## Lin 2017 {published data only}

Lin Y-H, Chii Jeng C, Tsai C-L. Effects of walking exercise and diaphragmatic training on improving reflux symptoms among COPD patients. *American Journal of Respiratory and Critical Care Medicine* 2017;**201**:A5690.

#### Lin 2019 {published data only}

Lin YH, Tsai CL, Tsao LI, Jeng C. Acute exacerbations of chronic obstructive pulmonary disease (COPD) experiences among COPD patients with comorbid gastrooesophageal reflux disease. *Journal of Clinical Nursing* 2019;**28**(9-10):1925-35.

## Man 2016 {published data only}

Man M-S, Chaplin K, Mann C, Bower P, Brookes S, Fitzpatrick B, et al. Improving the management of multimorbidity in general practice: protocol of a cluster randomised controlled trial (the 3D study). *BMJ Open* 2016;**6**(4):e011261.

#### Mathar 2015 {published data only}

Mathar H, Fastholm P, Sandholm N. A qualitative study of televideo consultations for COPD patients. *British Journal of Nursing* 2015;**24**(4):205-9.

#### Mathar 2017 {published data only}

Mathar H, Fastholm P, Lange P, Larsen NS. Why do patients decline participation in offered pulmonary rehabilitation? A qualitative study. *Clinical Rehabilitation* 2017;**31**(12):1674-83. [DOI: 10.1177/0269215517708821]

#### McNamara 2014 {published data only}

McNamara RJ, McKeough ZJ, McKenzie DK, Alison JA. Acceptability of the aquatic environment for exercise training by people with chronic obstructive pulmonary disease with physical comorbidities: additional results from a randomised controlled trial. *Physiotherapy* 2015;**101**(2):187-92. [DOI: http:// dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.physio.2014.09.002]

#### McNamara 2016 {published data only}

McNamara RJ, McKeough ZJ, Mo LR, Dallimore JT, Dennis SM. Community-based exercise training for people with chronic respiratory and chronic cardiac disease: a mixed-methods evaluation. *International Journal of COPD* 2016;**11**:2839-50. [DOI: 10.2147/COPD.S118724]

#### Mirkovic 2016 {published data only}

Mirkovic J, Kristjansdottir OB, Stenberg U, Krogseth T, Stange KC, Ruland CM. Patient insights Into the design of technology to support a strengths-based approach to health care. *JMIR Research Protocols* 2016;**5**(3):e175.

#### Mirzaei 2013 {published data only}

Mirzaei M, Aspin C, Essue B, Jeon YH, Dugdale P, Usherwood T, et al. A patient-centred approach to health service delivery: improving health outcomes for people with chronic illness. *BMC Health Services Research* 2013;**13**:251.

#### Mitlehner 1992 {published data only}

Mitlehner W. Effects of long-term oxygen therapy due to portable liquid oxygen tanks in disabled malnourished chronic obstructive pulmonary disease patients with borderline hypoxemia. Aim of the study and methods. *Respiration* 1992;**59**:40-3; discussion 44.

## Morales-Asencio 2010 {published data only}

Morales-Asencio JM, Martin-Santos FJ, Morilla-Herrera JC, Fernandez-Gallego MC, Celdran-Manas M, Navarro-Moya FJ, et al. Design of a case management model for people with chronic disease (Heart Failure and COPD). Phase I: modeling and identification of the main components of the intervention through their actors: patients and professionals (DELTAicE-PRO Study) // Designing a Proactive, Person-Centred, Digital Integrated Care System. *BMC Health Services Research* 2010;**10**:324. [DOI: 10.5334/ijic.3521]

## Morgan 2010 {published data only}

Morgan K, Gregory P, Tomeny M, David B. Self-help CBT-I in the management of insomnia symptoms associated with chronic disease in older adults: A randomized controlled trial. *Journal of Sleep Research* 2010;**19**:79-80.

#### Naz 2019 {published data only}

Naz I, Sahin H, Varol Y, Komurcuoglu B. The effect of comorbidity severity on pulmonary rehabilitation outcomes in chronic obstructive pulmonary disease patients. *Chronic Respiratory Disease* 2019;**16**:1479972318809472. [DOI: 10.1177/1479972318809472]

## NCT00202150 {published data only}

NCT00202150. Primary care management/action plans for advanced chronic diseases [Primary care management/ action plans for advanced chronic diseases (The RoadMAP Project)]. clinicaltrials.gov/show/NCT00202150 (first received 20 September 2005).

## NCT00668408 {published data only}

NCT00668408. Long-term oxygen therapy (LTOT) in chronic obstructive pulmonary disease (COPD) patients with moderate chronic hypoxemia and chronic heart failure (CHF). clinicaltrials.gov/show/nct00668408 (first received 29 April 2008).

## NCT00730067 {published data only}

NCT00730067. Sildenafil for chronic obstructive pulmonary disease (COPD) associated pulmonary hypertension [Sildenafil for COPD-associated pulmonary hypertension. A randomized

Tailored or adapted interventions for adults with chronic obstructive pulmonary disease and at least one other long-term condition: a mixed methods review (Review)

double blinded placebo controlled study]. clinicaltrials.gov/ show/NCT00730067 (first received 8 August 2008).

## NCT00789100 {published data only}

NCT00789100. Evaluation of remote patient monitoring [Evaluation of a home-based telemonitor service]. clinicaltrials.gov/ct2/history/NCT00789100?V (first received 10 November 2008).

## NCT01055405 {published data only}

NCT01055405. Study of sildenafil effects in combination with rehabilitation in patients with chronic obstructive pulmonary disease (COPD) and associated pulmonary hypertension (SIL-COPD-02). clinicaltrials.gov/show/NCT01055405 (first received 25 January 2010).

#### NCT01627327 {published data only}

NCT01627327. Study to evaluate the 24-hour pulmonary function profile of fluticasone furoate/vilanterol (FF/VI) inhalation powder 100/25mcg once daily compared with tiotropium bromide inhalation powder 18mcg once daily in subjects with COPD who have or are at risk for co-morbid cardiovascular disease [A 12-week study to evaluate the 24-hour pulmonary function profile of fluticasone furoate /vilanterol (FF/VI) inhalation powder 100/25mcg once-daily via a novel dry powder inhaler compared with tiotropium bromide inhalation powder 18mcg delivered once-daily via the handiHaler in subjects with chronic obstructive pulmonary disease (COPD) who have or are at risk for co-morbid cardiovascular disease]. clinicaltrials.gov/show/nct01627327 (first received 25 June 2012).

#### NCT01648621 {published data only}

NCT01648621. Program of integrated care for patients with chronic obstructive pulmonary disease and multiple comorbidities. clinicaltrials.gov/show/nct01648621 (first received 24 July 2012).

#### NCT01691131 {published data only}

NCT01691131. Effects of two training protocols in patients with chronic obstructive pulmonary disease [Effects of two training protocols in physical activity in daily life and balance in patients with COPD: land versus water]. clinicaltrials.gov/show/ NCT01691131 (first received 24 September 2012).

#### NCT01862536 {published data only}

NCT01862536. Tadalafil for pulmonary hypertension due to chronic lung disease (TADA-PHILD). clinicaltrials.gov/show/ nct01862536 (first received 24 May 2013 ).

#### NCT01867970a {published data only}

NCT01867970. Interactive tool to support self-management through lifestyle feedback, aimed at physical activity of COPD/ DM patients (RCTIt'sLiFe!) [RCT It's LiFe! to evaluate the effectiveness of the monitoring and feedback tool and the corresponding counseling protocol (self-management Support Program) to be executed by practice nurses in primary care]. clinicaltrials.gov/show/nct01867970 (first received 4 June 2013).

#### NCT01867970b {published data only}

NCT01867970. Interactive tool to support self-management through lifestyle feedback, aimed at physical activity of COPD/ DM patients (RCTIt'sLiFe!) [RCT It's LiFe! to evaluate the effectiveness of the monitoring and feedback tool and the corresponding counseling protocol (self-management Support Program) to be executed by practice nurses in primary care]. clinicaltrials.gov/show/nct01867970 (first received 4 June 2013).

#### NCT01892566 {published data only}

NCT01892566. Using mobile health to respond early to acute exacerbations of COPD in HIV (mReach). clinicaltrials.gov/show/ nct01892566 (first received 4 July 2013).

#### NCT01960907 {published data only}

NCT01960907. Clinical trials for elderly patients with multiple disease (CHROMED). clinicaltrials.gov/show/nct01960907 (first received 11 October 2013).

#### NCT02446769 {published data only}

NCT02446769. A pilot study to assess the effects of a novel application of averaged volume assured pressure support ventilation (AVAPS-AE) therapy on re-hospitalization in patients with sleep-disordered breathing with co-morbid COPD (STOP-BBACK) [A pilot, multi-center, randomized, openLabel, parallel group study to assess the effects of a novel application of averaged volume assured pressure support ventilation (AVAPS-AE) therapy on re-hospitalization in patients with sleepdisordered breathing with c-morbid COPD]. clinicaltrials.gov/ show/nct02446769 (first received 18 May 2015).

#### NCT02522637 {published data only}

NCT02522637. Exercise training in severe COPD [What is the best frequency of exercise training in severe COPD?]. clinicaltrials.gov/show/nct02522637 (first received 13 August 2015).

#### NCT02652559 {published data only}

NCT02652559. Initiation of long-term non-invasive ventilation in COPD (RECONSIDER) [Treatment of chronic respiratory failure in COPD patients with non-invasive ventilation: starting at home and selecting the right patient]. clinicaltrials.gov/show/ nct02652559 (first received 12 January 2016).

#### NCT02742597a {published data only}

NCT02742597. Patient-centred innovations for persons with multimorbidity - Ontario (PACEinMM-ON) [Patient-centred innovations for persons with multimorbidity - Ontario]. clinicaltrials.gov/show/nct02742597 (first received 19 April 2016).

#### NCT02742597b {published data only}

NCT02742597. Patient-centred innovations for persons with multimorbidity - Ontario [Patient-centred innovations for persons with multimorbidity - Ontario]. clinicaltrials.gov/show/ nct02742597 (first received 19 April 2016).

#### NCT02789800 {published data only}

NCT02789800. Patient-centred innovations for persons with multimorbidity - Quebec (PACEinMM-QC). clinicaltrials.gov/ show/NCT02789800 (first received 3 June 2016).



## NCT03387735 {published data only}

NCT03387735. Multiple chronic conditions for older adults [Heart-related multiple chronic conditions in primary care: behavioral technology]. clinicaltrials.gov/show/nct03387735 (first received 2 January 2018).

## NCT03810755 {published data only}

NCT03810755. EfiKroniK research program: physical exercise for people with chronic pathologies (EfiKroniK) [EfiKroniK research program: effectiveness of physical exercise for people with chronic pathologies. Hybrid, clinical and implementation randomized trial]. clinicaltrials.gov/show/nct03810755 (first received 22 January 2019).

#### NCT04212676 {published data only}

NCT04212676. The effect of body awareness therapy on postural stability, balance and fear of falling in patients with COPD. clinicaltrials.gov/show/NCT04212676 (first received 27 December 2019).

#### Nekrasov 2019 {published data only}

Nekrasov AA, Timoshchenko ES, Erofeeva SG, Karpukhina EV. Predictors for development of major cardiovascular events in elderly patients with severe and extremely severe chronic obstructive pulmonary disease in combination with early stages of chronic kidney disease. *Kardiologiia* 2019;**59**(3S):43-51. [DOI: 10.18087/cardio.2536]

#### NTR1839 {published data only}

NTR1839. Effects of a physiotherapeutic exercise programme in patients with a combination of COPD and chronic heart failure: the CHEST-study [Effects of a community-based physical exercise programme in patients with a combination of COPD and chronic heart failure: the CHEST-study]. ictrptest.azurewebsites.net/Trial2.aspx?TrialID=NTR1839 (first received 5 June 2009).

#### NTR4452 {published data only}

NTR4452. ADLs before and after rehabilitation in patients with COPD and CHF [Activities of daily life (ADLs) before and after rehabilitation in patients with COPD and CHF]. ictrptest.azurewebsites.net/Trial2.aspx?TrialID=NTR4452 (first received 22 February 2014).

## Ogunbayo 2017 {published data only}

Ogunbayo OJ, Russell S, Newham JJ, Heslop-Marshall K, Netts P, Hanratty B, et al. Understanding the factors affecting selfmanagement of COPD from the perspectives of healthcare practitioners: a qualitative study. *NPJ Primary Care Respiratory Medicine* 2017;**27**(1):54.

#### Onorati 2011 {published data only}

Onorati F, Santini F, Mariscalco G, Bertolini P, Sala A, Faggian G, et al. Leukocyte filtration ameliorates the inflammatory response in patients with mild to moderate lung dysfunction. *Annals of Thoracic Surgery* 2011;**92**(1):111-21; discussion 121.

## **Orr 2019** {published data only}

Orr JE, Coleman J, Criner GJ, Sundar KM, Tsai SC, Benjafield AV, et al. Automatic EPAP intelligent volume-assured pressure

Cochrane Database of Systematic Reviews

support is effective in patients with chronic respiratory failure: a randomized trial. *Respirology* 2019;**24**(12):1204-11.

#### Overlack 1994 {published data only}

Overlack A, Adamczak M, Bachmann W, Bonner G, Bretzel RG, Derichs R, et al. ACE-inhibition with perindopril in essential hypertensive patients with concomitant diseases. The Perindopril Therapeutic Safety Collaborative Research Group. *American Journal of Medicine* 1994;**97**(2):126-34.

## Paget 2010 {published data only}

Paget T, Jones C, Davies M, Evered C, Lewis C. Using home telehealth to empower patients to monitor and manage long term conditions. *Nursing Times* 2010;**106**(45):17-9.

#### Paleev 1989 {published data only}

Paleev NR, Tsa'rkova LN, Uribe-Echevarria EE, Baklykova SN, Novoderezhkina LB. Nifedipine treatment of pulmonary hypertension as a complication of chronic obstructive diseases of the lungs. *Klinicheskaia Meditsina* 1989;**67**(6):117-20.

#### Pascual 2011 {published data only}

Pascual CR, Galan EP, Guerrero JL, Colino RM, Soler PA, Calvo MH, et al. Rationale and methods of the multicenter randomised trial of a heart failure management programme among geriatric patients (HF-Geriatrics). *BMC Public Health* 2011;**11**:627.

#### Patel 2016 {published data only}

Patel N, Jones P, Adamson V, Spiteri M, Kinmond K. Chronic obstructive pulmonary disease patients' experiences of an enhanced self-management model of care. *Qualitative Health Research* 2016;**26**(4):568-77. [DOI: 10.1177/1049732315573013]

#### Pinnock 2009 {published data only}

Pinnock H, Huby G, Tierney A, Hamilton S, Powell A, Kielmann T, et al. Is multidisciplinary teamwork the key? A qualitative study of the development of respiratory services in the UK. *Journal of the Royal Society of Medicine* 2009;**102**(9):378-90.

#### Pommer 2012 {published data only}

Pommer AM, Pouwer F, Denollet J, Pop VJ. Managing co-morbid depression and anxiety in primary care patients with asthma and/or chronic obstructive pulmonary disease: study protocol for a randomized controlled trial. *Trials* 2012;**13**:6.

#### Pooler 2005 {published data only}

Pooler C. Breathing In: Experiences of Adults with Chronic Pulmonary Illnesses. University of Alberta (Canada), 2005.

#### Pooler 2014 {published data only}

Pooler C. Living with chronic lower pulmonary disease: disruptions of the embodied phenomenological self. *Global Qualitative Nursing Research* 2014;**1**:2333393614548762.

#### **Porta 2002** {*published data only*}

Porta R, Appendini L, Vitacca M, Bianchi L, Donner CF, Poggi R, et al. Mask proportional assist vs pressure support ventilation in patients in clinically stable condition with chronic ventilatory failure. *Chest* 2002;**122**(2):479-88.

Tailored or adapted interventions for adults with chronic obstructive pulmonary disease and at least one other long-term condition: a mixed methods review (Review)



## Porter 2016 {published data only}

Porter I, Gangannagaripalli J, Bramwell C, Valderas JM. Integrating patient reported outcome measures (PROMs) into routine primary care for patients with multimorbidity: a feasibility study. *Health and Quality of Life Outcomes* 2016;**14**(Suppl 1):236. [DOI: 10.1186/s12955-016-0540-5]

## Rabinowitz 1999 {published data only}

Rabinowitz MM. Stories of Exercise Noncompliance Among Patients with Chronic Obstructive Pulmonary Disease After Completion of Pulmonary Rehabilitation. New York: Adelphi University, 1999.

#### Ream 1997 {published data only}

Ream E, Richardson A. Fatigue in patients with cancer and chronic obstructive airways disease: a phenomenological enquiry. *International Journal of Nursing Studies* 1997;**34**(1):44-53.

#### Rijken 2016 {published data only}

Rijken M, Van der Heide I, Heijmans M. Individual care plans in chronic illness care: aims, use and outcomes. *International Journal of Integrated Care* 2016;**16**(6):1-2. [DOI: 10.5334/ ijic.2757]

## Ringe 1987 {published data only}

Ringe JD, Welzel D. Salmon calcitonin in the therapy of corticoid-induced osteoporosis. *European Journal of Clinical Pharmacology* 1987;**33**(1):35-9.

#### Ritchie 2016 {published data only}

Ritchie CS, Houston TK, Richman JS, Sobko HJ, Berner ES, Taylor BB, et al. The E-Coach technology-assisted care transition system: a pragmatic randomized trial. *Translational Behavioral Medicine* 2016;**6**(3):428-37.

#### Røsstad 2013 {published data only}

Røsstad T, Garåsen H, Steinsbekk A, Sletvold O, Grimsmo A. Development of a patient-centred care pathway across healthcare providers: a qualitative study. *BMC Health Services Research* 2013;**13**(1):121. [DOI: 10.1186/1472-6963-13-121]

#### Salem 2014 {published data only}

Salem M, Diab A, Ateya A, Sanad O. Short term effects of sildenafil citrate therapy in secondary pulmonary hypertension. *Egyptian Heart Journal* 2014;**66**(1):49-53.

#### Sandelowsky 2014 {published data only}

Sandelowsky H, Modin S, Krakau I, Stallberg B, Nager A. What determines the level of COPD care in a patient-doctor encounter? A qualitative study in primary care. *European Respiratory Journal* 2014;**44**(Suppl 58):P1455.

## Sandelowsky 2016 {published data only}

Sandelowsky H, Hylander I, Krakau I, Modin S, Stallberg B, Nager A. Time pressured deprioritization of COPD in primary care: a qualitative study. *Scandinavian Journal of Primary Health Care* 2016;**34**(1):55-65. [DOI: 10.3109/02813432.2015.1132892]

#### Savaria 2017 {published data only}

Savaria F, Beauchesne MF, Forget A, Blais L. Polypharmacy, chronic kidney disease, and benign prostatic hyperplasia in patients with chronic obstructive pulmonary disease newly treated with long-acting anticholinergics. *Respiratory Medicine* 2017;**132**:195-202.

## Schaarup 2016 {published data only}

Schaarup C, Hangaard S, Hejlesen O. Participatory heuristic evaluation leads to extensive changes in the functionalities of the eWALL telehealth system. *European Journal of Epidemiology* 2016;**31**(Suppl 1):S172.

#### Schinaman 2005 {published data only}

Schinaman SA. Psychological interventions for COPD in pulmonary medicine settings: new opportunities for effective disease management. *Dissertation Abstracts International: section B: the Sciences and Engineering* 2005;**66**:573.

#### Schroedl 2013 {published data only}

Schroedl CJ, Szmuilowicz E, Yount S, Rosenberg SR, Kalhan R. Unmet healthcare needs among patients with chronic obstructive pulmonary disease: a qualitative study. In: American Thoracic Society 2013 International Conference; 2013 May 17-22; Philadelphia. 2013.

#### Seto 2017 {published data only}

Seto E, Ware P, Logan AG, Cafazzo JA, Chapman KR, Segal P, et al. Self-management and clinical decision support for patients with complex chronic conditions through the use of smartphone-based telemonitoring: randomized controlled trial protocol. *JMIR Research Protocols* 2017;**6**(11):e229.

#### Sevostyanova 2016 {published data only}

Sevostyanova EV, Nikolaev YA, Bogdankevich NV, Lusheva VG, Markova EN, Dolgova NA. Non-drug rehabilitation of patients with chronic obstructive pulmonary disease concurrent with hypertension. *Terapevticheskii Arkhiv* 2016;**88**(8):19-24.

#### Simon 2014 {published data only}

Simon P. Medical home telemonitoring of chronically ill patients. 1) lessons learnt from large international studies. *European Research in Telemedicine* 2014;**3**(2):85-93.

#### Simpson 2010 {published data only}

Simpson AC, Young J, Donahue M, Rocker G. A day at a time: caregiving on the edge in advanced COPD. *International Journal* of Chronic Obstructive Pulmonary Disease 2010;**5**:141-51.

#### Sin 2007 {published data only}

Sin DD, Wong E, Mayers I, Lien DC, Feeny D, Cheung H, et al. Effects of nocturnal noninvasive mechanical ventilation on heart rate variability of patients with advanced COPD. *Chest* 2007;**131**(1):156-63.

#### Smyrnova 2018 {published data only}

Smyrnova G, Babkina T. Influence of pulmonary rehabilitation on clinical characteristics in patients with chronic heart failure and chronic obstructive pulmonary disease. *European Journal* of Preventive Cardiology 2018;**25**(2 Suppl 1):S22.



## Sobnath 2016 {published data only}

Sobnath D, Philip N, Kayyali R, Nabhani-Gebara S, Pierscionek B, Raptopoulos A. Mobile self-management application for COPD patients with comorbidities: a usability study. In: IEEE 18th international conference on ehealth networking, applications and services (healthcom); 2016 Sept 14-16; Munich. 2016:472-7. [DOI: 10.1109/ HealthCom.2016.7749502]

## Solaligue 2014 {published data only}

Solaligue DE, Hederman L, Martin CM. What weekday? How acute? An analysis of reported planned and unplanned GP visits by older multi-morbid patients in the Patient Journey Record System database. *Journal of Evaluation in Clinical Practice* 2014;**20**(4):522-6. [DOI: 10.1111/jep.12171]

#### Spence 2008 {published data only}

Spence A, Hasson F, Waldron M, Kernohan G, McLaughlin D, Cochrane B, et al. Active carers: living with chronic obstructive pulmonary disease. *International Journal of Palliative Nursing* 2008;**14**(8):368-72.

## Stachel 2017 {published data only}

Stachel RD. The impact of affective computing in raising awareness of subjective well-being and its influence on adherence and quality of life: an experience among patients suffering from alpha-1 antitrypsin deficiency-associated COPD. *Dissertation Abstracts International Section A: Humanities and Social Sciences* 2017;**78**:No Pagination Specified.

#### Statsenko 2014 {published data only}

Statsenko ME, Derevyanchenko M, Chernikov M, Lopushkova Y. Efficacy and safety of bisoprololal in hypertensive patients with cardiovascular disease and chronic obstructive pulmonary disease. *Kardiologiia* 2014;**54**(1):48-54.

#### Sugawara 2010 {published data only}

Sugawara K, Takahashi H, Kasai C, Kiyokawa N, Watanabe T, Fujii S, et al. Effects of nutritional supplementation combined with low-intensity exercise in malnourished patients with COPD. *Respiratory Medicine* 2010;**104**(12):1883-9.

#### Summit 2016 {published data only}

Brook RD, Anderson J, Calverley P, Celli B, Crim C, Denvir M, et al. Cardiovascular outcomes with an inhaled long-acting beta agonist and corticosteroid in patients with moderate chronic obstructive pulmonary disease and heightened cardiovascular risk: the summit trial. *Journal of the American College of Cardiology* 2016;**67**(13):1917.

Crim C, Brook R, Anderson J, Kilbride S, Calverley P, Celli B, et al. Pulse wave velocity (PWV) in patients (pts) with moderate COPD and cardiovascular risk: the effect of an inhaled long-acting beta-agonist/corticosteroid (SUMMIT). *European Respiratory Journal* 2016;**48**:OA3312. [DOI: 10.1183/13993003.congress-2016.OA3312]

Dransfield M, Anderson JA, Brook RD, Calverley PMA, Celli BR, Crim C, et al. Effect of beta-blockers on outcomes in the summit study. *American Journal of Respiratory and Critical Care Medicine* 2017;**201**:A3611. Dransfield MT, McAllister DA, Anderson JA, Brook RD, Calverley PMA, Celli BR, et al. B-blocker therapy and clinical outcomes in patients with moderate chronic obstructive pulmonary disease and heightened cardiovascular risk an observational sub-study of SUMMIT. *Annals of the American Thoracic Society* 2018;**15**(5):608-14.

Vestbo J, Anderson J, Brook RD, Calverley PM, Celli BR, Crim C, et al. The study to understand mortality and morbidity in COPD (SUMMIT) study protocol. *European Respiratory Journal* 2013;**41**(5):1017-22.

Vestbo J, Anderson JA, Brook RD, Calverley PM, Celli BR, Crim C, et al. Fluticasone furoate and vilanterol and survival in chronic obstructive pulmonary disease with heightened cardiovascular risk (SUMMIT): a double-blind randomised controlled trial. *Lancet* 2016;**387**(10030):1817-26.

#### Tavazzi 2013 {published data only}

Tavazzi L, Swedberg K, Komajda M, Bohm M, Borer JS, Lainscak M, et al. Clinical profiles and outcomes in patients with chronic heart failure and chronic obstructive pulmonary disease: an efficacy and safety analysis of SHIFT study. *International Journal of Cardiology* 2013;**170**(2):182-8.

## Taylor 2015 {published data only}

Taylor J, Coates E, Wessels B, Mountain G, Hawley MS. Implementing solutions to improve and expand telehealth adoption: participatory action research in four community healthcare settings. *BMC Health Services Research* 2015;**15**:529. [DOI: 10.1186/s12913-015-1195-3]

## Thorpe 2014 {published data only}

Thorpe O, Kumar S, Johnston K. Barriers to and enablers of physical activity in patients with COPD following a hospital admission: a qualitative study. *International Journal of COPD* 2014;**9**:115-28. [DOI: 10.2147/COPD.S54457]

#### **Tocci 2015** {published data only}

Tocci G, Cicero AF, Salvetti M, Passerini J, Musumeci MB, Ferrucci A, et al. Attitudes and preferences for the clinical management of patients with hypertension and hypertension with chronic obstructive pulmonary disease in Italy: main results of a survey questionnaire. *Internal and Emergency Medicine* 2015;**10**(8):943-54.

#### Toms 2002 {published data only}

Toms J, Harrison K. Living with chronic lung disease and the effect of pulmonary rehabilitation: patients' perspectives. *Physiotherapy* 2002;**88**(10):605-19.

#### Tsvetkova 2007 {published data only}

Tsvetkova OA, Veselovskaia MV. Efficacy of a cardioselective beta1-adrenoblocker bisoprolol in patients with chronic obstructive pulmonary disease in combination with ischemic heart disease. *Terapevticheskii Arkhiv* 2007;**79**(3):25-9.

#### Uddin 2014 {published data only}

Uddin MJ, Alam N, Sarma H, Chowdhury MA, Alam DS, Niessen L. Consequences of hypertension and chronic obstructive pulmonary disease, healthcare-seeking behaviors of patients, and responses of the health system: a population-

Tailored or adapted interventions for adults with chronic obstructive pulmonary disease and at least one other long-term condition: a mixed methods review (Review)



based cross-sectional study in Bangladesh. *BMC Public Health* 2014;**14**:547. [DOI: 10.1186/1471-2458-14-547]

#### UMIN000027228 {published data only}

UMIN000027228. The usefulness of anticholinergic drug to chronic heart failure patients with chronic obstructive pulmonary disease [The usefulness of anticholinergic drug to chronic heart failure patients with chronic obstructive pulmonary disease - anticholinergic drug for CHF with COPD]. ictrptest.azurewebsites.net/Trial2.aspx?TrialID=JPRN-UMIN000027228 (first received 10 May 2017).

## UMIN000033212 {published data only}

UMIN000033212. Effect of propolis among frailty comorbid COPD patients. ictrptest.azurewebsites.net/Trial2.aspx? TrialID=JPRN-UMIN000033212 (first received 2 July 2018).

#### Van der Woude 2005 {published data only}

Van der Woude HJ, Zaagsma J, Postma DS, Winter TH, Van Hulst M, Aalbers R, et al. Detrimental effects of beta-blockers in COPD: a concern for nonselective beta-blockers. *Chest* 2005;**127**(3):818-24.

## Van Eijk 2004 {published data only}

Van Eijk JT, Diederiks JP, Kempen GI, Honig A, Van der Meer K, Brenninkmeijer WJ. Development and feasibility of a nurse administered strategy on depression in communitydwelling patients with a chronic physical disease. *Patient Education and Counselling* 2004;**54**(1):87-94. [DOI: 10.1016/ S0738-3991(03)00201-5]

#### Van Mourik 2012 {published data only}

Van Mourik Y, Moons KG, Bertens LC, Reitsma JB, Hoes AW, Rutten FH. Triage of frail elderly with reduced exercise tolerance in primary care (TREE). A clustered randomized diagnostic study. *BMC Public Health* 2012;**12**:385.

#### Walters 2012 {published data only}

Walters BH, Adams SA, Nieboer AP, Bal R. Disease management projects and the Chronic Care Model in action: baseline qualitative research. *BMC Health Services Research* 2012;**12**:114. [DOI: 10.1186/1472-6963-12-114]

## Weldam 2015 {published data only}

Weldam S, Lammers J-W, Zwakman M, Schuurmans M. Feasibility of a new individualized nursing care intervention in COPD, the COPD-GRIP intervention. *European Respiratory Journal* 2016;**46**:PA327. [DOI: 10.1183/13993003.congress-2015.PA327]

#### Weldam 2017 {published data only}

Weldam SW, Lammers J-WJ, Zwakman M, Schuurmans MJ. Nurses' perspectives of a new individualized nursing care intervention for COPD patients in primary care settings: a mixed method study. *Applied Nursing Research* 2017;**33**:85-92. [DOI: 10.1016/j.apnr.2016.10.010]

#### Wodskou 2014 {published data only}

Wodskou PM, Host D, Godtfredsen NS, Frolich A. A qualitative study of integrated care from the perspectives of patients with chronic obstructive pulmonary disease and their relatives. *BMC Health Services Research* 2014;**14**:471. [DOI: 10.1186/1472-6963-14-471]

#### Woo 2009 {published data only}

Woo J, Hui E, Hui D, Lum CM, Or KH, Kwok T. A pilot study to examine the feasibility and acceptability of a community model for exercise prescription for patients with chronic disease. *Hong Kong Medical Journal* 2009;**15**:12-6.

#### Wortz 2012 {published data only}

Wortz K, Cade A, Menard JR, Lurie S, Lykens K, Bae S, et al. A qualitative study of patients' goals and expectations for self-management of COPD. *Primary Care Respiratory Journal* 2012;**21**(4):384-91. [DOI: 10.4104/pcrj.2012.00070]

## Yen 2011 {published data only}

Yen L, Gillespie J, Jeon YH, Kljakovic M, Brien JA, Jan S, et al. Health professionals, patients and chronic illness policy: a qualitative study. *Health Expectations* 2011;**14**(1):10-20. [DOI: 10.1111/j.1369-7625.2010.00604.x]

#### Young 2011 {published data only}

Young M, Brown M, Brooksbank M, Crawford G, Burgess T, Crockett A, et al. Feedback from consumers brings COPD model of care back to basics. *Respirology* 2011;**16**(Suppl 1):85.

#### Zakrisson 2010 {published data only}

Zakrisson A-B, Hagglund D. The asthma/COPD nurses experience of educating patients with chronic obstructive pulmonary disease in primary health care. *Scandinavian Journal of Caring Sciences* 2010;**24**:147-55.

## Zhou 2014 {published data only}

Zhou X, Han J, Liu Z, Song Y, Wang Z, Sun Z. Effects of periodontal treatment on lung function and exacerbation frequency in patients with chronic obstructive pulmonary disease and chronic periodontitis: a 2-year pilot randomized controlled trial. *Journal of Clinical Periodontology* 2014;**41**(6):564-72.

#### Zujovic 2017 {published data only}

Zujovic D, Zugic V. The randomized, double-blind, placebocontrolled study of efficacy and safety of propolis and nacetylcysteine compared to placebo in adults in acute condition with sputum production. *American Journal of Respiratory and Critical Care Medicine* 2018;**197**:A3196.

Zujovic D. The randomized, double-blind, placebo-controlled study of efficacy and safety of propolis and N-acetylcysteine compared to placebo in adults in acute condition with sputum production. *American Journal of Respiratory and Critical Care Medicine* 2017;**195**(Meeting Abstracts):A2675.

#### Zulkarneev 2012 {published data only}

Zulkarneev R, Zagidullin N, Zagidullin S, Farhutdinov U, Abdrahmanova G. Ivabradine prevents salbutamol-induced disturbance of cardiac autonomic regulation in patients with chronic obstructive pulmonary disease and coronary heart disease. *European Respiratory Journal* 2012;**40**:625s [P3462].

# **References to studies awaiting assessment**

# Boer 2011 {published data only}

Boer L, Schermer T, Koopman A, Peters J, Heijdra Y, Vercoulen J, et al. Effects of case management on hospitalisation and exacerbation rate in severe, complex COPD: a randomized controlled trial. *European Respiratory Journal* 2011;**38**(55):230s.

# Imanalieva 2016 {published data only}

Imanalieva A, Vinnikov D, Brimkulov N. Patient education with telephone follow-up for chronic obstructive pulmonary disease and essential hypertension. *European Respiratory Journal* 2016;**48**(Suppl 60):PA2063.

# NCT04350541 {published data only}

NCT04350541. Effects of HIIT in tolerance to exercise of individuals with HF and coexisting COPD. clinicaltrials.gov/ show/NCT04350541 (first received 17 April 2020).

# **References to ongoing studies**

# Ansari 2017 {published data only}

Ansari S, Hosseinzadeh H, Dennis S, Zwar N. Activating primary care COPD patients with multi-morbidity (APCOM) pilot project: study protocol. *NPJ Primary Care Respiratory Medicine* 2017;**27**(1):12.

Ansari S, Hosseinzadeh H, Dennis S, Zwar N. Empowering primary care patients with COPD in the context of multimorbidity through the pilot APCOM self-management program. *European Respiratory Journal* 2017;**50**(Suppl 61):PA1604.

Ansari S, Hosseinzadeh H, Dennis SM, Zwar NA. Empowerment of primary care patients with chronic obstructive pulmonary disease (COPD) in the context of multi-morbidity by tailored self-management education in Sydney, Australia. *American Journal of Respiratory and Critical Care Medicine* 2017;**195**(1\_Meeting Abstracts):A7004.

# ISRCTN43508703 {published data only}

ISRCTN43508703. A pilot study of clinical pharmacist home visits and consultant respiratory physician collaborative intervention to improve outcomes in people with chronic obstructive pulmonary disease and other health problems [Tailored intervention at home for patients with moderate-tosevere COPD and co-morbidities by pharmacists and consultant physicians (TICC PCP): a pilot randomised controlled trial]. www.isrctn.com/ISRCTN43508703 (first received 28 October 2019).

# NCT03662711 {published data only}

NCT03662711. Inhaled long-acting bronchodilators with or without inhaled glucocorticosteroids for preventing hospitalizations and death in elderly patients with chronic obstructive pulmonary disease [Comparison of 1-year treatment with inhaled long acting bronchodilators (LABD) plus inhaled glucocorticosteroids (ICS) versus LABD without ICS on re-hospitalizations and/or death in elderly patients with chronic obstructive pulmonary disease (COPD) recently hospitalized because of an acute exacerbation of COPD (ICS-Life Study)]. clinicaltrials.gov/ct2/show/NCT03662711 (first received 7 September 2018).

## TCTR20180530007 {published data only}

TCTR20180530007. Efficiency of slow loaded breathing training on cardiovascular functions in COPD with hypertension [Efficiency of slow loaded breathing training on cardiovascular functions in chronic obstructive pulmonary disease with coexisting hypertension]. ictrptest.azurewebsites.net/Trial2.aspx? TrialID=TCTR20180530007 (first received 30 May 2018).

## TCTR20180601002 {published data only}

TCTR20180601002. Effect of slow loaded breathing training on inspiratory muscle strength, exercise capacity and blood pressure in chronic obstructive pulmonary disease with co-existing hypertension [Effect of slow loaded breathing training on inspiratory muscle strength, exercise capacity and blood pressure in COPD with co-existing hypertension]. ictrptest.azurewebsites.net/Trial2.aspx? TrialID=TCTR20180601002 (first received 1 June 2018).

## **Additional references**

#### **Academy of Medical Sciences Report 2018**

Academy of Medical Sciences. Multimorbidity: a priority for global health research. acmedsci.ac.uk/file-download/82222577 (accessed prior to 7 April 2021):1-127.

## Andenes 2018

Andenes R, Momyr A, Brekke I. Reporting of pain by people with chronic obstructive pulmonary disease (COPD): comparative results from the HUNT3 population-based survey. *BMC Public Health* 2018;**18**:181. [DOI: 10.1186/s12889-018-5094-5]

## Atlantis 2013

Atlantis E, Fahey P, Cochrane B, Smith S. Bidirectional associations between clinically relevant depression or anxiety and COPD: a systematic review and meta-analysis. *Chest* 2013;**144**(3):766-77.

## Barnett 2012

Barnett K, Mercer SW, Norbury M, Watt G, Wyke S, Guthrie B. Epidemiology of multi morbidity and implications for health care, research, and medical education: a crosssectional study. *Lancet* 2012;**380**(9836):37043. [DOI: 10.1016/ S0140-6736(12)60240-2]

## Behlouli 2009

Behlouli H, Feldman D, Ducharme A, Frenette M, Giannetti N, Grondin F, et al. Identifying relative cut-off scores with neural networks for interpretation of the Minnesota Living with Heart Failure Questionnaire. *Annual International Conference of the IEEE Engineering in Medicine and Biology Society* 2009;**2009**:6242-6. [DOI: 10.1109/IEMBS.2009.5334659]

#### Blackstock 2018

Blackstock FC, ZuWallack R, Nici L, Lareau SC. Why don't our patients with chronic obstructive pulmonary disease listen to us? The enigma of non adherence. *Annals of the American Thoracic Society* 2016;**13**(3):317-23.



#### Carreiro 2013

Carreiro A, Santos J, Rodrigues F. Impact of comorbidities in pulmonary rehabilitation outcomes in patients with chronic obstructive pulmonary disease. *Revista Portuguesa de Pneumologia* 2013;**19**:106-13.

## Cavailles 2013

Cavailles A, Brinchault-Rabin G, Dixmier A, Goupil F, Gut-Gobert C, Marchand-Adam S, et al. Comorbidities of COPD. *European Respiratory Review* 2013;**22**:454-75.

#### Chen 2017

Chen W, FitzGerald JM, Sin DD, Sadatsafavi M. Excess economic burden of comorbidities in COPD: a 15-year population-based study. *European Respiratory Journal* 2017;**50**:1700393.

## Covidence [Computer program]

Veritas Health Innovation Covidence. Version accessed prior to 7 April 2021. Melbourne, Australia: Veritas Health Innovation, 2014. Available at covidence.org.

#### Crisafulli 2008

Crisafulli E, Costi S, Luppi F, Cirelli C, Coletti C, Fabbri LM, et al. Role of co morbidities in a cohort of patients with COPD undergoing pulmonary rehabilitation. *Thorax* 2008;**63**:487-92.

## **Critical Appraisal Skills Programme 2018**

Critical Appraisal Skills Programme. CASP Qualitative Checklist (2018). casp-uk.net/wp-content/uploads/2018/03/CASP-Qualitative-Checklist-2018\_fillable\_form.pdf (accessed 11 November 2020).

## Deeks 2021

Deeks JJ, Higgins JP, Altman DG (editors). Chapter 10: Analysing data and undertaking meta-analyses. In: Higgins JP, Thomas J, Chandler J, Cumpston M, Li T, Page MJ, et al (editors). Cochrane Handbook for Systematic Reviews of Interventions version 6.2 (updated February 2021). The Cochrane Collaboration, 2021. Available from www.training.cochrane.org/handbook.

#### DeJean 2016

DeJean D, Giacomini M, Simeonov D, Smith A. Finding qualitative research evidence for health technology assessment. *Qualitative Health Research* 2016;**26**(10):1307-17. [DOI: 10.1177/1049732316644429]

#### Divo 2012

Divo M, Cote C, De Torres JP, Casanova C, Martin JM, Pinto-Plata V, et al. Comorbidities and risk of mortality in patients with chronic obstructive pulmonary disease. *American Journal of Respiratory and Critical Care Medicine* 2012;**186**(2):155-61.

# Duerden 2013

Duerden M, Avery T, Payne R (The King's Fund). Polypharmacy and medicines optimisation: making it safe and sound. www.kingsfund.org.uk/sites/default/files/field/ field\_publication\_file/polypharmacy-and-medicinesoptimisation-kingsfund-nov13.pdf (accessed 1 April 2021).

## Erzberger 1997

Erzberger C, Prein G. Triangulation: validity and empiricallybased hypothesis construction. *Quality and Quantity* 1997;**31**(2):141-54.

## Fischer 2009

Fischer MJ, Scharloo M, Abbink JJ, van 't Hul AJ, Van Ranst D, Rudolphus A, et al. Drop-out and attendance in pulmonary rehabilitation: the role of clinical and psychosocial variables. *Respiratory Medicine* 2009;**103**(10):1564-71.

#### Garin 2016

Garin N, Koyanagi A, Chatterji S, Tyrovolas S, Olaya B, Leonardi M, et al. Global multi morbidity patterns: a crosssectional, population-based, multi-country study. *Journals of Gerontology. Series A, Biological Sciences and Medical Sciences* 2016;**71**(2):205-14.

## Glenton 2020

Glenton C, Bohren MA, Downe S, Paulsen EJ, Lewin S. EPOC Qualitative Evidence Synthes is: protocol and review template. Version 1.1. epoc.cochrane.org/epoc-specific-resources-reviewauthors (accessed prior to 7 April 2021).

## GOLD 2021

Global Initiative for Chronic Obstructive Lung Disease. Global strategy for the diagnosis, management, and prevention of chronic obstructive pulmonary disease (20 21 report). goldcopd.org/wp-content/uploads/2020/11/GOLD-REPORT-2021-v1.1-25Nov20\_WMV.pdf (accessed prior to 7 April 20 21 ).

## GRADEpro GDT [Computer program]

McMaster University (developed by Evidence Prime ) GRADEpro GDT. Version accessed prior to 22 January 2019. Hamilton (ON): McMaster University (developed by Evidence Prime ), 2015. Available at gradepro.org.

## Guthrie 2012

Guthrie B, Makubate B. The rising tide of polypharmacy and potentially serious drug interactions 1995-2010: repeated cross-sectional analysis of dispensed prescribing in one region. *Primary Health Care Research and Development* 2012;**13** (supplement 1)(45):2E2.

## Guyatt 2008

Guyatt GH, Oxman AD, Vist GE, Kunz R, Falck-Ytter Y, Alonso-Coello P, et al. GRADE: an emerging consensus on rating quality of evidence and strength of recommendations. *BMJ* 2008;**336**:924. [DOI: 10.1136/bmj.39489.470347.AD]

## Hanlon 2018

Hanlon P, Nicholl BI, Jani BD, McQueenie R, Lee D, Gallacher KI, et al. Examining patterns of multi morbidity, polypharmacy and risk of adverse drug reactions in chronic obstructive pulmonary disease: a cross-sectional UK Biobank study. *BMJ Open* 2018;**8**:e018404. [DOI: 10.1136/bmjopen-2017-01]

#### Hannes 2011

Hannes K. Chapter 4: Critical appraisal of qualitative research. In: Noyes J, Booth A, Hannes K, Harden A, Harris J, Lewin

Tailored or adapted interventions for adults with chronic obstructive pulmonary disease and at least one other long-term condition: a mixed methods review (Review)



S, et al, editors(s). Supplementary Guidance for Inclusion of Qualitative Research in Cochrane Systematic Reviews of Interventions. Cochrane Collaboration Qualitative Methods Group, 2011.

## Harden 2018

Harden A Thomas J, Cargo M, Harris J, Pantoja T, Flemming K, et al. Cochrane Qualitative and Implementation Methods Group Guidance Series-paper 5: methods for integrating qualitative and implementation evidence within intervention effectiveness reviews. *Journal of Clinical Epidemiology* 2018;**97**:70-8.

#### Harrison 2017

Harrison SL, Lee AL, Elliott-Button HL, Shea R, Goldstein RS, Brooks D, et al. The role of pain in pulmonary rehabilitation: a qualitative study. *International Journal of COPD* 2017;**12**:3289–99.

## Hayton 2013

Hayton C, Clark A, Olive S, Browne P, Galey P, Knights E, et al. Barriers to pulmonary rehabilitation: characteristics that predict patient attendance and adherence. *Respiratory Medicine* 2013;**107**:401-7.

#### Higgins 2011

Higgins JP, Green S (editors). Cochrane Handbook for Systematic Reviews of Interventions Version 5.1.0 (updated March 2011). The Cochrane Collaboration, 2011. Available from training.cochrane.org/handbook/archive/v5.1/.

## Higgins 2021

Higgins JP, Thomas J, Chandler J, Cumpston M, Li T, Page MJ, et al (editors). Cochrane Handbook for Systematic Reviews of Interventions Version 6.2 (updated February 2021). The Cochrane Collaboration, 2021. Available from training.cochrane.org/handbook.

#### Hillas 2015

Hillas G, Perlikos F, Tsiligianni I, Tzanakis N. Managing co-morbidities in COPD. *International Journal of Chronic Obstructive Pulmonary Disease* 2015;**10**:95-109.

#### Holland 2013

Holland AE, Nici L. The return of the minimum clinically important difference for 6-minute-walk distance in chronic obstructive pulmonary disease. *American Journal of Respiratory Critical Care Medicine* 2013;**187**(4):335-41.

#### Holland 2016

Holland AE, Harrison SL, Brooks D. Multimorbidity, frailty and chronic obstructive pulmonary disease. Are the challenges for pulmonary rehabilitation in the name? *Chronic Respiratory Disease* 2016;**13**(4):372-82. [DOI: 10.1177%2F1479972316670104]

#### Hong 2018

Hong QN, Pluye P, Fàbregues S, Bartlett G, Boardman F, Cargo M, et al. Mixed methods appraisal tool (MMAT) version 2018. mixedmethodsappraisaltoolpublic.pbworks.com/ w/file/fetch/127916259/MMAT\_2018\_criteriamanual\_2018-08-01\_ENG.pdf (accessed 1 April 2021).

## Ioannidis 2008

Ioannidis JP, Patsopoulos NA, Rothstein HR. Reasons or excuses for avoiding meta-analysis in forest plots. *BMJ* 2008;**336**(7658):1413-15. [DOI: 10.1136/bmj.a117]

#### Jones 2005

Jones PW. St. George's Respiratory Questionnaire: MCID. *COPD* 2005;**2**:75-9.

#### Kastner 2018

Kastner M, Cardoso R, Lai Y, Treister V, Hamid JS, Hayden L, et al. Effectiveness of interventions for managing multiple highburden chronic diseases in older adults: a systematic review and meta-analysis. *CMAJ* 2018;**190**(34):E1004-12. [DOI: 10.1503/ cmaj.171391]

#### Keating 2011

Keating A, Lee A, Holland AE. What prevents people with chronic obstructive pulmonary disease from attending pulmonary rehabilitation? A systematic review. *Chronic Respiratory Disease* 2011;**8**(2):88-9.

#### Kon 2014

Kon SS, Canavan JL, Jones SE, Nolan CM. Minimum clinically important difference for the COPD Assessment Test: a prospective analysis. *Lancet Respiratory Medicine* 2014;**2**(3):P135-203.

## Lefebvre 2021

Lefebvre C, Glanville J, Briscoe S, Littlewood A, Marshall C, Metzendorf M-I, et al C Available from wwwtrainingcochraneorg/handbookLefebvre C, Glanville J, Briscoe S, Littlewood A, Marshall C, Metzendorf M-I, et al. Chapter 4: Searching for and selecting studies. In: Higgins JP, Thomas J, Chandler J, Cumpston M, Li T, Page MJ, et al (editors). Cochrane Handbook for Systematic Reviews of Interventions version 6.2 (updated February 2021). The Cochrane Collaboraion, 2021. Available from www.training.cochrane.org/ handbook.

#### Lewin 2015

Lewin S, Glenton C, Munthe-Kaas H, Carleson B, Colvin C, Gülmezoglu M, et al. Using qualitative evidence in decision making for health and social interventions: an approach to assess confidence in findings from qualitative evidence syntheses (GRADE-CERQual). *PLOS Medicine* 2015;**12**(10):e1001895.

## Mannino 2008

Mannino DM, Thorn D, Swensen A, Holguin F. Prevalence and outcomes of diabetes, hypertension and cardiovascular disease in COPD. *European Respiratory Journal* 2008;**32**(4):962-9.

## Marshall 2018

Marshall IJ, Noel-Storr AH, Kuiper J, Thomas J, Wallace BC. Machine learning for identifying randomised controlled trials: an evaluation and practitioner's guide. *Research Synthesis Methods* 2018;**9**(4):602-14. [PMID: 29314757]

Tailored or adapted interventions for adults with chronic obstructive pulmonary disease and at least one other long-term condition: a mixed methods review (Review)



## McCarthy 2015

McCarthy B, Casey D, Devane D, Murphy K, Murphy E, Lacasse Y. Pulmonary rehabilitation for chronic obstructive pulmonary disease. *Cochrane Database of Systematic Reviews* 2015, Issue 2. Art. No: CD003793. [DOI: 10.1002/14651858.CD003793.pub3]

## McGowan 2016

McGowan J, Sampson M, Salzwedel DM, Cogo E, Foerster V, Lefebvre C. PRESS peer review of electronic search strategies: 2015 guideline statement. *Journal of Clinical Epidemiology* 2016;**75**:40-6. [PMID: 27005575]

## McNamara 2013a

McNamara RJ, McKeough ZJ, McKenzie DK, Alison JA. Waterbased exercise in COPD with physical comorbidities: a randomised controlled trial. *European Respiratory Journal* 2013;**41**(6):1284-91. [DOI: 10.1183/09031936.00034312]

## Moher 2009

Moher D, Liberati A, Tetzlaff J, Altman D. Preferred reporting items for systematic reviews and meta-analyses: the PRISMA statement. *PLOS Medicine* 2009;**6**(7):e1000097. [DOI: 10.1371/journal.pmed.1000097]

## Muth 2018

Muth C, Blom JW, Smith SM, Johnell K, Gonzalez-Gonzalez I, Nguyen TS, et al. Evidence supporting the best clinical management of patients with multimorbidity and polypharmacy: a systematic guideline review and expert consensus. *Journal of Internal Medicine* 2018;**285**(3):272-88. [DOI: 10.1111/joim.12842]

## NHS England 2018

NHS England. Right Care scenario: the variation between sub-optimal and optimal pathways. www.england.nhs.uk/ rightcare/wp-content/uploads/sites/40/2018/02/claras-storymultimorbidity-full-narrative.pdf (accessed 1 April 2021).

## **NICE 2018**

National Guideline Centre. Multimorbidity: Clinical Assessment and Management. www.nice.org.uk/guidance/ng56 (accessed prior to 23 January 2019).

## Noel-Storr 2020

Noel-Storr AH, Dooley G, Affengruber L, Gartlehner G. Citation screening using crowdsourcing and machine learning produced accurate results: Evaluation of Cochrane's modified Screen4Me service. *Journal of Clinical Epidemiology* 2020;**130**:23-31. [PMID: 33007457]

## Pluye 2011

Pluye P, Robert E, Cargo M, Bartlett G, O'Cathain, Griffiths F, et al. Proposal: a mixed methods appraisal tool for systematic mixed studies reviews. www.scienceopen.com/document? vid=feb74b8c-08fd-4b8c-ad08-65f7c2b8108e (accessed prior to 7 April 2021).

## Pollok 2018

Pollok J, Van Agteren JE, Carson-Chahhoud KV. Pharmacological interventions for the treatment of depression in chronic obstructive pulmonary disease. *Cochrane Database*  of Systematic Reviews 2018, Issue 12. Art. No: CD012346. [DOI: 10.1002/14651858.CD012346.pub2]

## Pollok 2019

Pollok J, Van Agteren JE, Esterman AJ, Carson-Chahhoud KV. Psychological therapies for the treatment of depression in chronic obstructive pulmonary disease. *Cochrane Database of Systematic Reviews* 2019, Issue 3. Art. No: CD012347. [DOI: 10.1002/14651858.CD012347]

## Raherison 2018

Raherison C, Ouaalaya E, Bernady A, Casteigt J, Nocent-Eijnani C, Falque L, et al. Comorbidities and COPD severity in a clinical-based cohort. *BMC Pulmonary Medicine* 2018;**18**:117.

# Review Manager 2020 [Computer program]

Nordic Cochrane Centre, The Cochrane Collaboration Review Manager 5 (RevMan 5). The Cochrane Collaboration, Version 5.4. Copenhagen: Nordic Cochrane Centre, The Cochrane Collaboration, 2020.

## Rijken 2018

Rijken M, Hujala A, van Ginneken E, Melchiorre MG, Groenewegen P, Schellevis F. Managing multi morbidity: profiles of integrated care approaches targeting people with multiple chronic conditions in Europe. *Health Policy* 2018;**122**(1):44-52. [DOI: 10.1016/j.healthpol.2017.10.002.]

# Salisbury 2018

Salisbury C. Management of multi morbidity using a patientcentred care model: a pragmatic cluster-randomised trial of the 3D approach. *Lancet* 2018;**392**(10141):41-50. [DOI: 10.1016/ S0140-6736(18)31308-4]

## Sinnot 2013

Sinnot C, McHugh S, Browne J, Bradley C. GPs perspectives on the management of patients with multimorbidity: systematic review and synthesis of qualitative research. *BMJ Open* 2013;**3**:e003610.

## Smith 2014

Smith MC, Wrobel JP. Epidemiology and clinical impact of major co morbidities in patients with COPD. *International Journal of Chronic Obstructive Pulmonary Disease* 2014;**9**:871-88.

## Smith 2016

Smith SM, Wallace E, O'Dowd T, Fortin M. Interventions for improving outcomes in patients with multimorbidity in primary care and community settings. *Cochrane Database of Systematic Reviews* 2016, Issue 3. Art. No: CD006560. [DOI: 10.1002/14651858.CD006560.pub3]

## Thomas 2008

Thomas J, Harden A. Methods for the thematic synthesis of qualitative research in systematic reviews. *Biomed Central Medical Research Methodology* 2008;**8**:45. [DOI: 10.1186/1471-2288-8-45]

# **United Nations 2013**

United Nations, Department of Economic and Social Affairs, Population Division. World population ageing. www.un.org/

Cochrane Database of Systematic Reviews

Tailored or adapted interventions for adults with chronic obstructive pulmonary disease and at least one other long-term condition: a mixed methods review (Review)

Cochrane Library

Trusted evidence. Informed decisions. Better health.

en/development/desa/population/publications/pdf/ageing/ WorldPopulationAgeing2013.pdf (accessed prior to 7 April 2021):1-114.

## Usmani 2011

Usmani ZA, Carson KV, Cheng JN, Esterman AJ, Smith BJ. Pharmacological interventions for the treatment of anxiety disorders in chronic obstructive pulmonary disease. *Cochrane Database of Systematic Reviews* 2011, Issue 11. Art. No: CD008483. [DOI: 10.1002/14651858.CD008483.pub2]

#### Usmani 2017

Usmani ZA, Carson KV, Heslop K, Esterman AJ, De Soyza A, Smith BJ. Psychological therapies for the treatment of anxiety disorders in chronic obstructive pulmonary disease. *Cochrane Database of Systematic Reviews* 2017, Issue 3. Art. No: CD010673. [DOI: 10.1002/14651858.CD010673.pub2]

## Walsh 2013

Bernocchi 2018

Walsh JR, McKeough ZJ, Morris NR, Chang AT, Yerkovich ST, Seale HE, et al. Metabolic disease and participant age are independent predictors of response to pulmonary rehabilitation. *Journal of Cardiopulmonary Rehabilitation and Prevention* 2013;**33**:249.

## CHARACTERISTICS OF STUDIES

Characteristics of included studies [ordered by study ID]

#### **World Health Organization 2018**

World Health Organization. Chronic obstructive pulmonary disease (COPD). www.who.int/respiratory/copd/en/ (accessed 1 August 2018).

## Wyatt 2014

Wyatt KD, Stuart LM, Brito JP, Carranza LB, Domecq JP, Prutsky GJ, et al. Out of context: clinical practice guidelines and patients with multiple chronic conditions: a systematic review. *Medical Care* 2014;**52**(3):S92-100.

## References to other published versions of this review

#### Janjua 2019

Janjua S, McDonnell MJ, Harrison SL, Dennett EJ, Stovold E, Holland AE. Targeted interventions and approaches to care for people living with chronic obstructive pulmonary disease and at least one other long-term condition: a mixed methods review. *Cochrane Database of Systematic Reviews* 2019, Issue 8. Art. No: CD013384. [DOI: 10.1002/14651858.CD013384]

\* Indicates the major publication for the study

Study characteristic	S		
Methods	Intervention assignment: randomised		
	Study design: parallel		
	Blinding: open-label		
	Trial duration: 17 weeks		
	<b>Recruitment setting:</b> 3 centres in Lumezzane, Italy (Respiratory unit, cardiology unit, telemedicine service)		
Participants	<b>Population</b> : 112 people with COPD and cardiovascular disease randomised (telerehabilitation = 56; usual care =56)		
	Baseline characteristics:		
	• Age (mean): Telerehabilitation = 71 (SD 9), usual care = 70 (SD 9.5)		
	<ul> <li>% male: telerehabilitation = 88, usual care =75</li> </ul>		
	COPD severity: mild to very severe		
	Ethnicity: not reported in either treatment group		
	• Pack years: not reported in either treatment group		
	Current smoker: not reported in either treatment group		
	<ul> <li>% anxiety: not reported in either treatment group</li> </ul>		
	<ul> <li>% depression: not reported in either treatment group</li> </ul>		
	• Dyspnoea (mean): telerehabilitation = 2.8 (SD 0.98); usual care= 2.7 (SD 0.98)		
	• 6MWT (mean): telerehabilitation group = 329 (SD 115), usual care group = 308 (SD 105)		
	• % withdrawal: telerehabilitation group = 19.6, usual care group = 37.5		

Tailored or adapted interventions for adults with chronic obstructive pulmonary disease and at least one other long-term condition: a mixed methods review (Review)

Library

Bernocchi 2018 (Continued)

Random sequence genera- tion (selection bias)	Yes A computer-generated table to allo	cate participants in fixed blocks of 4
Item	Authors' judgement Support for judgement	
Notes	Funding: Minestero della Salute Italian Ministry of Health	
	<b>Secondary outcomes measured:</b> Reduction of hospitalisat ry), reduction of hospitalisations (all cause), improvement o ment/disability (Barthel Index), reduction in dyspnoea (MRC (Borg), improvement of physical activity profile (PASE quest ipant), improvement of oxygenation (PaO <sub>2</sub> /FiO <sub>2</sub> )	ions (cardiovascular and/or respirato- f QoL (MLHFQ, CAT), reduction in impair- C), reduction in dyspnoea and fatigue at rest ionnaire and daily steps reported by partic-
Outcomes	Primary outcomes measured: Exercise tolerance improver	nent (6MWT, primary)
	• I alloring: NA	
	Scnedule: NA     Tailaring: NA	
	Mode of delivery: at enrolment	
	tional session about the desirability of maintaining a heal ly physical activity as preferred	thy lifestyle and were invited to practice dai-
	<ul> <li>Provider: VISILS from the GP, and in-hospital check-ups o</li> <li>Materials/method: medications and ovvgen prescription</li> </ul>	n particinants were instructed in an educa-
	Setting: participants' home  Provider: Visits from the CD and in the mitstakes!	ndomand
	• usual care	
	Comparator detail:	
	• <b>Tailoring:</b> the programme was targeted to reach a moder fatigue according to the Borg scale. Based on this assess to increase or maintain the workload	rate or high level of dyspnoea and/or muscle nent, the physiotherapist tutor could decide
	• Schedule: exercises 3 - 7 days per week	
	<ul> <li>Mode of delivery: physiotherapist tutor instructed paties the exercises correctly. Weekly structured phone call (nur advice on diet, lifestyle, and medication; weekly phone of level, plan rehabilitation targets, and reinforce diet and l</li> </ul>	rts and their caregivers on how to perform rse tutor) to collect information and provide call (physiotherapist tutor) to verify training ifestyle advice
	<ul> <li>Materials/method: physiotherapist tutor designed a person provided with mini-ergometer, pedometer and diary ter, and a portable 1-lead ECG for real-time telemonitorin</li> </ul>	sonalised exercise programme and each per- y. Participants provided with a pulse oxime- ng of vital signs
	Provider: nurse tutor and physiotherapist tutor	
	Setting: participants' home	
	Telerehabilitation with education, monitoring and person	onalised and supported exercise programme
Interventions	Intervention detail:	
	<b>Exclusion criteria</b> : Limited physical activity due to non-care	diac or non pulmonary problems, limited
	or sys/diastol CHF defined by ECG in a clinical stability. II, III, mised drug therapy	, and IV NY Heart association class, opti-
	LABA + ICS 41%; usual care = SABA 8%; LAMA 23%; LABA + ICS 35%	+ LAMA 12%; LABA + ICS 23%; LAMA + LABA

Tailored or adapted interventions for adults with chronic obstructive pulmonary disease and at least one other long-term condition: a 51 mixed methods review (Review)

## Bernocchi 2018 (Continued)

Allocation concealment (selection bias)	Yes	The allocation sequence was concealed from the investigators enrolling and assessing patients, in sequentially-numbered, opaque, sealed envelopes
Blinding of participants and personnel (perfor- mance bias)	No	Due to the nature of the intervention, neither the participants nor the physi- cians were blinded to participants' group allocation
Blinding of outcome as- sessment (detection bias)	Yes	Outcome assessors and data analysts were blinded, but this is still at risk of bias especially for self-reported outcomes such as risk of bias, because the participants are not blinded
Incomplete outcome data (attrition bias)	No	Attrition higher in the control group compared to the intervention group (37.5% versus 19.6%); if the reason for withdrawal was related to the (lack of) treatment, then this could mean that the difference between groups was un- derestimated
Selective reporting (re- porting bias)	Unclear	Hospitalisation outcome was unclear. Not sure if mean only or total numbers and no SD/CI/SE reported. Time to first hospitalisation/death was not sepa- rate. All other outcomes reported as planned, and the flow diagram was re- ported in a supplementary document with the publication. (Note that we did not contact the authors to request this information)
Other bias	Yes	None noted

## Budnevskiy 2015

Study characteristics		
Methods	Intervention assignment: randomised	
	Study design: parallel	
	Blinding: open-label	
	Trial duration: 52 weeks	
	Recruitment setting: Russia	
Participants	<b>Population</b> : 70 people with COPD and metabolic syndrome randomised (pulmonary rehabilitation = 35; usual care = 35)	
	Baseline characteristics:	
	• Age (mean): 48.3 (SD 0.6)	
	• % male: pulmonary rehabilitation = 66, usual care = 71	
	COPD severity: moderate	
	Ethnicity: not reported in either treatment group	
	Pack years: not reported in either treatment group	
	Current smoker: not reported in either treatment group	
	% anxiety: not reported in either treatment group	
	% depression: not reported in either treatment group	
	• <b>Dyspnoea (mean):</b> pulmonary rehabilitation = 1.74 (SD 0.56), usual care = 1.66 (SD 0.59)	
	6MWT (mean): not reported in either treatment group	
	% withdrawal: not reported in either treatment group	

Budnevskiy 2015 (Continued)	<ul> <li>Medications: All pa mendations (2013 re BA (formoterol 24 μ</li> </ul>	rticipants with COPD received standard treatment according to the GOLD recom- evision): long-acting inhaled anticholinergics (tiotropium bromide 18 μg/day), LA- g/day) and combined short-acting drugs (berodual) taken as needed
	Inclusion criteria: Mod combination with MS. tus, spirometry data in cal guidelines for patie	derate COPD according to GOLD; metabolic syndrome; COPD in remission in Diagnosis of COPD made on basis of complaints, medical history, objective sta- accordance with GOLD (2013 revision). MS diagnosed in accordance with clini- nts with MS of the Ministry of Health of the Russian Federation (2013)
	<b>Exclusion criteria</b> : Mil tus, diseases of the mu and their complication	d and severe COPD, COPD in exacerbation period, diagnosed with diabetes melli- sculoskeletal system with functional disorders and severe concomitant diseases s
Interventions	Intervention detail:	
	<ul> <li>Pulmonary rehabitions</li> </ul>	litation patient education, smoking cessation, physical training, nutritional rec-
	• Setting: not reported	ed
	• Provider: not repor	ted
	<ul> <li>Materials/method: clinical presentation tic exercises taking</li> </ul>	Education consisted of a series of seminars covering aetiology, pathogenesis, n, treatment and prevention of COPD and MS. Physical training included therapeu- into account concomitant MS
	• Mode of delivery: S	Seminars delivered in groups of 4 - 5 people lasting 1 hour 30 minutes
	• Schedule: 5 lessons of its treatment for	s per week. An additional seminar on tobacco dependence and modern methods smokers. Physical training daily for 30 days
	• Tailoring: exercises	took into account concomitant MS
	Comparator detail:	
	• Usual care, standa	d COPD therapy
	Setting: not reported	ed
	<ul> <li>Provider: not report</li> </ul>	ted
	<ul> <li>Materials/method:</li> </ul>	standard treatment according to the GOLD recommendations (2013 revision)
	<ul> <li>Mode of delivery: N</li> </ul>	IA
	<ul> <li>Schedule: NA</li> </ul>	
	• Tailoring: NA	
Outcomes	<b>Outcomes measured</b> : Waist circumference, BMI, systolic and diastolic arterial pressure, level fast- ing blood glucose and 2 hours after an oral glucose load (oral glucose tolerance test - PTTG), choles- terol HDL and LDL, triglycerides Dov (TG); assessment of the severity of COPD using the computer pro- gramme "Management system for medical and diagnostic stastic process in patients with bronchial asthma and COPD (Pulmosys) (using the number of exacerbations, emergency medical calls, and hos- pitalisations during the last 12 months), FVC (% predicted), VC (% predicted) FEV1 (% predicted), FEV1/ FVC (% predicted), peak volumetric velocity - PIC (% predicted), the maximum space velocity measured after exhalation of the first 75, 50 and 25% FVC 75, 50 and 25 (% predicted), post-bronchodilator FEV1, mMRC Dyspnoea questionnaire; CCQ; CAT; SGRQ; 6MWD	
Notes	Funding: not reported	
ltem	Authors' judgement	Support for judgement
Random sequence genera- tion (selection bias)	Unclear	Quote: "Using random numbers"
Allocation concealment (selection bias)	Unclear	no information
Tailored or adapted interventio	ns for adults with chronic o	obstructive pulmonary disease and at least one other long-term condition: a 53

Tailored or adapted interventions for adults with chronic obstructive pulmonary disease and at least one other long-term condition: a mixed methods review (Review)



## Budnevskiy 2015 (Continued)

Blinding of participants and personnel (perfor- mance bias)	No	Unblinded
Blinding of outcome as- sessment (detection bias)	Unclear	No information
Incomplete outcome data (attrition bias)	Unclear	No information. It was not clear from the translation how many people com- pleted the study
Selective reporting (re- porting bias)	Unclear	For hospitalisations and ED visits, only the mean for the intervention group was reported. Spirometry was stated as no significant difference only. (Note that we did not contact the authors to request this information)
Other bias	Yes	None noted

## EUCTR2010-021412-42-GB

Study characteristics	
Methods	Intervention assignment: randomised
	Study design: parallel
	Blinding: open-label
	Trial duration: 4 weeks
	Recruitment setting: 1 hospital in London, UK
Participants	<b>Population</b> : 63 people with COPD and lung cancer randomised (inhaler optimisation = 32 ; active con- trol = 31)
	Baseline characteristics:
	<ul> <li>Age (median, range): inhaler optimisation = 68 (59 to 75), usual care = 67 (61 to 71)</li> <li>% male: inhaler optimisation = 34, active control = 38</li> <li>COPD severity: not reported in either treatment group</li> <li>Ethnicity: not reported in either treatment group</li> <li>Pack years: not reported in either treatment group</li> <li>Current smoker (n): inhaler optimisation = 4/32, active control = 8/31</li> <li>% anxiety: not reported in either treatment group</li> <li>% depression: not reported in either treatment group</li> <li>Dyspnoea (median, range): inhaler optimisation EORTC QLQ-C30: 38.9 (33.3 to 44.4), active control = EORTC QLQ-C30: 33.3 (22.2 to 55.6)</li> <li>6MWT (median, range): inhaler optimisation = 375 (325 to 450); active control = 396.5 (333 to 450)</li> <li>% withdrawal: 0 in both groups</li> <li>Medications: not reported in either treatment group</li> </ul>
	<b>Inclusion criteria</b> : Men or women aged > 35 years; diagnosis of lung cancer (Non-small cell lung can- cer, small cell lung cancer and mesothelioma) and COPD; subjective dyspnoea (breathlessness) of VAS score ≥ 4
	<b>Exclusion criteria</b> : Involvement in any other studies of breathlessness; reversible causes of breathless- ness; patients receiving radiotherapy, chemotherapy, biological therapy or surgery. Or with a plan to begin these treatments within 4 weeks; current use of bronchodilators either inhaled or oral (amino- phylline, methylxanthines) except for short-acting bronchodilators; recent change to OCS therapy

# Tailored or adapted interventions for adults with chronic obstructive pulmonary disease and at least one other long-term condition: a mixed methods review (Review)

#### EUCTR2010-021412-42-GB (Continued)

dose (within 1 week of randomisation); current use of beta-blockers for any reason; current use of anti-cholinergic-containing drugs; current use of potent CYP30 inhibitors (ritonavir, ketoconazole, itraconazole); patients with the following conditions: asthma, severe cardiovascular disorders (myocardial infarction within 6 week), heart rhythm abnormalities, thyrotoxicosis, uncorrected hypokalaemia, glaucoma, prostate problems, patients with difficulty passing urine, renal failure, TB (current or previous); pregnancy; patients with hypersensitivity to any of the study drugs, lactose allergy

Interventions	Intervention detail:			
	Inhaler optimisation and best supportive care			
	Setting: outpatient			
	• Provider:			
	• Materials/method: Evohaler 100 μg, Spiriva 18 mg via Handihaler, fluticasone propionate 500 μg			
	Mode of delivery: inhaler			
	• Schedule: Evohaler 2 puffs 4 times a day, Spiriva once daily, fluticasone propionate 2 times a day			
	• <b>Tailoring:</b> The study design took into account the possible poor prognosis of people with lung cancer. Therefore it was decided a priori that the intervention group would be treated with maximum inhaled therapy rather than the stepwise approach suggested by the British Thoracic Society and similar or- ganisations			
	Comparator detail:			
	<ul> <li>Active control, best supportive care (i.e. usual care)</li> <li>Setting: outpatient</li> <li>Provider:</li> </ul>			
	Mode of delivery: inhaler			
	• Schedule: Opiate-naïve participants 10 mg/5 mL solution to take 2.5 mg as required every 4 hours, participants on regular opioids prescribed 10 mg/5 mL every 4 hours			
	Tailoring: Participants will have no alterations to their current COPD management or no intervention     if previously not diagnosed with COPD			
Outcomes	Primary outcomes measured: VAS for dyspnoea			
	Secondary outcomes measured: 6MWT, FEV1, QoL, physical activity (questionnaire)			
Notes	Funding: The Royal Marsden NHS Foundation trust			

Item	Authors' judgement	Support for judgement
Random sequence genera- tion (selection bias)	Unclear	No further information
Allocation concealment (selection bias)	Unclear	No further information
Blinding of participants and personnel (perfor- mance bias)	No	Open-label study
Blinding of outcome as- sessment (detection bias)	No	Open-label study

Tailored or adapted interventions for adults with chronic obstructive pulmonary disease and at least one other long-term condition: a mixed methods review (Review)

## EUCTR2010-021412-42-GB (Continued)

Incomplete outcome data (attrition bias)	Yes	No participants withdrew from the study treatment
Selective reporting (re- porting bias)	Yes	Study protocol was found on the European trials registry, but no publication found
Other bias	Yes	None noted

## Gottlieb 2020

Study characteristics
-----------------------

Methods	Intervention assignment: randomised
	Study design: parallel
	Blinding: open-label
	Trial duration: 25 weeks
	Recruitment setting: 1 large University Hospital in the capital region of Denmark
Participants	<b>Population</b> : 114 people with COPD and lung or head/neck cancer randomised (management = 57 ; usu- al care = 57)
	Baseline characteristics:
	<ul> <li>Age (mean): management = 67.8 (SD 8.3), usual care = 67.2 (SD 8.1)</li> <li>% male: management = 58, usual care = 69</li> <li>COPD severity: Mild to severe</li> <li>Ethnicity: not reported in either treatment group</li> <li>Pack years: management = 42, usual care = 43</li> <li>Current smoker (n): management = 16; usual care = 11</li> <li>% anxiety: management = anxiety/depressions 3.5, usual care = anxiety/depressions 3.5</li> <li>% depression: management = anxiety/depressions 3.5, usual care = anxiety/depressions 3.5</li> <li>Dyspnoea (mean): management = 37.5 (SD 29.9), usual care = 27.5 (SD 29.0)</li> <li>6MWT (mean): not reported in either treatment group</li> <li>% withdrawal: management = 28.1, usual care = 33.3</li> <li>Medications: not reported in either treatment group</li> <li>Inclusion criteria: newly-diagnosed patients with lung and head/neck cancer; diagnosed with COPD at screening</li> <li>Exclusion criteria: Patients who were planned to have short treatment duration (less than 1 month)</li> </ul>
Interventions	Intervention detail:
	<ul> <li>management, optimising COPD treatment</li> <li>Setting: outpatient clinic, oncological department</li> <li>Provider: pulmonary physician</li> <li>Materials/method: 2 visits at 12 and 24 weeks in an outpatient clinic established at the oncological department and staffed with a pulmonary physician, where the adjustment of COPD treatment was considered</li> <li>Mode of delivery: dialogue with the participants - any need for changes in the COPD medication was assessed by the physician and discussed with the participant</li> <li>Schedule: 2 visits at 12 and 24 weeks</li> </ul>

Tailored or adapted interventions for adults with chronic obstructive pulmonary disease and at least one other long-term condition: a mixed methods review (Review)



Gottlieb 2020 (Continued)	
	Tailoring: adjustment of COPD treatment was considered at each visit

## Comparator detail:

- usual care
- Setting: NA
- Provider: NA
- Materials/method: Continued current, if any, COPD treatment and follow-up
- Mode of delivery: NA
- Schedule: NA
- Tailoring: NA

Outcomes	Primary outcomes measured: CAT-score
	Secondary outcomes measured: QoL (EORTC, CAT), mortality
Notes	Funding: Boehringer-Ingelheim Danmark A/S [071-SOP-059-00481_RD01]

ltem	Authors' judgement	Support for judgement
Random sequence genera- tion (selection bias)	Yes	Quote: "Randomization was stratified to ensure equal distribution of sex, age, LC and HNC between the control group and the intervention group."
Allocation concealment (selection bias)	Unclear	ARRACT software used
Blinding of participants and personnel (perfor- mance bias)	No	open-label
Blinding of outcome as- sessment (detection bias)	Unclear	No information
Incomplete outcome data (attrition bias)	No	Quote: "The relatively large loss to follow-up is also of concern in the control group compared to the intervention group (33% versus 28% respectively), since this can possibly introduce an information bias, meaning that those who are most ill (or most well) are also most likely not to return the schedules or show up for an appointment"
Selective reporting (re- porting bias)	Unclear	No study protocol available
Other bias	Yes	None noted

## McNamara 2013b

Study characteristics	
Methods	Intervention assignment: randomised
	Study design: parallel
	Blinding: Single-blind
	Trial duration: 8 weeks

Tailored or adapted interventions for adults with chronic obstructive pulmonary disease and at least one other long-term condition: a mixed methods review (Review)

58

McNamara 2013b (Continued)	Recruitment setting: 1 Australian tertiary public hospital			
Participants	<b>Population</b> : 53 people with COPD and 1 or more physical comorbidities randomised (water-based exercise training = 18; land-based exercise training = 20, usual care = 15)			
	Baseline characteristics:			
	• Age (mean): water-based exercise training = 72 (SD 10); land-based exercise training = 73 (SD 7), usual care = 70 (SD 9)			
	<ul> <li>% male: water-based exercise training = 28; land-based exercise training = 50, usual care = 47</li> <li>COPD severity: not reported</li> </ul>			
	Ethnicity: not reported in either treatment group			
	Pack years: not reported in either treatment group			
	• Current smoker (n): Water-based exercise training = 3; Land-based exercise training = 1, usual care = 2			
	% anxiety: not reported in either treatment group			
	<ul> <li>% depression: not reported in either treatment group</li> </ul>			
	Dyspnoea (mean): not reported in either treatment group			
	6MWT (mean): not reported in either treatment group			
	<ul> <li>% withdrawal: Water-based exercise training = 16.7; Land-based exercise training = 25.0, usual care = 0</li> </ul>			
	<ul> <li>Medications: not reported in either treatment group</li> </ul>			
	<b>Inclusion criteria</b> : Confirmed diagnosis of COPD according to GOLD criteria (FEV1/FVC < 70%) that was in a stable phase and the presence of 1or more physical comorbidities (including musculoskeletal conditions affecting lumbar spine or lower limbs, 1 or more lower limb joint replacement restricting mobility and/or range of motion, or peripheral vascular disease, neurological conditions such as a stroke or obesity with BMI ≥ 32 kg/m <sup>2</sup> ). Diagnosis of the physical comorbidity was based on medical referral, patient history and physical examination. People using supplemental oxygen were included			
	<b>Exclusion criteria</b> : Unstable cardiac disease, contraindications to water-based therapy, such as uncon- trollable incontinence or open wounds, had completed pulmonary rehabilitation in the past 12 months or were currently attending an exercise programme, had cognitive decline or were unable to under- stand oral and written English			
Interventions	Intervention detail:			
	Water-based exercise training			
	Setting: hospital hydrotherapy pool			
	Provider: physiotherapist			
	<ul> <li>Materials/method: Exercise in hydrotherapy pool (depth graduating from 1.1 m to 1.6 m; length 18 m; width 6 m) with water temperature of 34 °C, air temperature of 30 °C and relative air humidity of 30%. Exercise routine included warm-up, lower limb endurance, upper limb endurance, and cool down</li> </ul>			
	<ul> <li>Mode of delivery: Supervised exercise led by experienced physiotherapist</li> </ul>			
	Schedule: 3 x 60-min sessions a week			
	• <b>Tailoring:</b> Participants encouraged to exercise at an intensity rating of 3 to 5 on the modified Borg scale for dyspnoea and perceived exertion. Training intensity was measured 3 times during each exercise session and the mean value recorded. If the intensity reported was below 3, participants were encouraged to increase their intensity. Participants were able to choose the most comfortable level of water immersion in the standing position to perform most of the exercises			
	Intervention detail:			
	Land-based exercise training			
	Setting: hospital gymnasium			
	Provider: physiotherapist			
	Materials/method: Exercise in a temperature-controlled hospital gymnasium. Exercise routine in- cluded warm-up, lower limb endurance, upper limb endurance, and cool down			
	• more of actively. Supervised exercise led by experienced physiotherapist			

Tailored or adapted interventions for adults with chronic obstructive pulmonary disease and at least one other long-term condition: a mixed methods review (Review)

59



Trusted evidence. Informed decisions. Better health.

McNamara 2013b (Continued)				
	Schedule: 3 x 60-min sessions a week			
	• <b>Tailoring:</b> Participants encouraged to exercise at an intensity rating of 3 to 5 on the modified Borg scale for dyspnoea and perceived exertion. Training intensity was measured 3 times during each exercise session and the mean value recorded. If the intensity reported was below 3, participants were encouraged to increase their intensity			
	Comparator detail:			
	Usual care			
	Setting: NA			
	Provider: NA			
	• <b>Materials/method:</b> Usual medical care and no exercise training. They were asked not to alter their exercise level over the study period			
	Mode of delivery: NA			
	Schedule: NA			
	Tailoring: NA			
Outcomes <b>Primary outcomes measured</b> : Endurance exercise capacity measured by ESWT				
	Secondary outcomes measured: FEV1 and FVC, DLCO, static lung volumes by body plethysmography, MIP and MEP, self-paced 6MWT, ISWT, CRDQ, HADS			
Notes	Funding: Physiotherapy Research Foundation (grant number S07-011)			

ltem	Authors' judgement	Support for judgement
Random sequence genera- tion (selection bias)	Yes	Randomised by an investigator external to the study using a web-based com- puter-generated sequence (www.randomization.com). Randomisation was stratified according to the limiting factor in the 6MWT (that is, breathlessness or physical comorbidity) and BMI (≥ 32 kg/m <sup>2</sup> )
Allocation concealment (selection bias)	Yes	Concealed allocation was achieved using opaque envelopes
Blinding of participants and personnel (perfor- mance bias)	No	Due to the nature of the exercise interventions, it was not possible to blind the therapist or participants to their allocation
Blinding of outcome as- sessment (detection bias)	Yes	This study was a prospective randomised controlled trial with assessor blind- ing. However this is still at risk of bias especially for self-reported outcomes such as risk of bias, because the participants are not blinded
Incomplete outcome data (attrition bias)	No	25% dropped out of the land-based exercise, and 16% from the water-based exercise
Selective reporting (re- porting bias)	Yes	Protocol available on registry website. Outcomes reported as planned
Other bias	Yes	Compliance with exercise group attendance was high, with participants allo- cated to the water-based exercise training group attending a mean of 21 (SD 2) sessions out of a total of 24 sessions and participants in the land-based ex- ercise training group attending 19 (SD 4) out of 24 sessions, with no statistical difference in attendance between groups

Tailored or adapted interventions for adults with chronic obstructive pulmonary disease and at least one other long-term condition: a mixed methods review (Review)

## Middlemass 2017

Study characteristics	
Methods	Study design: nested qualitative study (linked to Walker 2018)
	Method: face-to-face interviews
	Duration: 39 weeks. This is how long the participant had the intervention
	<b>Setting:</b> participants' home (multi-country study: Italy, Estonia, Spain, Sweden, Norway, Slovenia and 2 UK sites)
Participants	Population: 21 participants with COPD
	Baseline characteristics:
	<ul> <li>Age (range): 60 to 90 years</li> <li>Co-morbidities: 3 participants had severe COPD/heart condition. No other information provided about the 21 participants</li> </ul>
	<b>Sampling/inclusion criteria:</b> participant in the intervention arm of the RCT. The inclusion criteria for the RCT were: not reported, but all with COPD grade II and above with COPD exacerbations and/or hospitalisation in the previous year, comorbidity such as CHF, SDB, ≥ 10 pack years (information from clinicaltrials.gov), participated in the pilot and RCT, aged ≥ 60 years
Interventions	<b>Research aims:</b> To explore perceptions and experiences of older patients with long-term conditions using telemonitoring equipment at home; to compare the results with HITAM, and then to apply HITAM to home telemonitoring for this group of participants to see if the model could be used to help with increasing the uptake of HIT as it has not been done in this age group previously
	<b>Data collection:</b> Interviews were conducted after installation of equipment and then at the end of the study by 2 experienced interviewers (also the researchers). Post-installation interviews were conducted via phone, shorter (20 to 30 mins). The last interview was conducted in the participants' home (about 60 min). Interviews were audiotaped and transcribed by researchers. All information was anonymised
	<b>Analysis:</b> framework analysis. Nvivo 10 software was used to manage and analyse data. Three re- searchers read the transcripts repeatedly to become familiar with the data. Two researchers indepen- dently coded the interviews line by line using HITAM guidance. Significant and meaningful subthemes and data fragments were captured using open codes. Consensus about subthemes was reached on dis- cussion and quotes were referenced in a table and linked to text. Synthesis, mapping and interpreta- tion were transferred to a HITAM map, and where themes did not match, the model was amended to fit the additional theme
	Theoretical framework: HITAM
	Reflexivity: not reported
Outcomes	<b>Themes</b> : Health status, beliefs and concerns; HIT reliability; HIT self-efficacy; perceived ease of use (mediating process); perceived usefulness (mediating process); Factors affecting perceived usefulness – lack of interactivity; Factors affecting perceived usefulness - appropriateness and handling of clinical alerts; Attitude towards HIT and behavioural intention; Actual behaviour change in terms of self-management and changes in health care utilisation
Notes	<b>Ethical approval:</b> Ethical approval was obtained for the CHROMED study from East Cambridge Ethics Committee (NRES 13/EE0065) and University of Lincoln Research Ethics Committee in 2013. NHS Re- search Governance approvals from the health organisations involved in the study were also acquired prior to commencement. All participants recruited to the CHROMED study also gave informed written consent to take part in 2 taped interviews to ascertain their views of using the equipment should they be allocated in that arm of the study
	<b>Funding</b> : Funding for the CHROMED study was secured for the RCT from the EU Seventh Framework Programme. Total EU Contribution EUR2,503,340.02 across all study sites. Lead Partner TESAN in Italy

Tailored or adapted interventions for adults with chronic obstructive pulmonary disease and at least one other long-term condition: a mixed methods review (Review)



Middlemass 2017 (Continued)

Risk of bias: see Table 1

Study characteristics	
Methods	Intervention assignment: randomised
	Study design: parallel
	Blinding: open-label
	Trial duration: 52 weeks
	Recruitment setting: 2 community teaching hospitals in Canada
Participants	<b>Population</b> : 475 people with COPD and ≥ 2 comorbidities randomised (case management = 237 ; usual care = 238)
	Baseline characteristics:
	<ul> <li>Age (mean): case management = 71 (SD 9.2), usual care = 71 (SD 9.7)</li> </ul>
	<ul> <li>% male: case management = 50, usual care = 44</li> </ul>
	COPD severity: Moderate to severe
	Ethnicity: not reported in either treatment group
	<ul> <li>Pack years: not reported in either treatment group</li> </ul>
	<ul> <li>% Current smoker: case management = 23, usual care = 26</li> </ul>
	<ul> <li>% anxiety: case management = 6, usual care = 7</li> </ul>
	<ul> <li>% depression: case management = 17, usual care = 20</li> </ul>
	Dyspnoea (mean, SD): not reported in either treatment group
	6MWT (mean, SD): not reported in either treatment group
	• % withdrawal: case management = 12.7, usual care = 197.7
	<ul> <li>Medications: Most common medications were inhaled bronchodilator (95%), inhaled steroid (91%) and anti-hypertensives (65%)</li> </ul>
	<b>Inclusion criteria</b> : COPD diagnosis according to GOLD criteria and published Canadian reference values confirmed by a respirologist or internist, ≥ 50 years of age, ≥ 1 ED visit or hospital admission for COPD exacerbation in previous 12 months, and ≥ 2 prognostically-important COPD-associated comorbidities (as defined by GOLD and Canadian Thoracic Society Guidelines) identified via medical record screening
	<b>Exclusion criteria</b> :Primary diagnosis of asthma; terminal diagnosis; dementia; uncontrolled psychi- atric illness; inability to understand English; no telephone access; inability to attend follow-up; resident in a long-term care facility; enrolled in the provincial telehome monitoring programme; and no family physician
Interventions	Intervention detail:
	<ul> <li>Case management, multicomponent, case manager-led exacerbation prevention/management model (plus usual care)</li> </ul>
	Setting: outpatient
	Provider: case-manager
	<ul> <li>Materials/method: education session based on Living Well with COPD, telephone consultations, on- going communication with physician, and hospital specialist including respirologist</li> </ul>
	<ul> <li>Mode of delivery: education session at enrolment, telephone consultations</li> </ul>
	• <b>Schedule:</b> education: 1 x 40-min session; telephone consultations: 12 x weekly and then monthly for a subsequent 9 months (21 sessions)

Tailored or adapted interventions for adults with chronic obstructive pulmonary disease and at least one other long-term condition: a mixed methods review (Review)



Rose 2018 (Continued)		
	<ul> <li>Tailoring: individua and management o</li> </ul>	alised care and action plans for COPD exacerbation recognition, self-management f comorbidities
	Comparator detail:	
	<ul> <li>Usual care</li> <li>Setting: outpatient</li> <li>Provider: NA</li> <li>Materials/method: educational materia</li> <li>Mode of delivery: N</li> <li>Schedule: 3 x mont</li> <li>Tailoring: an individ</li> </ul>	; outpatient clinic visits, referral to a hospital rehab programme, action planning, als NA hly clinic visits dualised action plan. Smokers referred to smoking cessation resources
Outcomes	Primary outcomes me Secondary outcomes time to death, COPD se HADS, change in COPD adherence to chronic o za and pneumonia vac tion	easured: Number of ED presentations measured: hospital admission rates, number of hospitalised days over 1 year, everity measured by the BODE index, change in HRQoL using EQ5D, SGRQ and self-efficacy scale, patient satisfaction using the CSQ8, Caregiver Impact Scale, lisease management measures, smoking cessation status (if applicable), influen- cination, up-to-date documented action plan, electronic medication reconcilia-
Notes	Funding: Building Brid Term Care. CIHR New I	lges to Integrate Care (BRIDGES) program, funded by Ministry of Health and Long nvestigator Award
ltem	Authors' judgement	Support for judgement
Random sequence genera- tion (selection bias)	Yes	Randomisation was performed according to a centralised, computer-generat- ed 1:1 randomisation schedule stratified by study site
Allocation concealment (selection bias)	Unclear	Only treating respirologists were not aware of the allocation. There was no report of allocation concealment, open-label study
Blinding of participants and personnel (perfor-	No	Because of the nature of the intervention and co-location of research staff within the respiratory clinics, healthcare providers, participants and out-

Allocation concealment (selection bias)	Unclear	Only treating respirologists were not aware of the allocation. There was no report of allocation concealment, open-label study
Blinding of participants and personnel (perfor- mance bias)	No	Because of the nature of the intervention and co-location of research staff within the respiratory clinics, healthcare providers, participants and out- come assessors were not blinded, although treating respirologists were not in- formed of study allocation
Blinding of outcome as- sessment (detection bias)	No	Because of the nature of the intervention and co-location of research staff within the respiratory clinics, healthcare providers, participants and out- come assessors were not blinded, although treating respirologists were not in- formed of study allocation
Incomplete outcome data (attrition bias)	Yes	Premature terminations low in intervention (3%) and control (2%) groups. 3 people (1%) in the control group withdrew. Authors state missing data were an issue for secondary outcome data at 52 weeks
Selective reporting (re- porting bias)	Yes	Comment: outcomes specified in NCT record were reported. Quote: "we are unable to compare the frequency of exacerbation that did not result in an emergency department visit or hospitalisation in the control arm as these participants were not contacted weekly or monthly to collect these data." Comment - the issue with the exacerbation was made transparent

Tailored or adapted interventions for adults with chronic obstructive pulmonary disease and at least one other long-term condition: a mixed methods review (Review)



## Rose 2018 (Continued)

Other bias

Yes

None noted

Walker 2018	
Study characteristics	5
Methods	Intervention assignment: randomised
	Study design: parallel
	Blinding: open-label
	Trial duration: 39 weeks
	Recruitment setting: 6 sites in 5 countries (Spain, United Kingdom, Slovenia, Estonia, and Sweden)
Participants	<b>Population</b> : 312 people with COPD and ≥ 1 non-pulmonary comorbidities randomised (telemonitoring = 154; usual care = 158)
	Baseline characteristics:
	<ul> <li>Age (median, interquartile range): telemonitoring = 71 (66.0 to 75.8), usual care = 71 (65.3 to 76.0)</li> <li>% male: telemonitoring = 66, usual care = 66</li> <li>COPD severity: Mild to very severe</li> <li>Ethnicity: not reported in either treatment group</li> <li>Pack years (median): telemonitoring = 40, usual care = 40;</li> <li>% anxiety: not reported in either treatment group</li> <li>% depression: not reported in either treatment group</li> <li>Øw depression: not reported in either treatment group</li> <li>Multiple (mean, SD): not reported in either treatment group</li> <li>% withdrawal: telemonitoring = 29.2, usual care = 22.8</li> <li>Medications: not reported in either treatment group</li> <li>% discreteria: People aged 60 years or older, with a diagnosis of COPD GOLD grade II or higher, a history of acute exacerbation with or without hospitalisation in the previous 12 months, a smoking history of ≥ 10 pack-years, and 1 or more documented non-pulmonary chronic conditions including CHF, IHD, hypertension, hyperlipidaemia, and clinically significant sleep-disordered breathing. Participants were clinically stable, with at least 4 weeks elapsed since their last exacerbation</li> </ul>
Interventions	Intervention detail:
	<ul> <li>Telemonitoring, and phone calls</li> <li>Setting: outpatient</li> <li>Provider: study nurse</li> <li>Materials/method: CHROMED monitoring platform: a device that measured within-breath respiratory mechanical impedance using FOT, touch-screen computer and mobile modem. People with CHF used a wearable device to assess blood pressure, oxygen saturation, heart rate, and body temperature (WristClinic; Medic4All) over a 4-minute period</li> <li>Mode of delivery: wearable device</li> <li>Schedule: NA</li> <li>Tailoring: An algorithm-generated respiratory alerts if a trend of worsening was detected. The alert triggered contact with the study nurse to determine the participant's clinical status and whether any</li> </ul>

Tailored or adapted interventions for adults with chronic obstructive pulmonary disease and at least one other long-term condition: a mixed methods review (Review)

64



Trusted evidence. Informed decisions. Better health.

## Walker 2018 (Continued)

Outcomes

intervention was required. Technical alerts were issued if no data were recorded for more than 2 days. When this occurred, the local site contacted the study patient

#### **Comparator detail:**

- Usual care, details
- Setting: outpatient
- Provider: NA
- Materials/method: According to local practice
- Mode of delivery: NA
- Schedule: NA
- Tailoring: NA

#### Primary outcomes measured: TTFH and change in the EQ-5D utility index score

**Secondary outcomes measured:** Moderate exacerbation rate, hospitalisation, and final scores of the CAT, PHQ-9, and MLHFQ questionnaires, cost-utility analysis

Notes	Funding: European Commission grant (no. 306093)
-------	---

Item	Authors' judgement	Support for judgement
Random sequence genera- tion (selection bias)	Yes	Quote: " to intervention or control groups (1:1) using a concealed comput- er-generated randomisation sequence with a four element block design and stratified on a clinical centre basis. "
Allocation concealment (selection bias)	Yes	Quote: " to intervention or control groups (1:1) using a concealed comput- er-generated randomisation sequence with a four element block design and stratified on a clinical centre basis. "
Blinding of participants and personnel (perfor- mance bias)	No	Not described, but not possible
Blinding of outcome as- sessment (detection bias)	Yes	Data about healthcare resource use were obtained and analysed independent- ly of the clinical study team
Incomplete outcome data (attrition bias)	No	High and unbalanced rates - 29% withdrew from intervention group and 23% withdrew from control group. 5% of participants dropped out because they could not use the equipment
Selective reporting (re- porting bias)	Yes	Consistent with protocol. Hospital admissions from clinical records
Other bias	Yes	None noted

6MWT: six-minute walk test; 6MWD: six-minute walk distance; BMI: body mass index; BODE: Body-mass index, airflow Obstruction, Dyspnea, and Exercise; CAT: COPD assessment test; CCQ: Clinical COPD Questionnaire; CHF: coronary heart disease; COPD: chronic obstructive pulmonary disease; CRQ: chronic respiratory questionnaire; CSES: COPD Self-Efficacy Scale; CSQ8: Client Satisfaction Questionnaire-8; CVD: cardiovascular disease; DLCO: Diffusing Capacity Of The Lungs For Carbon Monoxide; ED: emergency department; EORCT QLQ-c30: European Organization for Research and Treatment of Cancer core quality of life questionnaire; ESWT: endurance shuttle walk test; FEV1: forced expiratory volume in one second; FFMI: fat-free mass index; FiO2: fraction of inspired oxygen; FVC: forced vital capacity; GOLD: Global Initiative for Chronic Obstructive Lung Disease; GP: general practitioner; HADS: Hospital Anxiety and Depression Scale; HDL: high-density lipoprotein; HITAM: Health Information Technology Acceptance Model; ICFS: Identity-Consequence Fatigue Score; ICS: inhaled corticosteroid; ILD: interstitial lung disease; ISWT: incremental shuttle walk test; LABA: long-acting beta<sub>2</sub>-agonist; LAMA: long-acting muscarinic antagonist; LDL: low-density lipoprotein; MEP: maximal expiratory pressure; MIP: maximal inspiratory pressure; MLHFQ:

Tailored or adapted interventions for adults with chronic obstructive pulmonary disease and at least one other long-term condition: a mixed methods review (Review)



Minnesota Living with Heart Failure Questionnaire; MMSE: mini-mental state examination; mMRC: modified Medical Research Council questionnaire; MS: metabolic syndrome; NA: not applicable; OCS: oral corticosteroid; PaO2: partial pressure of oxygen; PASE: Physical Activity Profile; PHQ-9: Patient Health Questionnaire-9; PIC: Program of Integrated Care; PIH: Partners in Health scale; PPTG: pedunculopontine tegmental nucleus; QoL: quality of life; RCT: randomised controlled trial; SABA: short-acting beta<sub>2</sub>-agonist; SDB: sleep-disordered breathing; SGRQ: St George's Respiratory questionnaire; TB: tuberculosis; UC: usual care; VAS: visual analogue scale; VC: vital capacity.

## Characteristics of excluded studies [ordered by study ID]

Study	Reason for exclusion
ACTRN12608000348358	Wrong intervention - treating the co-morbidity
ACTRN12613000187741	Wrong population - not everyone has COPD
ACTRN12614001186640	Wrong population - not everyone has COPD
ACTRN12614001187639	Wrong population - not everyone has COPD
ACTRN12616000607471	Wrong population - not everyone has COPD
ACTRN12617001285347	Wrong population - not everyone has COPD
Ageev 2010	Wrong intervention - treating the co-morbidity
Aisanov 2004	Literature review
Ali 2018	Wrong population - not everyone has COPD
Andell 2019	Wrong population - not everyone has COPD
Ansari 2013	Wrong intervention
Apps 2017	Wrong intervention
Ashton 2017	Wrong population - not everyone has COPD
Barker 2018	Wrong population - not everyone has COPD
Barua 2012	Wrong study design
Bayliss 2016	Wrong patient population
Benzo 2011	Wrong intervention - not COPD management
Bingol 2005	Wrong intervention - not COPD management
Blanck 2018	Wrong patient population
Boeckxstaens 2012	Wrong intervention
Boeckxstaens 2016	Wrong intervention
BohingamuMudiyanselage 2018	Wrong population - not everyone has COPD
Bolieva 2014	Wrong intervention - treating the co-morbidity

Tailored or adapted interventions for adults with chronic obstructive pulmonary disease and at least one other long-term condition: a mixed methods review (Review)



66

Study	Reason for exclusion
Bond 2015	Wrong patient population
Bower 2012	Wrong population - not everyone has COPD
Brien 2016	Wrong intervention
Brusselle 2016	Wrong study design
Bubnova 2016	Wrong intervention - treating the co-morbidity
Burgess 2013	Wrong patient population
Butorov 1999	Wrong intervention - treating the co-morbidity
Camsari 2003	Wrong intervention - treating the co-morbidity
Carlin 2018	Not an RCT - a combined analysis of trials
Cazzola 1998	Wrong intervention - COPD intervention not adapted to the co-morbidity
Cejudo 2014	Wrong population - not everyone has COPD
Centanni 1997	Wrong population - not everyone has COPD
Centanni 2002	Lab test rather than an intervention
Chang 2016	Wrong patient population
Chaplin 2018	Wrong population - not everyone has COPD
Charbek 2018	Wrong study design
Chen 2008	Wrong patient population
Chen 2016	Wrong patient population
ChiCTR1800016955	Wrong intervention
ChiCTR INR 17012648	Wrong intervention - not COPD management
ChiCTR IOR 16007768	Wrong intervention
ChiCTR TRC 12002559	Wrong population - not everyone has COPD
ChiCTR TRC 12002889	Wrong intervention
Cittee 2015	Wrong patient population
Cochrane 2016	Wrong population - comorbidity not an inclusion criteria of the study
Cornford 2000	Wrong intervention
Coventry 2014a	Wrong patient population
Coventry 2014b	Wrong patient population

Tailored or adapted interventions for adults with chronic obstructive pulmonary disease and at least one other long-term condition: a mixed methods review (Review)



67

Study	Reason for exclusion
Cowie 2009	Wrong patient population
CTRI/2012/12/003223	Wrong intervention - treating the co-morbidity
Curry 2006	Wrong patient population
Dahlberg 1992	Wrong population - not everyone has COPD
Davis 2016	Wrong patient population
Davisson 2018	Wrong patient population
Dennis 2017	Wrong patient population
Desveaux 2017	Wrong patient population
Dibao-Dina 2018	Wrong patient population
Disler 2015	Wrong patient population
Disler 2019	Wrong patient population
Doos 2015	Wrong study design
Dorenkamp 2015	Wrong study design
DRKS00000476 2010	Wrong patient population
DRKS00000584	Wrong population - not everyone has COPD
DRKS00005602	Wrong population - not everyone has COPD
Ellison 2012	Wrong patient population
Elwyn 2012	Wrong patient population
Essue 2010	Wrong patient population
Etkind 2017	Wrong study design
EUCTR2004 002216 28 BE	Wrong intervention - treating the co-morbidity
EUCTR2007 007725 46 BG	Wrong intervention - treating the co-morbidity
EUCTR2010 018763 42 GB	Wrong intervention - treating the co-morbidity
EUCTR2010 020917 97 IT	Wrong intervention - treating the co-morbidity
EUCTR2011 003310 17 ES	Wrong intervention - treating the co-morbidity
EUCTR2013 001312 30 IT	Wrong intervention - treating the co-morbidity
EUCTR2017 003551 32 DK	Wrong intervention - treating the co-morbidity
Faul 2009	Wrong population - not everyone has COPD

Tailored or adapted interventions for adults with chronic obstructive pulmonary disease and at least one other long-term condition: a mixed methods review (Review)



68

Study	Reason for exclusion
Fors 2018	Wrong population - not everyone has COPD
Freund 2011	Wrong population - not everyone has COPD
Gale 2015	Wrong intervention
Glasser 2016	Wrong intervention
GlaxoSmithKline 2005	Lab test rather than an intervention
Goodridge 2011	Wrong patient population
Goodridge 2019	Wrong patient population
GorgasTorner 2012	Wrong population - not everyone has COPD
GrigorevaNlu 2013	Wrong intervention - COPD intervention not adapted to the co-morbidity
Grimsmo 2018	Wrong intervention
GSK115805 2012	Wrong intervention - COPD intervention not adapted to the co-morbidity
Gurgun 2013	Muscle wasting is a multisystem consequence of COPD rather than a separate disease
Hannink 2011	Lab test rather than an intervention
Hawkins 2009	Wrong intervention - treating the co-morbidity
Hawkins 2010	Wrong population - not everyone has COPD
Hesselink 2017	Wrong patient population
Hogg 2009	Wrong population - not everyone has COPD
Hohlfeld 2015	Not an RCT - a combined analysis of trials
ISRCTN62025354	Wrong population - not everyone has COPD
Jabbour 2010	Wrong intervention - treating the co-morbidity
Jensen Lise 2016	Wrong patient population
Jerant 2008	Wrong population - not everyone has COPD
Johnson 2016	Wrong intervention - COPD intervention not adapted to the co-morbidity
Jones 2019	Wrong intervention
Jowsey 2009	Wrong patient population
Jowsey 2014	Wrong patient population
Juanes 2018	Wrong population - not everyone has COPD
Kaimakamis 2019	Wrong study design

Tailored or adapted interventions for adults with chronic obstructive pulmonary disease and at least one other long-term condition: a mixed methods review (Review)



Study	Reason for exclusion
Kapella 2011	Wrong intervention - treating the co-morbidity
Kapella 2016	Wrong intervention - treating the co-morbidity
Kaptein 1993	Wrong population - not everyone has COPD
Kayyali 2014	Wrong study design
Kayyali 2016	Wrong study design
Kayyali 2016a	Wrong study design
Kenning 2013	Wrong patient population
Koul 2005	Comment article
Koziolova 2015	Wrong intervention - treating the co-morbidity
Krahnke 2015	Wrong intervention - treating the co-morbidity
Kucukcoskun 2013	Wrong intervention - treating the co-morbidity
Kukes 2003	Wrong intervention - treating the co-morbidity
Lainscak 2011	Wrong intervention - treating the co-morbidity
Lainscak 2013	Wrong intervention - treating the co-morbidity
Lamothe 2006	Wrong patient population
Lang 2019	Wrong patient population
Lanning 2017	Wrong intervention
Lanning 2019	Wrong study design
Laue 2016	Wrong intervention
Lee 2015	Wrong intervention
Lemmens 2011	Wrong patient population
Lenferink 2016	Not an RCT - a combined analysis of trials
Lenferink 2019	Some participants would have had COPD and depression or anxiety as their co-morbidity.
Levine 2018	Wrong population - not everyone has COPD
Lewis 2012	Wrong patient population
Liddy 2008	Wrong population - not everyone has COPD
Lima 2016	Wrong intervention
Lin 1996	Wrong intervention - treating the co-morbidity

 Tailored or adapted interventions for adults with chronic obstructive pulmonary disease and at least one other long-term condition: a
 69

 mixed methods review (Review)
 69



Study	Reason for exclusion
Lin 2017	Wrong intervention - treating the co-morbidity
Lin 2019	Wrong intervention
Man 2016	Wrong population - not everyone has COPD
Mathar 2015	Wrong patient population
Mathar 2017	Wrong intervention
McNamara 2014	Wrong study design
McNamara 2016	Wrong patient population
Mirkovic 2016	Wrong patient population
Mirzaei 2013	Wrong patient population
Mitlehner 1992	Wrong intervention - COPD intervention not adapted to the co-morbidity
Morales-Asencio 2010	Wrong patient population
Morgan 2010	Wrong intervention - treating the co-morbidity
Naz 2019	Wrong study design
NCT00202150	Wrong population - not everyone has COPD
NCT00668408	Wrong intervention - COPD intervention not adapted to the co-morbidity
NCT00730067	Wrong intervention - treating the co-morbidity
NCT00789100	Wrong population - not everyone has COPD
NCT01055405	Wrong intervention - treating the co-morbidity
NCT01627327	Wrong intervention - COPD intervention not adapted to the co-morbidity
NCT01648621	Wrong study design
NCT01691131	Wrong patient population
NCT01862536	Wrong intervention - treating the co-morbidity
NCT01867970a	Wrong population - not everyone has COPD
NCT01867970b	Wrong study design
NCT01892566	Wrong intervention - COPD intervention not adapted to the co-morbidity
NCT01960907	Wrong population - not everyone has COPD
NCT02446769	Wrong intervention - not COPD management
NCT02522637	Wrong patient population

 Tailored or adapted interventions for adults with chronic obstructive pulmonary disease and at least one other long-term condition: a
 70

 mixed methods review (Review)
 70


71

Study	Reason for exclusion
NCT02652559	Wrong patient population
NCT02742597a	Wrong population - not everyone has COPD
NCT02742597b	Wrong study design
NCT02789800	Wrong study design
NCT03387735	Wrong population - not everyone has COPD
NCT03810755	Wrong population - not everyone has COPD
NCT04212676	Wrong patient population
Nekrasov 2019	Wrong study design
NTR1839	Trial terminated shortly after registration
NTR4452	Wrong study design
Ogunbayo 2017	Wrong intervention
Onorati 2011	Wrong intervention - treating the co-morbidity
Orr 2019	Wrong population - not everyone has COPD
Overlack 1994	Wrong intervention - treating the co-morbidity
Paget 2010	Wrong patient population
Paleev 1989	Wrong intervention - treating the co-morbidity
Pascual 2011	Wrong population - not everyone has COPD
Patel 2016	Wrong patient population
Pinnock 2009	Wrong study design
Pommer 2012	Wrong population - not everyone has COPD
Pooler 2005	Wrong study design
Pooler 2014	Wrong study design
Porta 2002	Wrong population - not everyone has COPD
Porter 2016	Wrong patient population
Rabinowitz 1999	Wrong patient population
Ream 1997	Wrong patient population
Rijken 2016	Wrong study design
Ringe 1987	Wrong intervention - treating the co-morbidity

Tailored or adapted interventions for adults with chronic obstructive pulmonary disease and at least one other long-term condition: a mixed methods review (Review)



72

Study	Reason for exclusion
Ritchie 2016	Wrong population - not everyone has COPD
Røsstad 2013	Wrong study design
Salem 2014	Wrong intervention - treating the co-morbidity
Sandelowsky 2014	Wrong study design
Sandelowsky 2016	Wrong study design
Savaria 2017	Wrong study design
Schaarup 2016	Wrong study design
Schinaman 2005	Wrong intervention
Schroedl 2013	Wrong study design
Seto 2017	Wrong population - not everyone has COPD
Sevostyanova 2016	Wrong intervention
Simon 2014	Literature review
Simpson 2010	Wrong patient population
Sin 2007	Wrong intervention - COPD intervention not adapted to the co-morbidity
Smyrnova 2018	Wrong intervention - COPD intervention not adapted to the co-morbidity
Sobnath 2016	Wrong study design
Solaligue 2014	Wrong patient population
Spence 2008	Wrong study design
Stachel 2017	Wrong patient population
Statsenko 2014	Wrong intervention - treating the co-morbidity
Sugawara 2010	Wrong patient population
Summit 2016	Wrong intervention - COPD intervention not adapted to the co-morbidity
Tavazzi 2013	Wrong intervention - treating the co-morbidity
Taylor 2015	Wrong study design
Thorpe 2014	Wrong study design
Tocci 2015	Wrong study design
Toms 2002	Wrong patient population
Tsvetkova 2007	Wrong intervention - treating the co-morbidity

Tailored or adapted interventions for adults with chronic obstructive pulmonary disease and at least one other long-term condition: a mixed methods review (Review)



Study	Reason for exclusion
Uddin 2014	Wrong study design
UMIN000027228	Wrong intervention - COPD intervention not adapted to the co-morbidity
UMIN000033212	Wrong intervention
Van der Woude 2005	Wrong intervention - treating the co-morbidity
Van Eijk 2004	Wrong patient population
Van Mourik 2012	Wrong population - not everyone has COPD
Walters 2012	Wrong patient population
Weldam 2015	Wrong patient population
Weldam 2017	Wrong patient population
Wodskou 2014	Wrong patient population
Woo 2009	Wrong population - not everyone has COPD
Wortz 2012	Wrong patient population
Yen 2011	Wrong study design
Young 2011	Wrong patient population
Zakrisson 2010	Wrong patient population
Zhou 2014	Wrong intervention - treating the co-morbidity
Zujovic 2017	Wrong population - not everyone has COPD
Zulkarneev 2012	Wrong intervention - not COPD management

# Characteristics of studies awaiting classification [ordered by study ID]

# Boer 2011

Study design	Randomised, parallel, controlled trial
Population	COPD patients GOLD stage 3 - 4 and comorbid disease
Intervention	Case management care versus usual care
Outcomes	Hospital admissions, exacerbations, health status
Notes	Reported as a conference abstract only. More information required

Tailored or adapted interventions for adults with chronic obstructive pulmonary disease and at least one other long-term condition: a mixed methods review (Review)



#### Imanalieva 2016

Study design	Randomised, parallel, controlled trial
Population	Patients with COPD and essential hypertension
Intervention	Telephone patient education versus control
Outcomes	Hospital admissions, 6-minute walk test, quality of life
Notes	Reported as a conference abstract only. More information required

#### NCT04350541

Study design	-
Population	Heart failure and COPD
Intervention	-
Outcomes	quantitative outcomes (see trial registry record)
Notes	Ongoing study. More information required to assess eligibility

# Characteristics of ongoing studies [ordered by study ID]

#### Ansari 2017

Study name	Ansari 2017
Starting date	2017
Contact information	Sameera Ansari, School of Public Health and Community Medicine, UNSW Medicine, Australia, Syd- ney, NSW 2052, Australia
Population	COPD and at least 1 other comorbidity
Interventions	Qualitative evaluation of the self-management education programme was done by interviewing PNs, general physicians (GPs) and patients
Outcomes	Qualitative evaluation
Notes	Quantitative data published. Waiting for publication of qualitative data (as at September 2020)

#### ISRCTN43508703

Study name	Tailored Intervention at home for patients with moderate-to-severe COPD and comorbidities by Pharmacists and Consultant Physicians (TICC PCP): a pilot randomised controlled trial
Starting date	29 October 2019

 Tailored or adapted interventions for adults with chronic obstructive pulmonary disease and at least one other long-term condition: a
 74

 mixed methods review (Review)
 74

Copyright  $\ensuremath{\mathbb S}$  2021 The Cochrane Collaboration. Published by John Wiley & Sons, Ltd.

# ISRCTN43508703 (Continued)

Contact information	Richard.lowrie@ggc.scot.nhs.uk . NHS Greater Glasgow and Clyde
Population	Chronic obstructive pulmonary disease, and other morbidities
Interventions	Pharmacist home visits every month for 6 months then every 2 months for 6 months versus usual care
Outcomes	Primary: whether the researchers should proceed to a definitive trial
	Qualitative: semi-structured interviews with 15 - 20 participants, and 7 - 10 health professionals
	-
Notes	Ongoing study. Quantitative and qualitative

NCT03662711	
Study name	Comparison of 1-year treatment with inhaled long acting bronchodilators (LABD) plus inhaled glu- cocorticosteroids (ICS) versus LABD without ICS on re-hospitalizations and/or death in elderly pa- tients with chronic obstructive pulmonary disease (COPD) recently hospitalised because of an acute exacerbation of COPD (ICS-Life Study)
Starting date	7 September 2018
Contact information	Alberto Papi, MD, Professor, Università degli Studi di Ferrara
Population	Patients with COPD and 1 or more cardiac comorbidities
Interventions	Long-acting muscarinic antagonist (LAMA) and/or Long-acting beta-agonist (LABA) plus ICS plus usual care for comorbidities versus LABA or LABA/LAMA plus usual care for comorbidities
Outcomes	Composite event of the first time to first re-hospitalisation and/or death (all-cause), COPD exacer- bations, re-hospitalizations and deaths (all-cause), Quality of life, adverse events
	-
Notes	Ongoing study

# TCTR20180530007

Study name	Efficiency of slow loaded breathing training on cardiovascular functions in COPD with hypertension
Starting date	1 June 2018
Contact information	Chattarin Wongsawat. Faculty of Associated Medical Science, Khon Kaen University
Population	COPD patients stage I-IV with hypertension
Interventions	Breathing training versus active comparator
Outcomes	Morning home blood pressure and heart rate, Heart rate variability and blood pressure variability, Arterial stiffness, Baroreflex sensitivity

 Tailored or adapted interventions for adults with chronic obstructive pulmonary disease and at least one other long-term condition: a
 75

 mixed methods review (Review)
 75



# TCTR20180530007 (Continued)

Notos	Ongoing study
NOLES	ongoing study

TCTR20180601002	
Study name	Effect of slow loaded breathing training on inspiratory muscle strength, exercise capacity and blood pressure in chronic obstructive pulmonary disease with co-existing hypertension
Starting date	15 June 2018
Contact information	-
Population	COPD patients stage moderate to severe with hypertension
Interventions	Breathing training versus active comparator
Outcomes	Inspiratory muscle strength, lung function, exercise endurance, dynamic hyperinflation, blood pressure and heart rate, quality of life, dyspnoea, exhaled breath temperature
	-
Notes	Ongoing study

# DATA AND ANALYSES

# Comparison 1. Intervention versus usual care

Outcome or subgroup title	No. of studies	No. of partici- pants	Statistical method	Effect size
1.1 Quality of life - SGRQ to- tal	1		Mean Difference (IV, Random, 95% CI)	Totals not selected
1.1.1 Rehabilitation	1		Mean Difference (IV, Random, 95% CI)	Totals not selected
1.2 Quality of life - CAT total	4		Mean Difference (IV, Random, 95% CI)	Totals not selected
1.2.1 Pharmacotherapy	1		Mean Difference (IV, Random, 95% CI)	Totals not selected
1.2.2 Rehabilitation	1		Mean Difference (IV, Random, 95% CI)	Totals not selected
1.2.3 Organisation of care	1		Mean Difference (IV, Random, 95% CI)	Totals not selected

Tailored or adapted interventions for adults with chronic obstructive pulmonary disease and at least one other long-term condition: a mixed methods review (Review)



Cochrane Database of Systematic Reviews

77

Outcome or subgroup title	No. of studies No. of partici- pants		Statistical method	Effect size
1.2.4 Multicomponent inter- vention	1		Mean Difference (IV, Random, 95% CI)	Totals not selected
1.3 Quality of life - CRQ do- mains	1		Mean Difference (IV, Random, 95% CI)	Totals not selected
1.3.1 Dyspnoea	1		Mean Difference (IV, Random, 95% CI)	Totals not selected
1.3.2 Fatigue	1		Mean Difference (IV, Random, 95% CI)	Totals not selected
1.3.3 Emotion	1		Mean Difference (IV, Random, 95% CI)	Totals not selected
1.3.4 Mastery	1		Mean Difference (IV, Random, 95% CI)	Totals not selected
1.4 Quality of life - MLHFQ	1		Mean Difference (IV, Random, 95% CI)	Totals not selected
1.4.1 Multicomponent inter- vention	1		Mean Difference (IV, Random, 95% CI)	Totals not selected
1.5 Quality of life - EQ-5D	1		Std. Mean Difference (IV, Random, 95% CI)	Totals not selected
1.5.1 VAS	1		Std. Mean Difference (IV, Random, 95% CI)	Totals not selected
1.5.2 EQ-5D utility domain	1		Std. Mean Difference (IV, Random, 95% CI)	Totals not selected
1.6 Exacerbations - people experiencing one or more	1		Odds Ratio (M-H, Random, 95% CI)	Totals not selected
1.6.1 Rehabilitation	1		Odds Ratio (M-H, Random, 95% CI)	Totals not selected
1.7 Exacerbations - mean number per person	1		Mean Difference (IV, Random, 95% CI)	Totals not selected
1.7.1 Rehabilitation	1		Mean Difference (IV, Random, 95% CI)	Totals not selected
1.8 Functional status - 6MWT	3		Mean Difference (IV, Random, 95% CI)	Subtotals only
1.8.1 Rehabilitation	2	100	Mean Difference (IV, Random, 95% CI)	60.40 [44.26, 76.54]
1.8.2 Multicomponent inter- vention	1	80	Mean Difference (IV, Random, 95% CI)	75.00 [28.06, 121.94]
1.9 Functional status - ISWT	1		Mean Difference (IV, Random, 95% CI)	Totals not selected

Tailored or adapted interventions for adults with chronic obstructive pulmonary disease and at least one other long-term condition: a mixed methods review (Review)



Cochrane Database of Systematic Reviews

78

Outcome or subgroup title	No. of studies	No. of partici- pants	Statistical method	Effect size
1.9.1 Rehabilitation	1		Mean Difference (IV, Random, 95% CI)	Totals not selected
1.10 Functional status - ESWT	1		Mean Difference (IV, Random, 95% CI)	Totals not selected
1.10.1 Rehabilitation	1		Mean Difference (IV, Random, 95% CI)	Totals not selected
1.11 All-cause hospital ad- missions - people experi- encing one or more	2		Odds Ratio (M-H, Random, 95% CI)	Totals not selected
1.11.1 Organisation of care	1		Odds Ratio (M-H, Random, 95% CI)	Totals not selected
1.11.2 Multicomponent in- tervention	1		Odds Ratio (M-H, Random, 95% CI)	Totals not selected
1.12 All-cause hospital ad- missions - mean number per person	1		Mean Difference (IV, Random, 95% CI)	Totals not selected
1.12.1 Organisation of care	1		Mean Difference (IV, Random, 95% CI)	Totals not selected
1.13 Respiratory-related hospital admissions	1		Odds Ratio (M-H, Random, 95% CI)	Totals not selected
1.13.1 Multicomponent in- tervention	1		Odds Ratio (M-H, Random, 95% CI)	Totals not selected
1.14 All-cause mortality (deaths)	5		Odds Ratio (M-H, Random, 95% CI)	Subtotals only
1.14.1 Pharmacotherapy	2	177	Odds Ratio (M-H, Random, 95% CI)	0.55 [0.23, 1.35]
1.14.2 Organisation of care	2	782	Odds Ratio (M-H, Random, 95% CI)	0.56 [0.33, 0.96]
1.14.3 Multicomponent in- tervention	1	112	Odds Ratio (M-H, Random, 95% CI)	1.00 [0.06, 16.39]
1.15 Anxiety HADS-A	1		Mean Difference (IV, Random, 95% CI)	Totals not selected
1.15.1 Rehabilitation	1		Mean Difference (IV, Random, 95% CI)	Totals not selected
1.16 Depression HADS-D	2		Mean Difference (IV, Random, 95% CI)	Totals not selected
1.16.1 Rehabilitation	1		Mean Difference (IV, Random, 95% CI)	Totals not selected
1.16.2 Organisation of care	1		Mean Difference (IV, Random, 95% CI)	Totals not selected

Tailored or adapted interventions for adults with chronic obstructive pulmonary disease and at least one other long-term condition: a mixed methods review (Review)



# Analysis 1.1. Comparison 1: Intervention versus usual care, Outcome 1: Quality of life - SGRQ total

Study or Subgroup	MD	SE	Mean Difference IV, Random, 95% CI	Mean Difference IV, Random, 95% CI					
<b>1.1.1 Rehabilitation</b>	-10.85	0 9251	-10.85 [-12.66 -9.04]						
Dualevskiy 2015 (1)	-10.05	0.5251	-10.03 [-12.00 , -3.04]		łł				
				-10 -5 0	5 10				
Footnotes			Fav	ours intervention	Favours usual care				
(1) 52 weeks follow-up									

# Analysis 1.2. Comparison 1: Intervention versus usual care, Outcome 2: Quality of life - CAT total

	Int	Intervention			sual care		Mean Difference	Mean Diffe	rence
Study or Subgroup	Mean	SD	Total	Mean	SD	Total	IV, Random, 95% CI	IV, Random,	95% CI
1.2.1 Pharmacotherapy									
Gottlieb 2020 (1)	0.4	6.8	40	0.4	8.3	37	0.00 [-3.40 , 3.40]	-+-	-
1.2.2 Rehabilitation									
Budnevskiy 2015 (2)	16.32	3.05	35	24.34	3.01	35	-8.02 [-9.44 , -6.60]	+	
1.2.3 Organisation of ca	ire								
Walker 2018 (3)	16.76	7.71	154	17.17	8.33	158	-0.41 [-2.19 , 1.37]	-	
1.2.4 Multicomponent i	ntervention								
Bernocchi 2018 (4)	-5.3	5.51	45	1.6	6.41	35	-6.90 [-9.56 , -4.24]		
								-10 -5 0	5 10
Footnotes							Fav	vours intervention	Favours usual care

(1) 25 weeks follow-up

(2) 52 weeks follow-up

(3) Telemonitoring intervention, 39 weeks follow-up

(4) 17 weeks follow-up

# Analysis 1.3. Comparison 1: Intervention versus usual care, Outcome 3: Quality of life - CRQ domains

Study or Subgroup MD		SE	Mean Difference IV, Random, 95% CI	Mean IV, Rand	Difference lom, 95% CI
<b>1.3.1 Dyspnoea</b> McNamara 2013b (1)	3.25	1.199	3.25 [0.90 , 5.60]		
1.3.2 Fatigue					· ·
McNamara 2013b	4.7	1.1735	4.70 [2.40 , 7.00]		-+-
<b>1.3.3 Emotion</b> McNamara 2013b	3.1	1.5306	3.10 [0.10 , 6.10]		<b></b>
<b>1.3.4 Mastery</b> McNamara 2013b	1.9	1.0714	1.90 [-0.20 , 4.00]		-+-
Footnotes			Fa	-10 -5 vours usual care	0 5 10 Favours intervention

(1) 8 weeks follow-up

# Analysis 1.4. Comparison 1: Intervention versus usual care, Outcome 4: Quality of life - MLHFQ

	In	Intervention			J <b>sual care</b>		Mean Difference	Mean D	Mean Difference		
Study or Subgroup	Mean	SD	Total	Mean	SD	Total	IV, Random, 95% C	I IV, Rando	m, 95% CI		
1.4.1 Multicomponent	interventior	1									
Bernocchi 2018 (1)	-10.5	12.1699	45	-0.44	15.3597	35	-10.06 [-16.27 , -3.8	85] +			
								-100 -50	D 50 100		
Footnotes								Favours intervention	Favours usual care		
(1) 17 weeks follow-up											

# Analysis 1.5. Comparison 1: Intervention versus usual care, Outcome 5: Quality of life - EQ-5D

	In	Intervention			sual care		Std. Mean Difference	Std. Mean	Difference
Study or Subgroup	Mean	SD	Total	Mean	SD	Total	IV, Random, 95% CI	IV, Randor	n, 95% CI
1.5.1 VAS									
Walker 2018 (1)	55.35	18.46	154	55.75	21.17	158	-0.02 [-0.24 , 0.20	]	
1.5.2 EQ-5D utility do	main								
Walker 2018 (1)	0.637	0.225	154	0.64	0.248	158	-0.01 [-0.23 , 0.21	]	
								-1 -0.5 0	0.5 1
Footnotes								Favours usual care	Favours intervention

(1) 39 weeks follow-up



# Analysis 1.6. Comparison 1: Intervention versus usual care, Outcome 6: Exacerbations - people experiencing one or more

	Intervention		Usual care		Odds Ratio	Odds Ratio		
Study or Subgroup	Events Total		Events	Total	M-H, Random, 95% CI	M-H, Random, 95% CI		
1.6.1 Rehabilitation								
Rose 2018 (1)	140	236	134	234	1.09 [0.75 , 1.57]	+		
					0.01	0.1 1	10 100	
Footnotes					Favours	intervention	Favours usual care	
(1) ED visit; 52 weeks fe	ollow-up							

# Analysis 1.7. Comparison 1: Intervention versus usual care, Outcome 7: Exacerbations - mean number per person

	Intervention			Usual care			Mean Difference	Mean Difference		
Study or Subgroup	Mean	SD	Total	Mean	SD	Total	IV, Random, 95% CI	IV, Randon	ı, 95% CI	
1.7.1 Rehabilitation										
Rose 2018 (1)	1.5	2.3	236	1.9	3.1	234	-0.40 [-0.89 , 0.09]	-+-		
								-2 -1 0	1 2	
Footnotes							Fa	vours intervention	Favours usual care	

(1) 52 weeks follow-up

# Analysis 1.8. Comparison 1: Intervention versus usual care, Outcome 8: Functional status - 6MWT

	In	tervention		τ	Jsual care			Mean Difference	Mean	Difference
Study or Subgroup	Mean	SD	Total	Mean	SD	Total	Weight	IV, Random, 95% CI	IV, Ran	dom, 95% CI
1.8.1 Rehabilitation										
Budnevskiy 2015 (1)	402	47.3286	35	344	41.4126	35	60.0%	58.00 [37.17 , 78.83	]	-
McNamara 2013b (2)	48	39	15	-16	32	15	40.0%	64.00 [38.47 , 89.53	]	
Subtotal (95% CI)			50			50	100.0%	60.40 [44.26 , 76.54	]	
Heterogeneity: Tau <sup>2</sup> = 0.0	00; Chi <sup>2</sup> = 0	.13, df = 1	(P = 0.72);	$I^2 = 0\%$						•
Test for overall effect: Z	= 7.33 (P <	0.00001)								
1.8.2 Multicomponent in	nterventior	ı								
Bernocchi 2018 (3)	60	131	45	-15	82	35	100.0%	75.00 [28.06 , 121.94	.]	
Subtotal (95% CI)			45			35	100.0%	75.00 [28.06 , 121.94	]	-
Heterogeneity: Not applie	cable									↓ ▼
Test for overall effect: Z	= 3.13 (P =	0.002)								
Test for subgroup differen	nces: Chi² =	= 0.33, df =	1 (P = 0.5	6), I <sup>2</sup> = 0%					-200 -100 Favours usual care	0 100 200 Favours intervention

#### Footnotes

(1) 52 weeks follow-up (2) 8 weeks follow-up (3) 17 weeks follow-up

#### Analysis 1.9. Comparison 1: Intervention versus usual care, Outcome 9: Functional status - ISWT

	Intervention			Usual care			Mean Difference	Mean D	ifference
Study or Subgroup	Mean	SD	Total	Mean	SD	Total	IV, Random, 95% CI	IV, Rando	m, 95% CI
1.9.1 Rehabilitation	10	10							
McNamara 2013b (1)	49	42	15	-1	41.5326	15	50.00 [20.11 , 79.89	9]	-+-
								-200 -100	0 100 200
Footnotes								Favours usual care	Favours intervention
(1) 8 weeks follow-up									

#### Analysis 1.10. Comparison 1: Intervention versus usual care, Outcome 10: Functional status - ESWT

	Int	Intervention			sual care		Mean Difference	Mean Difference		
Study or Subgroup	Mean	SD	Total	Mean	SD	Total	IV, Random, 95% CI	IV, Rando	m, 95% CI	
1.10.1 Rehabilitation	221	257	15	50	242	15	271.00 [120.40 021 54	1		
MCNamara 2013b (1)	321	357	15	-50	343	15	3/1.00 [120.46 , 621.54	]		
								-500 -250	0 250 500	
Footnotes								Favours usual care	Favours intervention	
(1) To do allot a series and the		- 11								

(1) Endpoint score, meters; 8 weeks follow-up

# Analysis 1.11. Comparison 1: Intervention versus usual care, Outcome 11: All-cause hospital admissions - people experiencing one or more



# Analysis 1.12. Comparison 1: Intervention versus usual care, Outcome 12: All-cause hospital admissions - mean number per person



# Analysis 1.13. Comparison 1: Intervention versus usual care, Outcome 13: Respiratory-related hospital admissions



# Analysis 1.14. Comparison 1: Intervention versus usual care, Outcome 14: All-cause mortality (deaths)

	Interve	ntion	Usual	care		Odds Ratio	Odds Ratio
Study or Subgroup	Events	Total	Events	Total	Weight	M-H, Random, 95% CI	M-H, Random, 95% CI
1.14.1 Pharmacotherapy							
EUCTR2010-021412-42-GB (1)	2	32	5	31	26.9%	0.35 [0.06 , 1.94]	
Gottlieb 2020 (2)	7	57	10	57	73.1%	0.66 [0.23 , 1.87]	
Subtotal (95% CI)		89		88	100.0%	0.55 [0.23 , 1.35]	-
Гotal events:	9		15				•
Heterogeneity: Tau <sup>2</sup> = 0.00; Chi <sup>2</sup>	= 0.39, df =	= 1 (P = 0.	53); I <sup>2</sup> = 0%	, D			
Test for overall effect: Z = 1.30 (	P = 0.19)						
1.14.2 Organisation of care							
Rose 2018 (3)	21	236	36	234	87.5%	0.54 [0.30 , 0.95]	
Valker 2018 (4)	3	154	4	158	12.5%	0.76 [0.17 , 3.48]	
Subtotal (95% CI)		390		392	100.0%	0.56 [0.33 , 0.96]	
Total events:	24		40				•
Heterogeneity: Tau <sup>2</sup> = 0.00; Chi <sup>2</sup>	= 0.18, df =	= 1 (P = 0.	67); I <sup>2</sup> = 0%	, D			
Test for overall effect: Z = 2.12 (	P = 0.03)						
1.14.3 Multicomponent interver	ntion						
Bernocchi 2018 (5)	1	56	1	56	100.0%	1.00 [0.06 , 16.39]	
Subtotal (95% CI)		56		56	100.0%	1.00 [0.06 , 16.39]	
Total events:	1		1				
Heterogeneity: Not applicable							
Test for overall effect: $Z = 0.00$ (1)	P = 1.00)						
Test for subgroup differences: Ch	ni² = 0.16, c	lf = 2 (P =	0.92), I <sup>2</sup> = (	0%		0.0	
						Favor	irs intervention Favours usua
Footnotes							

(1) 4 weeks follow-up

(2) 25 weeks follow-up

(3) 52 weeks follow-up

(4) 39 weeks follow-up

(5) 17 weeks follow-up



# Analysis 1.15. Comparison 1: Intervention versus usual care, Outcome 15: Anxiety HADS-A

Study or Subgroup	MD	SE	Mean Difference IV, Random, 95% CI	Mean D IV, Rando	ifference m, 95% CI
1.15.1 Rehabilitation					
McNamara 2013b (1)	-1	1.2755	-1.00 [-3.50 , 1.50]	-+	<u> </u>
				-10 -5	1 $1$ $1$ $1$ $1$ $1$ $1$ $1$ $1$ $1$
Footnotes			Fa	vours intervention	Favours usual care
(1) 9 weeks follow up					

(1) 8 weeks follow-up

# Analysis 1.16. Comparison 1: Intervention versus usual care, Outcome 16: Depression HADS-D

			Mean Difference	Mean Diff	erence
Study or Subgroup	MD	SE	IV, Random, 95% CI	IV, Random	, 95% CI
1.16.1 Rehabilitation					
McNamara 2013b (1)	-1	0.5102	-1.00 [-2.00 , -0.00]	-+-	
1.16.2 Organisation of c	are				
Rose 2018 (2)	-0.8	1.0184	-0.80 [-2.80 , 1.20]	-+-	-
				-10 -5 0	-
Footnotes			Fav	vours intervention	Favours usual care
(1) 8 weeks follow-up					
(2) 52 weeks follow-up					

# Comparison 2. Intervention versus active comparison

Outcome or subgroup title	No. of studies	No. of partici- pants	Statistical method	Effect size
2.1 Quality of life - CRQ domains	1		Mean Difference (IV, Random, 95% CI)	Totals not selected
2.1.1 Dyspnoea	1		Mean Difference (IV, Random, 95% CI)	Totals not selected
2.1.2 Fatigue	1		Mean Difference (IV, Random, 95% CI)	Totals not selected
2.1.3 Emotion	1		Mean Difference (IV, Random, 95% CI)	Totals not selected
2.1.4 Mastery	1		Mean Difference (IV, Random, 95% CI)	Totals not selected
2.2 Functional status - 6MWT	1		Mean Difference (IV, Random, 95% CI)	Totals not selected
2.2.1 Rehabilitation	1		Mean Difference (IV, Random, 95% CI)	Totals not selected

Tailored or adapted interventions for adults with chronic obstructive pulmonary disease and at least one other long-term condition: a mixed methods review (Review)

Copyright  $\ensuremath{\mathbb S}$  2021 The Cochrane Collaboration. Published by John Wiley & Sons, Ltd.

85

Outcome or subgroup title	No. of studies	No. of partici- pants	Statistical method	Effect size
2.3 Functional status - ESWT	1		Mean Difference (IV, Random, 95% CI)	Totals not selected
2.3.1 Rehabilitation	1		Mean Difference (IV, Random, 95% CI)	Totals not selected
2.4 Functional status - ISWT	1		Mean Difference (IV, Random, 95% CI)	Totals not selected
2.4.1 Rehabilitation	1		Mean Difference (IV, Random, 95% CI)	Totals not selected
2.5 Anxiety HADS-A	1		Mean Difference (IV, Random, 95% CI)	Totals not selected
2.5.1 Rehabilitation	1		Mean Difference (IV, Random, 95% CI)	Totals not selected
2.6 Depression HADS-D	1		Mean Difference (IV, Random, 95% CI)	Totals not selected
2.6.1 Rehabilitation	1		Mean Difference (IV, Random, 95% CI)	Totals not selected

# Analysis 2.1. Comparison 2: Intervention versus active comparison, Outcome 1: Quality of life - CRQ domains

Study or Subgroup	MD	SE	Mean Difference IV, Random, 95% CI	Mean IV, Rano	Difference lom, 95% CI
<b>2.1.1 Dyspnoea</b> McNamara 2013b (1)	1.7	1.199	1.70 [-0.65 , 4.05]		+
<b>2.1.2 Fatigue</b> McNamara 2013b	3.1	1.1735	3.10 [0.80 , 5.40]		-+-
<b>2.1.3 Emotion</b> McNamara 2013b	2.9	1.5306	2.90 [-0.10 , 5.90]		
<b>2.1.4 Mastery</b> McNamara 2013b	1.1	1.0204	1.10 [-0.90 , 3.10]		
Footnotes			Favours a	-10 -5 ctive comparator	0 5 10 Favours intervention

(1) 8 weeks follow-up

#### Analysis 2.2. Comparison 2: Intervention versus active comparison, Outcome 2: Functional status - 6MWT

	In	Intervention			e compara	ator	Mean Difference	Mean Difference		
Study or Subgroup	Mean	SD	Total	Mean	SD	Total	IV, Random, 95% CI	IV, Random	, 95% CI	
2.2.1 Rehabilitation										
McNamara 2013b (1)	48	39	15	43	37	15	5.00 [-22.21 , 32.21]		<u> </u>	
								-50 -25 0	25 50	
Footnotes							Favours a	ctive comparator	Favours intervention	
(1) 8 weeks follow-up										

# Analysis 2.3. Comparison 2: Intervention versus active comparison, Outcome 3: Functional status - ESWT

	Intervention			Active comparator			Mean Difference	Mean Difference		
Study or Subgroup	Mean	SD	Total	Mean	SD	Total	IV, Random, 95% CI	IV, Rando	m, 95% CI	
2.3.1 Rehabilitation										
McNamara 2013b (1)	321	357	15	117	216	15	204.00 [-7.16 , 415.16]			_
							-50	) -250	0 250	500
Footnotes							Favours activ	e comparator	Favours ir	itervention
		0 1	C 11							

(1) change from baseline within group; 8 weeks follow-up

# Analysis 2.4. Comparison 2: Intervention versus active comparison, Outcome 4: Functional status - ISWT

	Intervention			Active comparator			Mean Difference	Mean Di	Mean Difference	
Study or Subgroup	Mean	SD	Total	Mean	SD	Total	IV, Random, 95% CI	IV, Randoi	m, 95% CI	
2.4.1 Rehabilitation										
McNamara 2013b (1)	49	43	15	13	53	15	36.00 [1.46 , 70.54]			
								-50 -25 (	) 25 50	
Footnotes							Favours	active comparator	Favours intervention	
(1) 8 weeks follow-up										

# Analysis 2.5. Comparison 2: Intervention versus active comparison, Outcome 5: Anxiety HADS-A

Study or Subgroup	MD	SE	Mean Difference IV, Random, 95% C	Mean I IV, Rane	Difference dom, 95% CI	
<b>2.5.1 Rehabilitation</b> McNamara 2013b (1)	-1	1.2755	-1.00 [-3.50 , 1.5	0]	+	
Footnotes				-10 -5 Favours intervention	0 5 10 Favours active compara	itor
(1) 8 weeks follow-up						



# Analysis 2.6. Comparison 2: Intervention versus active comparison, Outcome 6: Depression HADS-D



(1) 8 weeks follow-up

Tailored or adapted interventions for adults with chronic obstructive pulmonary disease and at least one other long-term condition: a mixed methods review (Review)

# ADDITIONAL TABLES

# Table 1. Risk of bias assessment for qualitative studies

Study ID	Is there a statement of research aims?	ls a quali- tative ap- proach jus- tified?	Was the research design ap- propri- ate to ad- dress the aims?	Was the re- cruitment strategy appropri- ate to ad- dress the aims?	Were data collected in a way that addressed the research issue?	Was the re- searcher/pa ticipant relation- ship ad- equate- ly consid- ered?	Have ethi- cal issues irbeen tak- en into consider- ation?	Was the da- ta analysis sufficiently rigorous?	Was there a clear state- ment of findings?	Overall assess- ment
Middle- mass 2017	Yes	Yes	Can't tell	Yes	Can't tell	No	Yes	Yes	Yes	Some con- cerns
	To test the HITAM and see if it could be used to in- crease the adoption of HIT. HIT has been shown to re- duce mor- tality. Many with LTC are over 60 and HIT is not always ac- cepted.	Pre- and post-inter- views to as- certain per- ceptions/ex- perience on the HITAM elements. However, no rationale for adopt- ing a qual- itative and framework approach.	The study design (in- strumen- tal, collec- tive case design) is not justi- fied.	Selection process for interviews included those who had taken part in the pilot and those as- signed to the Rx. One was not in- terviewed and was un- well.	Setting of interviews (home or telephone) was not justified. Not clear if interviewers were in-depth or se- mi-structured. Not jus- tified why interviews were chosen rather than focus groups. In- terview schedule was used and is made avail- able. Interviews were audio-recorded. Data saturation is not men- tioned.	The inter- viewer's role is not described or exam- ined.	Ethical ap- proval ob- tained and informed written consent to take part in two taped in- terviewers to ascer- tain views if using the equip- ment.	Process of analysis is well de- scribed, al- though un- sure how the frame- work was formed. Quotes pro- vided to support themes. Contrasting data are tak- en into ac- count and described.	Explicit well or- ganised findings and mul- tiple re- searchers involved in the process.	-

Abbreviations: HITAM: Health Information Technology Acceptance Model; LTC: long term condition.

•.11µ1•

Cochrane Library

Trusted evidence. Informed decisions. Better health.

88



89

Interventions (identified from GOLD 2021 guideline and Cochrane Airways subtopic list.)	Study	Interventions	Evidence type (quantitative, qualitative or mixed methods)	Comorbidities
<ul> <li>Reducing risk factors</li> <li>* Smoking cessation</li> </ul>	-		-	-
<ul> <li>Vaccination</li> <li>* Pneumococcal</li> <li>* Influenza</li> </ul>	-		-	-
<ul> <li>Pharmacotherapies</li> <li>Short-acting inhalers (e.g. SABA)</li> <li>Long-acting inhalers (e.g. LABA,</li> </ul>	EUC- TR2010-021412-42-	Inhaler optimisa- Gton and best sup- portive care vs UC	Quantitative	All had lung cancer
<ul> <li>Phosphodiesterase-4 (PDE4) in- hibitors (e.g. Roflumilast)</li> <li>Mucolytic agents</li> <li>Combination inhalers and triple therapy</li> <li>Methyl xanthines</li> <li>Oral corticosteroids</li> <li>Antibiotics</li> <li>Statins</li> <li>Alpha-1 antitrypsin augmentation therapy</li> <li>Biomarker mediated therapy</li> </ul>	Gottlieb 2020	Management: op- timising COPD treatment vs UC	Quantitative	All had lung cancer or head and neck cancer, and some had other co- morbidities including is- chaemic heart diseases, heart failure, depres- sion/anxiety, osteoporo- sis, cerebrovascular dis- ease, diabetes
<ul> <li>Rehabilitation</li> <li>* Pulmonary rehabilitation</li> </ul>	Budnevskiy 2015	Pulmonary reha- bilitation vs UC	Quantitative	All had metabolic syn- drome
<ul> <li>* Exercise therapy (e.g. upper limb exercise, ongoing physical exercise after pulmonary rehabilitation)</li> <li>* Complementary therapies (e.g. active mind-body therapy, Tai chi, singing)</li> </ul>	McNamara 2013b	Water-based ex- ercise training vs land-based exer- cise training vs UC	Quantitative	One or more physical comorbidities: muscu- loskeletal, or neurologi- cal, or obesity
Self-management	-	-	-	-
<ul> <li>Organisation of care         <ul> <li>Support services (e.g. social care, specialist respiratory nurse)</li> <li>Integrated care</li> <li>Telehealthcare</li> <li>Digital management interventions</li> <li>Home care</li> <li>Integrated disease management (e.g. disease management programming)</li> </ul> </li> </ul>	Rose 2018	Case management vs UC	Quantitative	Two or more comorbidi- ties: cardiovascular dis- ease, including coronary artery disease, hyper- tension and congestive heart failure, diabetes, depression, osteopenia, osteoporosis, and gas- tro-oesophageal reflux disease.
<ul> <li>* Interventions to promote or in- crease adherence to PR or other treatments</li> </ul>	Walker 2018 Middlemass 2017	Telemonitoring vs UC	Quantitative Qualitative	One or more non-pul- monary comorbidity: congestive heart failure or ischaemic heart dis- ease or both, hyperten-

# Table 2. Framework and map of interventions identified from included studies

Tailored or adapted interventions for adults with chronic obstructive pulmonary disease and at least one other long-term condition: a mixed methods review (Review)

Copyright  $\ensuremath{\mathbb S}$  2021 The Cochrane Collaboration. Published by John Wiley & Sons, Ltd.



# Table 2. Framework and map of interventions identified from included studies (Continued)

sion, osteoporosis, hyperlipidaemia, osteoporosis, sleep-related disordered breathing.

90

<ul> <li>Other treatments         <ul> <li>Oxygen therapy and ventilatory support (e.g. NIV, ambulatory oxygen)</li> <li>Nutritional support</li> <li>Lung volume reduction surgery</li> <li>Lung transplantation</li> <li>Supportive, palliative, end of life and hospice care</li> <li>Psychotherapy</li> <li>interventions for sexual dysfunction</li> <li>Self-help groups</li> </ul> </li> </ul>	-	-	-	-
Multicomponent intervention	Bernocchi 2018	Maintenance re- habilitation and telemonitoring vs UC. Following in- patient rehabilita- tion participants randomised to personalised dis- charge plus nurse telephone support and telemonitor- ing, plus physio- therapist person- alised rehabilita- tion vs UC	Quantitative	All had cardiovascular disease

UC: usual care

Study	Duration (weeks)	Intervention	Compari- son	Setting	Provider	Materials/method	Delivery	Tailoring
Pharmacot	herapy							
EUC- TR2010-021	<b>4</b> 412-42-GB	Pharmacothera- py: inhaler opti- misation and best supportive care	UC	Outpatient	NR	Evohaler 100 μg, Spiriva 18 mg via Handihaler, fluticasone pro- pionate 500 μg	Inhaler	Considered the poor prognosis of patients with lung cancer: intervention group treated with maxi- mum inhaled thera- py
Gottlieb 2020	25	Management: op- timising COPD treatment	UC	Outpatient clinic	Pulmonary physician	Two visits at 12 and 24 weeks in an outpatient clinic where the adjustment of COPD treatment was considered	Dialogue with the participants	Adjustment of COPD treatment consid- ered at each visit
Rehabilitat	ion							
Budnevskiy 2015	52	Pulmonary reha- bilitation	UC	NR	NR	Series of seminars covering treatment and prevention of COPD and MS. Physical training: therapeutic exercises.	Group semi- nars	Exercises took into account concomi- tant MS
Gurgun 2013	8	Pulmonary reha- bilitation and nu- tritional support	PR or UC	Outpatient clinic	Dietician	Dietary counselling and oral supplementation in combina- tion with exercise training	Supervised exercise training, di- etary coun- selling	Daily nutrition intake of the patient was checked
McNamara 2013b	8	Water-based ex- ercise training	Land-based exercise training or UC	Hospital hy- drotherapy pool	Physiother- apist	Exercise in a hydrotherapy pool: warm-up, lower limb endurance, upper limb en- durance, and cool down	Supervised exercise	Training intensity measured, partici- pants chose the most comfortable level of water immersion
Organisatio	on of care							
Rose 2018	52	Case manage- ment	UC	Outpatient	Case-man- ager	Education based on 'Living Well with COPD', ongoing communi- cation with physician and hos- pital specialist	Education session at enrolment, telephone	Individualised action plan

Cochrane Library

Trusted evidence. Informed decisions. Better health.

Cochrane Database of Systematic Reviews

Walker 2018	39	Telemonitoring U	IC	Outpatient	Study nurse	CHROME	D monitoring pl	atform	Wearable device	Respin gered the nu ing wa	ratory alert t contact with urse if worse as detected
Multicompor	nent interventio	on									
Bernocchi 2018	17	Inpatient rehabil- itation, person- alised discharge, urrse telephone support and tele- monitoring, phys- iotherapist per- sonalised mainte- nance rehabilita- tion	npatient re- abilitation, JC	- Partici- , pants' home	Nurse; phys- iotherapist	Exercise g gometer, Participa pulse oxi one-lead	programme, mir pedometer and nts provided wir meter, and a po ECG	ni-er- diary. h a rtable	PT instruc- tion; week- ly phone call with NT; weekly phone call with PT	Perso cise p	nalised exer rogramme
bbreviations: able 4. Sun Study	COPD: Chronic on mary of base	obstructive pulmonary di eline characteristics Comorbidities (%)	isease; MS:	metabolic syndron omorbidities (%)	ne; NT: Nurse	Tutor; PT:Ph	ysiotherapist tu Male (%)	tor; UC: ι	usual care Age	(Mean, S	5D)
bbreviations: able 4. Sun Study	COPD: Chronic on mary of base COPD severity	bbstructive pulmonary di eline characteristics Comorbidities (%) Intervention	isease; MS: Ca Ca	metabolic syndron omorbidities (%) ontrol	ne; NT: Nurse	Tutor; PT:Ph Ethnicity	ysiotherapist tu Male (%) Interven- tion	tor; UC: t Conti	usual care Age rol Inte tior	(Mean, S erven-	5D) Control
bbreviations: able 4. Sun Study Bernocchi 2018	COPD: Chronic on mary of base COPD severity Mild to very severe	bbstructive pulmonary di eline characteristics Comorbidities (%) Intervention Cardiovascular disease (100%)	isease; MS: Ca e Ca (1	metabolic syndron omorbidities (%) ontrol ardiovascular disea	ne; NT: Nurse	Tutor; PT:Ph Ethnicity	ysiotherapist tu Male (%) Interven- tion 88	tor; UC: t Contr	usual care Age rol Inte tior 71 (	(Mean, S erven- 1 9)	5 <b>D)</b> Control 70 (9.5)
bbreviations: able 4. Sun Study Bernocchi 2018 Budnevskiy 2015	COPD: Chronic of mmary of base COPD severity Mild to very severe Moderate	ebstructive pulmonary di eline characteristics Comorbidities (%) Intervention Cardiovascular disease (100%) Metabolic syndrome (1	isease; MS: <b>Ca</b> e Ca (1 100%) M	metabolic syndron omorbidities (%) ontrol ardiovascular disea .00%)	ne; NT: Nurse	Tutor; PT:Ph Ethnicity NR	ysiotherapist tu Male (%) Interven- tion 88 66	tor; UC: t Contr 75 71	Age rol Inte 71 (	(Mean, S erven- 1 9)	<b>5D)</b> <b>Control</b> 70 (9.5) NR
bbreviations: able 4. Sun Study Bernocchi 2018 Budnevskiy 2015 EUC- TR2010-02141	COPD: Chronic of mmary of base COPD severity Mild to very severe Moderate NR 12-42-GB	ebstructive pulmonary di eline characteristics Comorbidities (%) Intervention Cardiovascular disease (100%) Metabolic syndrome (1 Lung cancer (100%)	isease; MS: Ca e Ca (1 100%) M	metabolic syndron omorbidities (%) ontrol ardiovascular disea .00%) etabolic syndrome ung cancer (100%)	ne; NT: Nurse	Tutor; PT:Ph Ethnicity NR NR	ysiotherapist tu Male (%) Interven- tion 88 66 34	tor; UC: t Contr 75 71 38	Age rol Inte tior 71 ( NR 68 ( 75)*	(Mean, S erven- ) 9) 59 to	5D) Control 70 (9.5) NR 67 (61 to 71)*

Table 3. Summary of interventions (Continued)

92

Cochrane Library

Trusted evidence. Informed decisions. Better health.

consulta-

	-	Depression/anxiety (3.5%); Osteoporosis (12.3%); Cere- brovascular disease (14%); Diabetes (14%)	sion/anxiety (3.5%); Osteo- porosis (10.5%); Cerebrovas- cular disease (8.8%); Diabetes (8.8%)					
McNamara 2013b	NR	Water-based group: Musculoskeletal (50%); neurological (5.5%); obesity (44.5%) Land-based group: Musculoskeletal (65%); neurological (5%); obesity (30%)	Musculoskeletal (47%); neurological (0%); obesity (53%)	NR	Wa- ter-based group: 28 Land-based group: 50	47	Wa- ter-based group: 72 (10) Land-based group: 73(7)	70 (9)
Rose 2018	Moderate to severe	Two or more comorbidi- ties: cardiovascular disease (75%); diabetes (18%); de- pression (17%); Osteope- nia and osteoporosis (30%); Gastro-oesophageal reflux disease (14%); Hypothy- roidism (9%); Osteoarthri- tis (9%); Glaucoma and cataracts (9%); Cachexia and malnutrition (10%); Chronic kidney disease (7%); Anxiety (6%); Periph- eral muscle dysfunction (6%); Obstructive sleep ap- noea (5%); Lung cancer (6); Cerebrovascular accident (3%)	Two or more comorbidities: cardiovascular disease (76%); diabetes (22%); depression (20%); Osteopenia and os- teoporosis (29%); Gastro-oe- sophageal reflux disease (12%); Hypothyroidism (9%); Osteoarthritis (9%); Glau- coma and cataracts (9%); Cachexia and malnutrition (8%); Chronic kidney disease (7%); Anxiety (7%); Peripher- al muscle dysfunction (6%); Obstructive sleep apnoea (6%); Lung cancer (6%); Cere- brovascular accident (4%)	NR	50	44	71 (9.2)	71 (9.7)
Walker 2018	Mild to very severe	One or more non-pul- monary comorbidities: Con- gestive heart failure (12%); ischaemic heart disease (25%; Congestive heart fail- ure plus ischaemic heart disease (12%); hypertension (72%); Sleep-related disor- dered breathing (11%); Os-	One or more non-pulmonary comorbidities: Congestive heart failure (8%); ischaemic heart disease (23%; Con- gestive heart failure plus is- chaemic heart disease (13%); hypertension (68%); Sleep- related disordered breathing (6%); Osteoporosis (15%); Hy- perlipidemia (58%)	NR	66	66	71 (66.0 to 75.8)*	71 (65.3 to 76.0)*

Cochrane Library

Trusted evidence. Informed decisions. Better health.

# Tailored or adapted interventions for adults with chronic obstructive pulmonary disease and at least one other long-term condition: a mixed methods review (Review) Copyright © 2021 The Cochrane Collaboration. Published by John Wiley & Sons, Ltd. Table 4. Summary of baseline characteristics (Continued)

teoporosis (17%); Hyperlipidemia (53%)

\*median, interquartile range Abbreviations: NR: not reported



95

# Table 5. Summary of relevant quantitative study outcomes

Study ID	Outcome domain	Outcome measure	End point time (weeks)
Bernocchi 2018	All-cause hospital admissions	Number of events	17
	Functional status	6MWT	
	Functional status	PASE	
	Mortality (all-causes)	Number of events	
	Quality of life	MLHFQ	
	Quality of life	CAT	
	Quality of life	Dyspnoea MRC	
	Respiratory hospital admissions	Number of events	
	Functional status	6MWT	
	Quality of life	CAT (total)	
	Quality of life	SGRQ (total)	
	Quality of life	Dyspnoea MRC	
Budnevskiy 2015	Functional status	6MWT	52 weeks
	Quality of life	ССQ	
	Quality of life	CAT (total)	
	Quality of life	SGRQ (total)	
EUC-	Adverse events	Number of events	4
112010-021412-42-01	Mortality (all-causes)	Number of events	
	Quality of life	Dyspnoea	
Gottlieb 2020	Mortality (all-causes)	Number of events	25
	Quality of life	CAT (total)	
McNamara 2013b	Anxiety symptoms	HADS-A (anxiety)	8
	Depression symptoms	HADS-D (depression)	
	Functional status	ESWT	
	Functional status	6MWT	
	Functional status	ISWT	

Tailored or adapted interventions for adults with chronic obstructive pulmonary disease and at least one other long-term condition: a mixed methods review (Review)

Copyright  $\ensuremath{\mathbb S}$  2021 The Cochrane Collaboration. Published by John Wiley & Sons, Ltd.

Table 5. Summ	ary of relevant quantitative study outco	mes (Continued)	
	Functional status	ESWT	-
	Quality of life	CRDQ dyspnoea	
Rose 2018	All-cause hospital admissions	Mean & SD	
	All-cause hospital admissions	Risk difference	52
	Anxiety symptoms	HADS-A (anxiety)	-
	Depression symptoms	HADS-D (depression)	-
	Exacerbations	Exacerbation (ED visit)	-
	Mortality (all-causes)	Number of events	-
	Quality of life	SGRQ (total)	-
Walker 2018	All-cause hospital admissions	Hospitalisation rate	39
	All-cause hospital admissions	Number of people experiencing one or more events	-
	Exacerbations	Exacerbation rate moderate exac- erbations	-
	Mortality (all-causes)	Number of events	-
	Quality of life	CAT (total)	-
	Quality of life	PHQ-9	-
	Quality of life	EQ-5D utility	-
	Quality of life	EQ-5D VAS	-

6MWT: 6-Minute Walk Test; CAT: COPD Assessment Test; CCQ: COPD clinical questionnaire; CRQ: Chronic Respiratory Disease Questionnaire; CSES: Coping Self-Efficacy Scale; EQ-5D: EuroQuol-5D; ESWT: Endurance Shuttle Walk Test; HADS: Hospital Anxiety and Depression Scale; ICFS: Identity-Consequence Fatigue Score; ISWT: Incremental Shuttle Walk Test; MLHFQ: Minnesota Living with Heart Failure Questionnaire; MRC: Medical Research Council; PASE: Physical Activity Profile; PHQ-9: Patient Health Questionnaire-9; PIH: Partners in Health scale; SGRQ: St George's Respiratory Questionnaire; VAS: Visual Analogue Scale.

Table 6.	First and seco	nd order const	ructs of qual	litative studies
	I II St ulla Seco		nacco or qua	itutive studies

Study	Aims	Main themes and example quotes pro- vided in study report	Author comments pro- vided in the study report	Conclusions - re- view author team interpretation of study results
Middlemass 2017	To explore the usefulness of the HITAM for un- derstanding ac- ceptance of HIT in older people (≥ 60 years age)	Health status, beliefs and concerns Unchanging nature of condition: Pa- tients accepted that their chronic con- dition was unlikely to change and that ageing and (eventual) death was in- evitable: "I'm getting older and I'm not going to get any better. I haven't got	Acceptance of illness: Some patients had accept- ed the life-restricting (and sometimes life-threaten- ing) limitations of their LTCs	Beliefs about con- dition influence motivation to en- gage in HIT

Tailored or adapted interventions for adults with chronic obstructive pulmonary disease and at least one other long-term condition: a mixed methods review (Review)

Copyright  $\ensuremath{\mathbb S}$  2021 The Cochrane Collaboration. Published by John Wiley & Sons, Ltd.

Table

Trusted evidence. Informed decisions. Better health.

97

with COPD and associated heart diseases	young genes to repair everything. So, if I can pummel along the way I am, I'll ac- cept it".		
	Withdrawal of face-to-face communi- cation: "But I would hope they would still do their person- to-person contact [and] that they wouldn't just forget."	<b>Concern of losing face</b> <b>to face contact:</b> Patients were concerned that they would lose face-to-face communication with their HCP when using TM	HCP face to face interaction is re- assuring that their condition is ac- tively being moni- tored
	<b>Reminder of illness and anxiety :</b> "This is reminding me every day, then I should think I wonder what my reading is, how good it is or how bad it is and I thought no, get away from illness you know. Every time as soon I started thinking about it, I started thinking about my illness"	<b>Fear of illness:</b> Patients perception of telemonitor- ing was linked to fear of reminders of how serious their condition was, which led to them not continuing with home monitoring	Belief that HIT causes anxiety about condition which can lead to non-adherence/
	Information Subjective norms: "I think if my very close relativesand if the GP said it is es- sential I would say I'm definitely going ahead with it"	Increased motivation to comply with HIT: Close relatives and GP influ- enced and increased indi- viduals' perceptions of us- ing HIT	Input from HCP and relatives in- creases accep- tance to use HIT
	<b>Technology</b> <b>Unreliable technology:</b> "a couple of times it didn't go through very well, but that was an internet problem".	Unreliable technology: Poor internet connectivi- ty and data transmission in rural areas led to gener- ation of technical alerts, which led to the study re- search nurse visiting the patient to find out what the problem was.	HIT can be benefi- cial for those who cannot visit HCP face to face, how- ever, this can be limited by Internet connectivity
	<b>HIT Self-efficacy:</b> "The very first time I really got panicked. But then the next day when I did it, it was easier, but I was at the start of a chest infection, which did affect me It helped my husband stood beside me and was chatting saying yeah you're doing fine, not long to go, just a lit- tle bit of encouragement"	<b>Increased self-efficacy:</b> Both HCPs and patients' significant others were key to them using the TM equipment.	Patients' relatives and HCPs can help to reduce appre- hension of using HIT in the initial stages
	Perceived usefulness Daily monitoring of conditions: "I feel more comfortable knowing that somebody's checking it all the time, you know they're looking at it every day"	<b>Confidence of daily mon-</b> <b>itoring:</b> Patients percep- tion of being linked to a HCP checking data and ready to act on change in health status led them to feel safe about using HIT.	Patients' percep- tions are depen- dent on knowing that HCP involve- ment is linked to HIT
	Factors affecting usefulness Lack of feedback: "I'm in a vacuum. I'm doing something, I'm sending it off to you, [but] there's no feedback"	<b>Lack of feedback</b> : there was lack of two-way com- munication between the patient and HCP	Lack of feedback from HCP result- ed in reduced per- ception of useful- ness of HIT

Tailored or adapted interventions for adults with chronic obstructive pulmonary disease and at least one other long-term condition: a mixed methods review (Review) Copyright © 2021 The Cochrane Collaboration. Published by John Wiley & Sons, Ltd.



#### Table 6. First and second order constructs of qualitative studies (Continued)

#### Behaviour

#### Self-management and health care

utilisation: Patients felt that their condition stabilised after joining the study and did not need to go to the GP so often: "I've been less to the surgery... Because I think it's helped me sort everything out. I'm much better on the medication I'm on now for my blood pressure." Improved self-management and reduced need to see the GP: Patients' condition stabilised whilst enrolled in the study, and GP visits also declined. HIT may lead to changes in behaviour towards improving patients' self-management and a reduced need to visit the GP

Abbreviations: HITAM: Health Information Technology Acceptance Model

# APPENDICES

#### **Appendix 1. Database search strategies**

#### Appendix 2a: Searches to identify reports of RCTs

Source	Search strategy	Results retrieved
Cochrane Airways Tri-	1 MESH DESCRIPTOR Lung Diseases, Obstructive AND INSEGMENT	June 2019 = 1234
als Register	2 MESH DESCRIPTOR Pulmonary Disease, Chronic Obstructive EXPLODE ALL AND INSEGMENT	February 2020 = 55
(Date of most recent search:6 January 2021)	3 emphysema*:ti,ab,kw AND INSEGMENT 4 (chronic* NEAR3 bronchiti*):ti,ab,kw AND INSEGMENT 5 (obstruct* NEAR3 (pulmonary or lung* or airway* or airflow* or bronch* or respirat*)):ti,ab,kw AND INSEGMENT 6 (COPD or COAD or COBD or AECB or AECOPD):ti,ab. AND INSEGMENT 7 #1 OR #2 OR #3 OR #4 OR #5 OR #6 AND INREGISTER 8 MESH DESCRIPTOR COMORBIDITY EXPLODE ALL AND INSEGMENT 9 (multidisease* or multi-disease* or ((multiple or coexist* or co-exist*) NEAR2 (illness* or disease* or condition* or syndrom* or disorder*))):ti,ab,kw AND IN- REGISTER 10 (multimorbid* or multi-morbid*):ti,ab,kw AND INREGISTER 11 MESH DESCRIPTOR Chronic Disease EXPLODE ALL AND INREGISTER 12 (comorbid* or co-morbid*):ti,ab,kw AND INSEGMENT 13 (chronic* NEXT (illness* or disease* or condition* or disorder*)):ti,ab,kw AND INREGISTER 14 other health condition*:ti,ab,kw AND INREGISTER 15 other medical condition*:ti,ab,kw AND INREGISTER 16 (associated NEAR2 (disease* or disorder* or condition* or illness* or syn- drome*)):ti,ab,kw AND INREGISTER 17 #8 OR #9 OR #10 OR #11 OR #12 OR #13 OR #14 OR #15 OR #16 AND IN- REGISTER 19 (multidisease* or multi-disease* or ((multiple or coexist* or co-exist*) NEXT (illness* or disease* or condition* or disorder*))):ti,ab,kw AND INSEGMENT 20 (multimorbid* or multi-morbid*):ti,ab,kw AND INSEGMENT 21 MESH DESCRIPTOR Chronic Disease EXPLODE ALL AND INSEGMENT 21 MESH DESCRIPTOR Chronic Disease EXPLODE ALL AND INSEGMENT 21 MESH DESCRIPTOR Chronic Disease EXPLODE ALL AND INSEGMENT 21 MESH DESCRIPTOR Chronic Disease * or condition* or disorder*))):ti,ab,kw AND INSEGMENT 23 other health condition*:ti,ab,kw AND INSEGMENT 23 other health condition*:ti,ab,kw AND INSEGMENT 23 other health condition*:ti,ab,kw AND INSEGMENT 24 other medical condition*:ti,ab,kw AND INSEGMENT	January 2021 = 53

Tailored or adapted interventions for adults with chronic obstructive pulmonary disease and at least one other long-term condition: a mixed methods review (Review)



99

(Continued)	25 (associated NEAR2 (disease* or disorder* or condition* or illness* or syn- drome*)):ti,ab,kw AND INSEGMENT 26 #8 OR #9 OR #10 OR #11 OR #12 OR #13 OR #14 OR #15 OR #16 AND IN- REGISTER 27 #17 AND #7 AND INREGISTER	
<b>CENTRAL</b> (via CRS Web) (Date of most recent search:6 January 2021)	1 MESH DESCRIPTOR Lung Diseases, Obstructive AND CENTRAL:TARGET 2 MESH DESCRIPTOR Pulmonary Disease, Chronic Obstructive EXPLODE ALL AND CENTRAL:TARGET 3 emphysema*:ti,ab,kw AND CENTRAL:TARGET 4 (chronic* NEAR3 bronchiti*):ti,ab,kw AND CENTRAL:TARGET 5 (obstruct* NEAR3 (pulmonary or lung* or airway* or airflow* or bronch* or respirat*)):ti,ab,kw AND CENTRAL:TARGET 6 (COPD or COAD or COBD or AECB or AECOPD):ti,ab. AND CENTRAL:TARGET 7 #1 OR #2 OR #3 OR #4 OR #5 OR #6 AND CENTRAL:TARGET 8 MESH DESCRIPTOR COMORBIDITY EXPLODE ALL AND CENTRAL:TARGET 9 (comorbid* or co-morbid*):ti,ab,kw AND CENTRAL:TARGET 10 (multidisease* or multi-disease* or ((multiple or coexist* or co-exist*) NEAR2 (illness* or disease* or condition* or syndrom* or disorder*))):ti,ab,kw AND CENTRAL:TARGET 11 (multimorbid* or multi-morbid*):ti,ab,kw AND CENTRAL:TARGET 12 MESH DESCRIPTOR Chronic Disease EXPLODE ALL AND CENTRAL:TARGET 13 (chronic* NEXT (illness* or disease* or condition* or disorder*))):ti,ab,kw AND CENTRAL:TARGET 14 other health condition*:ti,ab,kw AND CENTRAL:TARGET 15 other medical condition*:ti,ab,kw AND CENTRAL:TARGET 16 (associated NEAR2 (disease* or disorder* or condition* or illness* or syn- drome*)):ti,ab,kw AND CENTRAL:TARGET 17 #8 OR #9 OR #10 OR #11 OR #12 OR #13 OR #14 OR #15 OR #16 AND CEN- TRAL:TARGET 18 #17 AND #7 AND CENTRAL:TARGET	June 2019=2967 February 2020=451 January 2021=328
MEDLINE (Ovid) (Date of most recent search:6 January 2021)	<ul> <li>1 Lung Diseases, Obstructive/</li> <li>2 exp Pulmonary Disease, Chronic Obstructive/</li> <li>3 emphysema\$.tw.</li> <li>4 (chronic\$ adj3 bronchiti\$).tw.</li> <li>5 (obstruct\$ adj3 (pulmonary or lung\$ or airway\$ or airflow\$ or bronch\$ or respirat\$)).tw.</li> <li>6 (COPD or COAD or COBD or AECB or AECOPD).ti,ab.</li> <li>7 or/1-6</li> <li>8 exp COMORBIDITY/</li> <li>9 (comorbid\$ or co-morbid\$).tw.</li> <li>10 (multidisease\$ or multi-disease\$ or ((multiple or coexist\$ or co-exist\$) adj2 (illness\$ or disease\$ or condition\$ or syndrom\$ or disorder\$))).ti,ab.</li> <li>11 (multimorbid\$ or multi-morbid\$).tw.</li> <li>12 exp Chronic Disease/</li> <li>13 (chronic\$ adj2 (illness\$ or disease\$ or condition\$ or disorder\$)).tw.</li> <li>14 other health condition\$.tw.</li> <li>15 other medical condition\$.tw.</li> <li>16 (associated adj2 (disease\$ or disorder\$ or condition\$ or illness\$ or syndrom\$)).tw.</li> <li>17 or/8-16</li> <li>18 7 and 17</li> <li>19 (controlled clinical trial or randomised controlled trial).pt.</li> <li>20 (randomised or randomised).ab,ti.</li> <li>21 placebo.ab,ti.</li> <li>22 dt.fs.</li> <li>23 randomly.ab,ti.</li> <li>24 trial.ab,ti.</li> <li>25 groups.ab,ti.</li> </ul>	June 2019: 7609 February 2020: 771 Jnaury 2021=450

Tailored or adapted interventions for adults with chronic obstructive pulmonary disease and at least one other long-term condition: a mixed methods review (Review)

\_

Trusted evidence. Informed decisions. Better health.

(Continued)		
	26 or/19-25 27 Animals/ 28 Humans/ 29 27 not (27 and 28) 30 26 not 29 31 18 and 30	
Embase (Ovid)	1 chronic obstructive lung disease/	June 2019=5262
(Date of most recent	2 chronic bronchitis/	February 2020=906
search:6 January 2021)	4 emphysema\$.tw.	2021 504
	5 (chronic\$ adj3 bronchiti\$).tw. 6 (obstruct\$ adj3 (pulmonary or lung\$ or airway\$ or airflow\$ or bronch\$ or res- pirat\$)).tw. 7 (COPD or AECB or AECOPD).ti,ab. 8 or/1-7 9 comorbidity/ 10 (comorbid\$ or co-morbid\$).tw. 11 (multidisease\$ or multi-disease\$ or ((multiple or coexist\$ or co-exist\$) adj2 (illness\$ or disease\$ or condition\$ or syndrom\$ or disorder\$))).ti,ab. 12 (multimorbid\$ or multi-morbid\$).tw. 13 exp chronic disease/ 14 (chronic\$ adj (illness\$ or disease\$ or condition\$ or disorder\$)).tw. 15 other health condition\$.tw. 16 other medical condition\$.tw. 17 (associated adj2 (disease\$ or disorder\$ or condition\$ or illness\$ or syn- drome\$)).tw. 18 or/9-17 19 8 and 18 20 Randomized Controlled Trial/ 21 randomisation/ 22 controlled clinical trial/ 23 Double Blind Procedure/ 24 Single Blind Procedure/ 25 Crossover Procedure/ 26 (clinica\$ adj3 trial\$).tw. 27 ((singl\$ or doubl\$ or trebl\$ or tripl\$) adj3 (mask\$ or blind\$ or method\$)).tw. 28 exp Placebo/ 29 placebo\$.ti,ab. 30 or/20-32 34 exp animal\$ (or exp invertebrate/ or animal experiment/ or animal model/ or animal tissue/ or animal cell/ or nonhuman/ 35 Anto 36 38 33 not 37 20 10 and 20	January 2021=584
	\$42 \$18 AND \$41	lune 2019=971
(Data of most recent	S41 S40 NOT S39	Eabruary 2020-201
search: 11 June 2019)	S40 S19 OR S20 OR S21 OR S22 OR S23 OR S24 OR S25 OR S26 OR S27 OR S28 OR S29 OR S30 OR S31 OR S32 OR S33	searched
	S39 S37 NOT S38 S38 (MH "Human") S37 S34 OR S35 OR S36 S36 TI (animal model*) S35 (MH "Animal Studies")	January 2021=not searched

 Tailored or adapted interventions for adults with chronic obstructive pulmonary disease and at least one other long-term condition: a
 100

 mixed methods review (Review)
 100



(Continued)		
	S34 (MH "Animals+")	
	S33 AB (cluster W3 RCT)	
	S32 MH (crossover design) OR MH (comparative studies)	
	S31 AB (control W5 group)	
	S30 PT (Randomized Controlled Trial)	
	S29 (MH "Placebos")	
	S28 MH ("sample size") AND AB (assigned OR allocated OR control)	
	S27 TI (trial)	
	S26 AB (random*)	
	S25 TI (randomised OR randomised)	
	S24 (MH "Cluster Sample")	
	S23 (MH "Pretest-Posttest Design")	
	S22 (MH "Random Assignment")	
	S21 (MH "Single-Blind Studies")	
	S20 (MH "Double-Blind Studies")	
	S19 (MH "Randomized Controlled Trials")	
	S18 S7 AND S17	
	S17 S8 OR S9 OR S10 OR S11 OR S12 OR S13 OR S14 OR S15 OR S16	
	S16 AB (associated N1 (disease* or disorder* or condition* or illness* or syn-	
	drome*)) OR TL (associated N1 (disease* or disorder* or condition* or illness*	
	or syndrome*))	
	S15 "other medical condition*"	
	S13 "other health condition"	
	S14 Other health condition S13 AB (chronic* N1 (illness* or disease* or condition* or disorder*)) OB TI	
	(chronic* N1 (illness* or disease* or condition* or disorder*))	
	(chronic N1 (niness of disease of condition of disorder )) S12 (MH "Chronic Diseases")	
	S12 (MIT Chrome Disease') S11 AB (multimorbid* or multi morbid*) OD TI (multimorbid* or multi mor	
	sii Ab (maamoobia of maa-moobia ) ok m (maamoobia of maa-moo- hid*)	
	Diu ) S10 AP (multidiceases* er multi diceases* er ((multiple er ceavist* er ce evist*)	
	N2 (illness* or discasse* or condition* or sundrom* or disorder*))) OD TI (multi	
	N2 (Illness of disease of condition of syndrom of disorder ))) OR 11 (multi-	
	disease or multi-disease or ((multiple or coexist or co-exist ) N2 (illness or	
	disease" or condition" or syndrom" or disorder")))	
	S9 AB (comorbia" or co-morbia") OR 11 (comorbia" or co-morbia")	
	S8 (MH "Comorbidity")	
	S7 S1 OR S2 OR S3 OR S4 OR S5 OR S6	
	S6 AB (COPD or AECB or AECOPD)	
	S5 AB (obstruct <sup>*</sup> N3 (pulmonary or lung <sup>*</sup> or airway <sup>*</sup> or airflow <sup>*</sup> or bronch <sup>*</sup> or	
	respirat*)) OR II (obstruct* N3 (pulmonary or lung* or airway* or airflow* or	
	bronch* or respirat*))	
	S4 AB (chronic* N3 bronchiti*) OR TI (chronic* N3 bronchiti*)	
	S3 AB (emphysema*) OR TI (emphysema*)	
	S2 (MH "Lung Diseases, Obstructive")	
	S1 (MH "Pulmonary Disease, Chronic Obstructive+")	
<b>PsycINFO</b> (Ovid)	1 exp chronic obstructive pulmonary disease/	June 2019=185
	2 emphysema\$.tw.	E I 2020 I
(Date of most recent	3 (chronic\$ adj3 bronchiti\$).tw.	February 2020=not
search: 11 June 2019)	4 (obstruct\$ adj3 (pulmonary or lung\$ or airway\$ or airflow\$ or bronch\$ or res-	searched
	pirat\$)).tw.	January 2021-pot
	5 (COPD or COAD or COBD or AECB or AECOPD).ti,ab.	soarchod
	6 or/1-5	searched
	7 comorbidity/	
	8 (comorbid\$ or co-morbid\$).tw.	
	9 (multidisease\$ or multi-disease\$ or ((multiple or coexist\$ or co-exist\$) adj2	
	(illness\$ or disease\$ or condition\$ or syndrom\$ or disorder\$))).ti,ab.	
	10 (multimorbid\$ or multi-morbid\$).tw.	
	11 chronic illness/	
	12 (chronic\$ adj2 (illness\$ or disease\$ or condition\$ or disorder\$)).tw.	
	13 other health condition\$.tw.	
	14 other medical condition\$.tw.	

 Tailored or adapted interventions for adults with chronic obstructive pulmonary disease and at least one other long-term condition: a
 101

 mixed methods review (Review)
 101

Copyright © 2021 The Cochrane Collaboration. Published by John Wiley & Sons, Ltd.



(Continued)	<ul> <li>15 (associated adj2 (disease\$ or disorder\$ or condition\$ or illness\$ or syndrome\$)).tw.</li> <li>16 or/7-15</li> <li>17 6 and 16</li> <li>18 exp clinical trials/</li> <li>19 random\$.tw.</li> <li>20 (clinical adj5 trial\$).tw.</li> <li>21 (control\$ adj5 trial\$).tw.</li> <li>22 ((clinical or control\$ or comparativ\$) adj5 (study or studies)).tw.</li> <li>23 placebo\$.tw.</li> <li>24 (single blind\$ or single-blind\$).tw.</li> <li>25 (double blind\$ or triple-blind\$).tw.</li> <li>27 or/18-26</li> <li>28 17 and 27</li> </ul>	
Web of Science Core Collection* (Date of most recent search:6 January 2021)	<pre>#11 #10 AND #7 #10 #9 OR #8 #9 TITLE: ((randomised OR randomised OR randomisation OR randomisation OR placebo* OR (random* AND (allocat* OR assign*)))) #8 TOPIC: ((randomised OR randomised OR randomisation OR randomisation OR placebo* OR (random* AND (allocat* OR assign*)))) #7 #6 AND #3 #6 #5 OR #4 #5 TI=(comorbid* or co-morbid* or multi-morbid* or multimorbid* or multidis- ease* or multi-disease* or "multiple disease*") #4 TS=(comorbid* or co-morbid* or multi-morbid* or multimorbid* or multi- disease* or multi-disease* or "multiple disease*") #3 #2 OR #1 #2 TITLE: ((COPD OR AECOPD OR emphysema OR "chronic bronchitis" OR "chronic obstructive pulmonary disease"))</pre>	June 2019=529 February 2020=47 January 2021=40
ClinicalTrials.gov (Date of most recent search:6 January 2021)	Study type: all Condition: COPD Other Search terms: comorbidity OR comorbidities OR multi -morbidity OR multi-morbidities	June 2019=56 February 2020=0 January 2021=4
WHO trials registry (Date of most recent search: 10 June 2019)	Condition: COPD Other Search terms: comorbidity OR comorbidities OR multi-morbidity OR multi-morbidities	June 2019=3 February 2020=not searched January 2021=not searched

\*Core collection= Science Citation Index Expanded (SCI-EXPANDED); Social Sciences Citation Index (SSCI); Arts & Humanities Citation Index (A&HCI); Conference Proceedings Citation Index- Science (CPCI-S); Conference Proceedings Citation Index- Social Science & Humanities (CPCI-SSH); Emerging Sources Citation Index (ESCI) --2015-present

#### Appendix 2b: Search to identify reports of qualitative studies

Source

Search strategy

#### **Results retrieved**

 Tailored or adapted interventions for adults with chronic obstructive pulmonary disease and at least one other long-term condition: a
 102

 mixed methods review (Review)
 102

Copyright  ${\ensuremath{\mathbb C}}$  2021 The Cochrane Collaboration. Published by John Wiley & Sons, Ltd.



(Continued)

Trusted evidence. Informed decisions. Better health.

(Continued)		
Cochrane Airways Tri- als Register	1 MESH DESCRIPTOR Lung Diseases, Obstructive AND INREGISTER 2 MESH DESCRIPTOR Pulmonary Disease, Chronic Obstructive EXPLODE ALL	June 2019: 225
(Date of most recent		searched
search: 17 June 2019)	3 empnysema":ti,ab,kw AND INREGISTER	Scarcheu
scarch. 17 suite 2015)	4 (CITOTIC NEARS DIOTICITIC): (1, dD, KW AND INREGISTER 5 (obstruct* NEAP2 / nulmonary or lung* or airway* or airflow* or bronch* or	January 2021=not
	respirat*))-ti ah kw AND INREGISTER	searched
	6 (COPD or COAD or COBD or AECB or AECOPD) ti ab AND INREGISTER	
	7 #1 OR #2 OR #3 OR #4 OR #5 OR #6 AND INREGISTER	
	8 MESH DESCRIPTOR COMORBIDITY EXPLODE ALL AND INREGISTER	
	9 (comorbid* or co-morbid*):ti,ab,kw AND INREGISTER	
	10 (multidisease* or multi-disease* or ((multiple or coexist* or co-exist*) NEXT	
	(illness* or disease* or condition* or syndrom* or disorder*))):ti,ab,kw AND IN-	
	REGISTER	
	11 (multimorbid* or multi-morbid*):ti,ab,kw AND INREGISTER	
	12 MESH DESCRIPTOR Chronic Disease EXPLODE ALL AND INREGISTER	
	13 (chronic* NEX1 (illness* or disease* or condition* or disorder*)):ti,ab,kw	
	AND INREGISTER	
	14 other medical condition *:ti,ab,kw AND INREGISTER	
	16 (associated NEAR2 (disease* or disorder* or condition* or illness* or syn-	
	drome*)):ti.ab.kw AND INREGISTER	
	17 #8 OR #9 OR #10 OR #11 OR #12 OR #13 OR #14 OR #15 OR #16 AND IN-	
	REGISTER	
	18 #17 AND #7 AND INREGISTER	
	19 MESH DESCRIPTOR Qualitative Research EXPLODE ALL AND INREGISTER	
	20 MESH DESCRIPTOR Interview AND INREGISTER	
	21 theme* or thematic AND INREGISTER	
	22 qualitative* AND INREGISTER	
	23 MESH DESCRIPTOR NURSING METHODOLOGY RESEARCH AND INREGISTER	
	24 questioninaire AND INREGISTER	
	26 ethnograph* AND INREGISTER	
	27 ethnonursing AND INREGISTER	
	28 phenomenol* AND INREGISTER	
	29 (grounded NEAR1 (theor* or study or studies or research or analys)) AND IN-	
	REGISTER	
	30 (emic or etic or hermeneutic* or heuristic* or semiotic*) or (data NEAR1 sat-	
	urat*) or participant observ* AND INREGISTER	
	31 (social construct* or (postmodern* or post-structural*) or (post structural*	
	or poststructural") or post modern" or post-modern" or feminis" or interpret")	
	AND INREGISTER 32 (action research or cooperative inquir* or co operative inquir* or co-opera-	
	tive inquir*) AND INREGISTER	
	33 (humanistic or existential or experiential or paradigm*) AND INREGISTER	
	34 (field NEAR1 (study or studies or research)) AND INREGISTER	
	35 human science AND INREGISTER	
	36 biographical method AND INREGISTER	
	37 theoretical sampl* AND INREGISTER	
	38 ((purpos* NEAR4 sampl*) or (focus NEAR1 group*)) AND INREGISTER	
	39 (account or accounts or unstructured or openended or open ended or text*	
	or narrative*) AND INREGISTER	
	40 (line world or line-world or conversation analys" or personal experience" or theoretical saturation) AND INPEGISTED	
	(lived or life) NFAR1 experience*) AND INPEGISTED	
	42 cluster sampl* AND INREGISTER	
	43 observational method* AND INREGISTER	
	44 content analysis AND INREGISTER	
	45 (constant NEAR (comparative or comparison)) AND INREGISTER	
	46 ((discourse* or discurs*) NEAR3 analys*) AND INREGISTER	

Tailored or adapted interventions for adults with chronic obstructive pulmonary disease and at least one other long-term condition: a mixed methods review (Review)



(Continued)	47 narrative analys* AND INREGISTER 48 #19 OR #20 OR #21 OR #22 OR #23 OR #24 OR #25 OR #26 OR #27 OR #28 OR #29 OR #30 OR #31 OR #32 OR #33 OR #34 OR #35 OR #36 OR #37 OR #38 OR #39 OR #40 OR #41 OR #42 OR #43 OR #44 OR #45 OR #46 OR #47 AND INREGISTER 49 #48 AND #18 AND INREGISTER	
<b>CENTRAL</b> (via CRS Web (Date of most recent search: 8 January 2021)	48 #19 OR #20 OR #21 OR #22 OR #23 OR #24 OR #25 OR #26 OR #27 OR #28 OR #29 OR #30 OR #31 OR #32 OR #33 OR #34 OR #35 OR #36 OR #37 OR #38 OR #39 OR #40 OR #41 OR #42 OR #43 OR #45 OR #45 OR #36 OR #37 OR #38 OR #39 OR #40 OR #41 OR #42 OR #43 OR #45 OR #45 OR #46 OR #47 AND INREGISTER 49 #48 AND #18 AND INREGISTER 1 IMESH DESCRIPTOR Lung Diseases, Obstructive AND CENTRAL:TARGET 2 MESH DESCRIPTOR Pulmonary Disease, Chronic Obstructive EXPLODE ALL AND CENTRAL:TARGET 3 emphysema*ti, ab,kw AND CENTRAL:TARGET 4 (chronic* NEAR3 bronchit*)'ti, tab,kw AND CENTRAL:TARGET 5 (obstruct* NEAR3 bronchit*)'ti, tab,kw AND CENTRAL:TARGET 6 (COPD or COAD or COBD or AECO PO):ti, ab. AND CENTRAL:TARGET 7 #1 OR #2 OR #3 OR #4 OR #5 OR #6 AND CENTRAL:TARGET 9 (comorbid* or combid*) ti, tab, kw AND CENTRAL:TARGET 9 (comorbid* or combid*):ti, ab, kw AND CENTRAL:TARGET 10 (multidisease* or multi-disease* or (multiple or coexist* or co-exist*) NEXT (illness* or disease* or condition* or syndrom* or disorder*))):ti, ab,kw AND CENTRAL:TARGET 11 (multimorbid* or multi-morbid*):ti, ab, kw AND CENTRAL:TARGET 12 MESH DESCRIPTOR Chronic Disease EXPLODE ALL AND CENTRAL:TARGET 13 (chronic* NEXT (illness* or disease* or condition* or illness* or syn- drom*)):ti, ab, kw AND CENTRAL:TARGET 15 other medical condition*:ti, ab, kw AND CENTRAL:TARGET 16 (associated NEAR2 (disease* or disorder* or condition* or illness* or syn- drom*)):ti, ab, kw AND CENTRAL:TARGET 17 #8 OR #9 OR #10 OR #11 OR #12 OR #13 OR #14 OR #15 OR #16 AND CEN- TRAL:TARGET 18 #17 AND #7 AND CENTRAL:TARGET 22 qualitative* AND CENTRAL:TARGET 23 detsionarie* AND CENTRAL:TARGET 24 questionnarie* AND CENTRAL:TARGET 25 ethnological research AND CENTRAL:TARGET 24 questionnarie* AND CENTRAL:TARGET 25 ethnological research AND CENTRAL:TARGET 26 ethnograph* AND CENTRAL:TARGET 29 (grounded NEAR1 (theor* or study or studies or research or analys)) AND CENTRAL:TARGET 30 (emic or etic or hermeneutic* or heuristic* or semiotic*) or (data NEAR1 sat- urat*) or participant observ* AND CENTRAL:TAR	June 2019: 684 February 2020: 105 January 2021=152
	<ul> <li>33 (numanistic or existential or experiential or paradigm<sup>*</sup>) AND CENTRAL:TAR-GET</li> <li>34 (field NEAR1 (study or studies or research)) AND CENTRAL:TARGET</li> <li>35 human science AND CENTRAL:TARGET</li> <li>36 biographical method AND CENTRAL:TARGET</li> <li>37 theoretical sampl<sup>*</sup> AND CENTRAL:TARGET</li> <li>38 ((purpos<sup>*</sup> NEAR4 sampl<sup>*</sup>) or (focus NEAR1 group<sup>*</sup>)) AND CENTRAL:TARGET</li> <li>39 (account or accounts or unstructured or openended or open ended or text<sup>*</sup> or narrative<sup>*</sup>) AND CENTRAL:TARGET</li> </ul>	

Copyright  $\odot$  2021 The Cochrane Collaboration. Published by John Wiley & Sons, Ltd.



(Continued)		
	40 (life world or life-world or conversation analys* or personal experience* or	
	theoretical saturation) AND CENTRAL: TARGET	
	41 ((lived or life) NEAR1 experience*) AND CENTRAL: TARGET	
	42 cluster sampl* AND CENTRAL: TARGET	
	43 observational method* AND CENTRAL:TARGET	
	44 content analysis AND CENTRAL:TARGET	
	45 (constant NEAR (comparative or comparison)) AND CENTRAL: TARGET	
	46 ((discourse* or discurs*) NEAR3 analys*) AND CENTRAL:TARGET	
	47 narrative analys* AND CENTRAL: TARGET	
	48 #19 OR #20 OR #21 OR #22 OR #23 OR #24 OR #25 OR #26 OR #27 OR #28	
	OR #29 OR #30 OR #31 OR #32 OR #33 OR #34 OR #35 OR #36 OR #37 OR #38	
	OR #39 OR #40 OR #41 OR #42 OR #43 OR #44 OR #45 OR #46 OR #47 AND CEN-	
	TRAL:TARGET	
	49 #48 AND #18 AND CENTRAL:TARGET	
MEDLINE (Ovid)	1 Lung Diseases, Obstructive/	June 2019: 3571
(Date of most recent	2 exp Pulmonary Disease, Chronic Obstructive/	February 2020: 432
search: 8 January 2021)	4 (chronics adia bronchitis) tw	
	5 (obstruct's adja bronchilia).tw.	January 2021=267
	s (obstructs adjs (putitionally of tungs of an ways of an tows of biolicits of res-	
	6 (COPD or COAD or COPD or AECP or AECOPD) ti ab	
	7 or/1 6	
	8 eve COMORBIDITY/	
	9 (comorbids or co-morbids) tw	
	10 (multidiceases or multi-diceases or ((multiple or coevicts or co-evicts) adi2	
	(illness's or disease's or multi-disease's or (indulple or coexists) or co-exists) adj2	
	11 (multimorbids or multi-morbids) tw	
	12 exp Chronic Disease/	
	13 (chronic's adi2 (illness's or disease's or condition's or disorder's)) tw	
	14 other health conditions tw	
	15 other medical condition\$ tw	
	16 (associated adi2 (diseases or disorders or conditions or illnesss or syn-	
	drome\$)).tw.	
	17 or/8-16	
	18 7 and 17	
	19 gualitative research/	
	20 Interview/	
	21 (themes or thematic).mp.	
	22 gualitative.af.	
	23 Nursing Methodology Research/	
	24 questionnaire\$.mp.	
	25 ethnological research.mp.	
	26 ethnograph\$.mp.	
	27 ethnonursing.af.	
	28 phenomenol\$.af.	
	29 (grounded adj (theor\$ or study or studies or research or analys?s)).af.	
	30 (emic or etic or hermeneutic\$ or heuristic\$ or semiotic\$).af. or (data adj1	
	saturat\$).tw. or participant observ\$.tw.	
	31 (social construct\$ or (postmodern\$ or post-structural\$) or (post structur-	
	al\$ or poststructural\$) or post modern\$ or post-modern\$ or feminis\$ or inter-	
	pret\$).mp.	
	32 (action research or cooperative inquir\$ or co operative inquir\$ or co-opera-	
	tive inquir\$).mp.	
	33 (humanistic or existential or experiential or paradigm\$).mp.	
	34 (field adj (study or studies or research)).tw.	
	35 human science.tw.	
	36 biographical method.tw.	
	37 theoretical sampl\$.af.	
	38 ((purpos\$ adj4 sampl\$) or (focus adj group\$)).af.	

Copyright  $\odot$  2021 The Cochrane Collaboration. Published by John Wiley & Sons, Ltd.



(Continuea)	<ul> <li>39 (account or accounts or unstructured or openended or open ended or text\$ or narrative\$).mp.</li> <li>40 (life world or life-world or conversation analys?s or personal experience\$ or theoretical saturation).mp.</li> <li>41 ((lived or life) adj experience\$).mp.</li> <li>42 cluster sampl\$.mp.</li> <li>43 observational method\$.af.</li> <li>44 content analysis.af.</li> <li>45 (constant adj (comparative or comparison)).af.</li> <li>46 ((discourse\$ or discurs\$) adj3 analys?s).tw.</li> <li>47 narrative analys?s.af.</li> <li>48 or/19-47</li> <li>49 18 and 48</li> </ul>	
Embase (Ovid)	1 chronic obstructive lung disease/	June 2019: 4285
(Date of most recent	2 chronic bronchitis/ 3 exp lung emphysema/	February 2020: 824
search: 8 January 2021)	4 emphysema\$.tw.	January 2021-171
	5 (chronic\$ adj3 bronchiti\$).tw.	January 2021–474
	6 (Obstructs adj3 (pulmonary or lungs or airways or airliows or bronchs or res- nirats)) tw	
	7 (COPD or AECB or AECOPD).ti,ab.	
	8 or/1-7	
	9 comorbidity/	
	11 (multidisease\$ or multi-disease\$ or ((multiple or coexist\$ or co-exist\$) adi2	
	(illness\$ or disease\$ or condition\$ or syndrom\$ or disorder\$))).ti,ab.	
	12 (multimorbid\$ or multi-morbid\$).tw.	
	13 exp chronic disease/	
	14 (Chronics adj (illnesss or diseases or conditions or disorders)).tw.	
	16 other medical condition\$.tw.	
	17 (associated adj2 (disease\$ or disorder\$ or condition\$ or illness\$ or syn-	
	drome\$)).tw.	
	18 or/9-17	
	20 exp qualitative research/	
	21 exp interview/	
	22 (theme\$ or thematic).ti,ab.	
	23 qualitative.af.	
	24 nursing methodology research/	
	26 ethnological research.ti.ab.	
	27 ethnograph\$.ti,ab.	
	28 ethnonursing.ti,ab.	
	29 phenomenol\$.ti,ab.	
	30 (grounded adj (theors or study or studies or research or analys?s)).tt,ab.	
	32 (emic or etic or hermeneutic\$ or heuristic\$ or semiotic\$).af. or (data adj1	
	saturat\$).ti,ab. or participant observ\$.ti,ab.	
	33 (social constructs or (postmoderns or post-structurals) or (post structur-	
	pret\$).ti.ab.	
	34 (action research or cooperative inquir\$ or co operative inquir\$ or co-opera-	
	tive inquir\$).ti,ab.	
	35 (humanistic or existential or experiential or paradigm\$).ti,ab.	
	so (neiu auj (study or studies or research)).ti,ab. 37 human science ti ab	
	38 biographical method.ti,ab.	
	39 theoretical sampl\$.ti,ab.	
	40 ((purpos\$ adj4 sampl\$) or (focus adj group\$)).ti,ab.	

 Tailored or adapted interventions for adults with chronic obstructive pulmonary disease and at least one other long-term condition: a
 106

 mixed methods review (Review)
 106


(Continued)	<ul> <li>41 (account or accounts or unstructured or openended or open ended or text\$ or narrative\$).ti,ab.</li> <li>42 (life world or life-world or conversation analys?s or personal experience\$ or theoretical saturation).ti,ab.</li> <li>43 ((lived or life) adj experience\$).ti,ab.</li> <li>44 cluster sampl\$.ti,ab.</li> <li>45 observational method\$.ti,ab.</li> <li>46 content analysis.ti,ab.</li> <li>47 (constant adj (comparative or comparison)).ti,ab.</li> <li>48 ((discourse\$ or discurs\$) adj3 analys?s).ti,ab.</li> <li>49 narrative analys?s.ti,ab.</li> <li>50 or/20-49</li> <li>51 19 and 50</li> </ul>	
CINAHL (EBSCO)	S67 S18 AND S65	June 2019: 1345
(Date of most recent search: 8 January 2021)	S65 S19 OR S20 OR S21 OR S22 OR S23 OR S24 OR S25 OR S26 OR S27 OR S28	February 2020: 90
search: 8 January 2021)	OR S29 OR S30 OR S31 OR S32 OR S33 OR S34 OR S35 OR S36 OR S37 OR S38 OR S39 OR S40 OR S41 OR S42 OR S43 OR S44 OR S45 OR S46 OR S47 OR S48 OR S49 OR S50 OR S51 OR S52 OR S53 OR S54 OR S56 OR S57 OR S58 OR S59 OR S60 OR S61 OR S62 OR S63 OR S64 S64 narrative analysis S63 constant N1 (comparative OR comparison) S62 (discourse* OR discurs*) N3 analys?s S61 content analysis S60 questionnaire* S59 observational method* S58 theme* or thematic S57 cluster sampl* S56 (lived OR life) N1 experience* S55 life world or life-world or conversation analys?s or personal experience* or theoretical saturation S54 account or accounts or unstructured or openended or open ended or text* or narrative* S53 focus N1 group* S53 purpos* N4 sampl* S50 biographical method S49 human science S48 field N1 (stud* or research) S47 humanistic or existential or experiential or paradigm* S46 action research or cooperative inquir* or co-opera- tive inquir* S45 social construct* or post-structural* or post structural* or poststructural* or post modern* or post-structural* or interpret* S43 data N1 saturat* S42 emic or etic or hermeneutic* or heuristic* or semiotic* S41 womes's stor* S40 life stor* S43 grounded N1 (theor* OR study OR studies OR research OR analys?s) S38 phenomenol* S43 (MH "Cluster Sample#") S44 (MH "Life Experiences+") S43 (MH "Cluster Sample#") S43 (MH "Phenomenology") S42 (MH "Theoretical Sample") S43 (MH "Phenomenology") S42 (MH "Theoretical Sample") S43 (MH "Purposive Sample")	January 2021=62

Tailored or adapted interventions for adults with chronic obstructive pulmonary disease and at least one other long-term condition: a 107 mixed methods review (Review)

Copyright @ 2021 The Cochrane Collaboration. Published by John Wiley & Sons, Ltd.



(Continued)		
	S28 (MH "Qualitative Validity+")	
	S27 (MH "Constant Comparative Method")	
	S26 (MH "Content Analysis")	
	S25 (MH "Discourse Analysis")	
	S24 (MH "Focus Groups")	
	S23 (MH "Ouestionnaires+")	
	S22 (MH "Research, Nursing")	
	S21 (MH "Oualitative Studies+")	
	S20 (MH "Audiorecording")	
	S19 (MH "Interviews+")	
	S18 S7 AND S17	
	S17 S8 OR S9 OR S10 OR S11 OR S12 OR S13 OR S14 OR S15 OR S16	
	S16 AB (associated N1 (disease* or disorder* or condition* or illness* or syn-	
	drome*)) OP TL (associated N1 (disease* or disorder* or condition* or illness*	
	or syndrome*))	
	S15 "other medical condition*"	
	S13 "other health condition"	
	S14 Other health condition S12 AD (chronic* N1 (illness* or diseases* or condition* or disorder*)) OD TI	
	(chronic* N1 (illness* or disease* or condition* or disorder*))	
	(childhic N1 (miless of disease of condition of disorder ))	
	SI2 (MIT CHIOHIC DISEase+)	
	SILAB (multimorbia of multi-morbia ) OR 11 (multimorbia of multi-mor-	
	STO AB (multidisease" or multi-disease" or ((multiple or coexist" or co-exist")	
	N2 (illness <sup>*</sup> or disease <sup>*</sup> or condition <sup>*</sup> or syndrom <sup>*</sup> or disorder <sup>*</sup> ))) OR II (multi-	
	disease <sup>*</sup> or multi-disease <sup>*</sup> or ((multiple or coexist <sup>*</sup> or co-exist <sup>*</sup> ) N2 (illness <sup>*</sup> or	
	disease <sup>*</sup> or condition <sup>*</sup> or syndrom <sup>*</sup> or disorder <sup>*</sup> )))	
	S9 AB (comorbid* or co-morbid*) OR 11 (comorbid* or co-morbid*)	
	S8 (MH "Comorbidity")	
	S7 S1 OR S2 OR S3 OR S4 OR S5 OR S6	
	S6 AB (COPD or AECB or AECOPD)	
	S5 AB (obstruct* N3 (pulmonary or lung* or airway* or airflow* or bronch* or	
	respirat*)) OR TI (obstruct* N3 (pulmonary or lung* or airway* or airflow* or	
	bronch* or respirat*))	
	S4 AB (chronic* N3 bronchiti*) OR TI (chronic* N3 bronchiti*)	
	S3 AB (emphysema*) OR TI (emphysema*)	
	S2 (MH "Lung Diseases, Obstructive")	
	S1 (MH "Pulmonary Disease, Chronic Obstructive+")	
PsycINFO (Ovid)	1 exp chronic obstructive pulmonary disease/	June 2019: 497
(Data of months and	2 emphysema\$.tw.	<b>F</b> -h-m
(Date of most recent	3 (chronic\$ adj3 bronchiti\$).tw.	February 2020: not
search: 17 June 2019	4 (obstruct\$ adj3 (pulmonary or lung\$ or airway\$ or airflow\$ or bronch\$ or res-	searched
	pirat\$)).tw.	January 2021-not
	5 (COPD or COAD or COBD or AECB or AECOPD).ti,ab.	soarchod
	6 or/1-5	Searcheu
	7 comorbidity/	
	8 (comorbid\$ or co-morbid\$).tw.	
	9 (multidisease\$ or multi-disease\$ or ((multiple or coexist\$ or co-exist\$) adj2	
	(illness\$ or disease\$ or condition\$ or syndrom\$ or disorder\$))).ti,ab.	
	10 (multimorbid\$ or multi-morbid\$).tw.	
	11 chronic illness/	
	12 (chronic\$ adj2 (illness\$ or disease\$ or condition\$ or disorder\$)).tw.	
	13 other health condition\$.tw.	
	14 other medical condition\$.tw.	
	15 (associated adj2 (disease\$ or disorder\$ or condition\$ or illness\$ or svn-	
	drome\$)).tw.	
	16 or/7-15	
	17 6 and 16	
	18 qualitative research/	
	19 (theme\$ or thematic).mp.	
	20 qualitative.af.	

 Tailored or adapted interventions for adults with chronic obstructive pulmonary disease and at least one other long-term condition: a
 108

 mixed methods review (Review)
 108

Copyright  ${\ensuremath{{\odot}}}$  2021 The Cochrane Collaboration. Published by John Wiley & Sons, Ltd.



(Continued)	<ul> <li>21 questionnaire\$.mp.</li> <li>22 ethnological research.mp.</li> <li>23 ethnograph\$.mp.</li> <li>24 ethnonursing.af.</li> <li>25 phenomenol\$.af.</li> <li>26 (grounded adj (theor\$ or study or studies or research or analys?s)).af.</li> <li>27 (life stor\$ or women* stor\$).mp.</li> <li>28 (emic or etic or hermeneutic\$ or heuristic\$ or semiotic\$).af. or (data adj1 saturat\$).tw. or participant observ\$.tw.</li> <li>29 (social construct\$ or (postmodern\$ or post-structural\$) or (post structural\$ or poststructural\$) or post modern\$ or post-modern\$ or feminis\$ or interpret\$).mp.</li> <li>30 (action research or cooperative inquir\$ or co operative inquir\$ or co-operative inquir\$).mp.</li> <li>31 (humanistic or existential or experiential or paradigm\$).mp.</li> <li>32 (field adj (study or studies or research)).tw.</li> <li>33 human science.tw.</li> <li>34 biographical method.tw.</li> <li>35 theoretical sampl\$.af.</li> <li>36 ((purpos\$ adj4 sampl\$) or (focus adj group\$)).af.</li> <li>37 (account or accounts or unstructured or openended or open ended or text\$ or narrative\$).mp.</li> <li>39 (life world or life-world or conversation analys?s or personal experience\$ or theoretical saturation).mp.</li> <li>39 (lived or life) adj experience\$).mp.</li> <li>40 cluster sampl\$.mp.</li> <li>41 observational method\$.af.</li> <li>42 content analysis.af.</li> <li>43 (constant adj (comparative or comparison)).af.</li> <li>44 (discourse\$ or discurs\$) adj3 analys?s).tw.</li> <li>45 narrative analys?s.af.</li> <li>46 or/18-45</li> <li>47 17 and 46</li> </ul>	
Web of Science Core Collection*	ALL FIELDS: ((COPD OR AECOPD OR emphysema OR "chronic bronchitis" OR June 2019: 1 "chronic obstructive pulmonary disease")) AND ALL FIELDS: ((comorbid OR co-	
(Date of most recent	morbidity OR comorbidities OR multi-morbidity OR multi-morbidities or mul- timorbid OR multiple disease*)) AND ALL FIELDS: ((qualitative or interview or	February 2020: 120
search: 8 January 2021)	questionnaire or ethnograph* or ethnological or phenomenol* or "grounded theory" or "grounded research" or "grounded study" or "focus group"))	January 2021=92
ClinicalTrials.gov	Study type: all	June 2019: 19
(Date of most recent search: 19 June 2019)	Other Search terms: (comorbidity OR comorbidities OR multi-morbidity OR multi-morbidities) AND (qualitative OR interview OR	February 2020: not searched
	ethnograph" OR ethnological OR phenomenol" OR "grounded theory" OR "grounded research" OR "grounded study" OR "focus group")	January 2021=not searched
WHO trials registry	COPD AND qualitative (using simple search interface)	June 2019: 14
(Date of most recent search: 19 June 2019)		February 2020: not searched
		January 2021=not searched

Copyright  $\odot$  2021 The Cochrane Collaboration. Published by John Wiley & Sons, Ltd.



\*Core collection= Science Citation Index Expanded (SCI-EXPANDED); Social Sciences Citation Index (SSCI); Arts & Humanities Citation Index (A&HCI); Conference Proceedings Citation Index- Science (CPCI-S); Conference Proceedings Citation Index- Social Science & Humanities (CPCI-SSH); Emerging Sources Citation Index (ESCI) --2015-present

# Appendix 2. Summary search record

#### Appendix 3a: summary search record for RCTs

Source	Searched Date of most re-		Results (before duplicates removed )			Totals
	nom		June 2019	February 2020	January 2021	
Airways Register (via CRS*)	Inception	06/01/2021	1234	55	53	1342
CENTRAL (via CRS*)	Inception	06/01/2021	2967	451	328	3746
MEDLINE (Ovid) ALL	1946	06/01/2021	7609	771	450	8830
Embase (Ovid)	1974	06/01/2021	5262	906	584	6752
CINAHL (EBSCO)	1937	11/06/2019	971	Not searched	Not searched	971
PsycINFO (Ovid)	1967	11/06/2019	185	Not searched	Not searched	185
Web of Science Core Collection	1970	06/01/2021	529	47	40	616
Clinicaltrials.gov	Inception	06/01/2021	56	0	4	60
WHO trials portal	Inception	10/06/2019	3	Not searched	Not searched	3
Totals			18816	2230	1459	22505

\*CRS=Cochrane Register of Studies

## Appendix 3b: summary search record for qualitative studies

Source	Searched	Date of most re- cent search	Results (before duplicates removed)			Totals
	nom		June 2019	February 2020	January 2021	-
Airways Register (via CRS*)	Inception	17/06/2019	225	Not searched	Not searched	225
CENTRAL (via CRS*)	Inception	19/02/2020	684	105	152	941
MEDLINE (Ovid) ALL	1946	19/02/2020	3571	432	267	4270
Embase (Ovid)	1974	19/02/2020	4285	824	474	5583
CINAHL (EBSCO)	1937	19/02/2020	1345	90	62	1497
PsycINFO (Ovid)	1967	17/06/2019	497	Not searched	Not searched	497

Tailored or adapted interventions for adults with chronic obstructive pulmonary disease and at least one other long-term condition: a 110 mixed methods review (Review)

Copyright  $\ensuremath{\mathbb S}$  2021 The Cochrane Collaboration. Published by John Wiley & Sons, Ltd.



(Continued)						
Web of Science Core Collec- tion	1970	19/02/2020	1085	120	92	1297
Clinicaltrial.gov	Inception	19/06/2019	19	Not searched	Not searched	19
WHO trials portal	Inception	19/06/2019	14	Not searched	Not searched	14
Totals			11725	1571	1047	14343

### HISTORY

Protocol first published: Issue 8, 2019

Date	Event	Description
14 August 2019	Amended	Two references corrected to reflect that they are Cochrane Re- views rather than protocols (Pollok 2018; Pollok 2019).

## **CONTRIBUTIONS OF AUTHORS**

ED: drafting of Background and Methods sections of the protocol, screening references, study selection, data extraction, risk of bias assessment, data entry and analysis, GRADE assessment, write-up of full review.

SJ: drafting of Background and Methods sections of the protocol, screening references, study selection, data extraction, risk of bias assessment, data analysis, GRADE assessment, write-up of full review.

ES: drafting of 'Search methods' and search results sections, design and conduct of search strategies, screening references, study selection, data extraction, analysis and interpretation, drafting elements of full review, approval of final draft of full review.

SH: drafting of Background and Methods sections of the protocol, arbitrating conflicts, assisting with the qualitative analysis, analysis and interpretation, editing final draft, approval of final draft of full review.

MM: drafting of Background and Methods sections of the protocol, conceptual and clinical advice on protocol, editing final draft, approval of final draft of full review.

AH: drafting of Background and Methods sections of the protocol, conceptual and clinical advice on protocol, analysis and interpretation, editing final draft, approval of final draft of full review.

#### **Contributions of editorial team**

Rebecca Fortescue (Co-ordinating Editor): edited the review; advised on methodology; approved the review prior to publication.

Chris Cates (Co-ordinating Editor): checked the planned methods and checked the data in the review.

Sally Spencer: edited the review.

Emma Jackson (Assistant Managing Editor): co-ordinated the editorial process, co-ordinated peer review and edited the references and other sections.

Sarah Hodgkinson (Associate Editor at the Cochrane CET): edited the review and provided independent appraisal as Emma Dennett is the managing editor at Cochrane Airways and line managed by Chris and Rebecca.

### **DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST**

ED: is the managing editor of Cochrane Airways group, St George's, University of London. This review was managed and sent out to peer review by Emma Jackson (Assistant Managing Editor for Cochrane Airways) and approved by an editor at the Cochrane Circulation and Breathing Network.

SJ: is employed full-time as a systematic reviewer, paid by an NIHR programme grant to complete work on this review.

ES: is an information specialist, employed by the NIHR core grant in the Cochrane Airways group, St George's, University of London.

Tailored or adapted interventions for adults with chronic obstructive pulmonary disease and at least one other long-term condition: a mixed methods review (Review)

Copyright © 2021 The Cochrane Collaboration. Published by John Wiley & Sons, Ltd.

SH: is a reader at the School of Health and Social Care, Teesside University, United Kingdom.

MM: is a clinician at the Department of Respiratory Medicine, Galway University Hospital, Ireland.

AH: is a professor of physiotherapy at the School of Allied Health, at La Trobe University, Australia.

# SOURCES OF SUPPORT

### **Internal sources**

• National Institute for Health Research, UK

Cochrane Programme Grant 16/114/21: NHS priorities in the management of chronic respiratory disease

## **External sources**

• All, Other

The authors declare that no such funding was received for this systematic review

# DIFFERENCES BETWEEN PROTOCOL AND REVIEW

- In the protocol we missed self-management as an obvious category of intervention that we would have expected to find, so this has been added.
- We failed to specify outcomes for the summary of findings tables a priori, so included the following outcomes in the SOF table: quality of life (SGRQ and CAT), exacerbations, functional status (6MWD), all-cause hospital admissions, all-cause mortality, anxiety and depression.
- We excluded studies that targeted interventions to a subset of people who exhibited a pronounced symptom of COPD, e.g. hypercapnia, chronic respiratory failure, cough, acute hypercapnic respiratory failure (AHRF), chronic ventilatory failure, chronic alveolar hypoventilation.
- We excluded studies of people with COPD who were at high risk of another disease (but who had not received a diagnosis) e.g. cardiovascular disease.
- We clarified that we included studies of any duration.
- Trial authors were not contacted, so we removed the requirement for a 10-year smoking history.